NEIGHBORHOOD-LEVEL SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION DURING EARLY PREGNANCY AND THE RISK OF GASTROSCHISIS

Dayna Tulsi Neo

A dissertation submitted to the faculty at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Epidemiology in the Gillings School of Global Public Health.

Chapel Hill 2022

Approved by:

Andrew F. Olshan

Tania A. Desrosiers

Suzan L. Carmichael

Chantel L. Martin

Muge G. Calikoglu

© 2022 Dayna Tulsi Neo ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

ABSTRACT

Dayna Tulsi Neo: Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis (Under the direction of Andrew F. Olshan)

Background: Studies have shown that pregnant women in low socioeconomic neighborhoods are at a higher risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes, including birth defects. However, few studies have explored this association with gastroschisis. Using data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS), we investigated the association between neighborhood-level socioeconomic position (nSEP) during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis, and evaluated whether nSEP modifies the associations between maternal age at conception and pre-pregnancy body mass index (BMI) and gastroschisis.

<u>Methods</u>: We analyzed data from singleton case infants diagnosed with gastroschisis and singleton non-malformed control infants delivered between 1997 and 2011. To characterize nSEP, two principal component analysis (PCA)-derived indices were constructed including the Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) and a Neighborhood-level Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI). Maternal neighborhood was defined as the self-reported address mothers lived at the longest between one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy. Generalized estimating equations were used to estimate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs), and relative excess risks due to interaction (RERI) were calculated to assess modification by nSEP on the additive scale. *Results*: Mothers in moderate (NDI aOR: 1.25; 95% CI: 1.05, 1.49 and nSEPI aOR: 1.25; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.49) or low SEP neighborhoods (NDI aOR; 1.27; 95% CI: 1.05 1.54 and nSEPI aOR: 1.32, 95% CI: 1.09, 1.61) were more likely to deliver an infant with gastroschisis compared with mothers in high SEP neighborhoods. Residing in low SEP neighborhoods sub-additively modified the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis. Young mothers (< 20 years) in high SEP neighborhoods had double the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis (aOR: 6.55; 95% CI: 4.59, 9.35) compared with young mothers in low SEP neighborhoods (aOR: 3.13, 95% CI: 2.59, 3.78). However, nSEP did not modify the association between pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis. Regardless of nSEP, young maternal age at conception and normal or underweight BMI were consistently associated with elevated odds of gastroschisis.

<u>Conclusions</u>: Future studies of nSEP should consider examining potential mechanisms through which contextual factors may influence individual-level characteristics and/or its association with gastroschisis.

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents, Chris and Eva Neo, for their unconditional love and support; and to my sister, Shina Neo, for always making me laugh in the most stressful of times and continuing to hold my hand through life. I would not be where I am today without you all.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, to the mothers and families who participated in the National Birth Defects Prevention Study – thank you. Thank you for your time and investment in contributing to research that will improve the health of many infants and children.

Second, to my dissertation committee: Andy, thank you for your continued guidance, advice, and support throughout all these years. Your expertise is unfathomable and I am so grateful to have had the opportunity to be one of your students. My path to becoming an epidemiologist could not have been possible without your insightful mentorship and encouragement. I have learned a tremendous amount from you and greatly appreciate all the time you have invested in me. Tania, thank you for always creating a safe space for me to ask questions and learn without inhibitions. Your empathy and kindness combined with your expertise in birth defects epidemiology allowed me to grow as an epidemiologist and I cannot thank you enough for that. From discussing methodological issues to life outside the program, your words of encouragement gave me hope in moments I felt the most discouraged. Also, thank you for teaching me to get my butterflies in formation! Chantel, thank you for your invaluable expertise in the social epidemiologic aspect of this dissertation and for your patience as I learned to navigate this new territory. Every time I meet with you, I learn something new and leave inspired to also want to be a social epidemiologist. Suzan, thank you for challenging me to think more critically about my research question. I am so grateful for your insightful feedback and continued support throughout this dissertation process. Lastly, Muge, thank you for helping me

view my research question from a clinician's point of view. Your perspective was a consistent reminder that my data are not just numbers in a SAS dataset, but rather, mothers and babies.

Third, I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to the North Carolina Center for Birth Defects Research and Prevention trainee group – Funmi Arogbokun, Erin Sley, Eugene Wong, Cory Keeler, and Bimo Zangajor. You all inspire me with your intelligence, motivation, and commitment to public health research! It has been a joy to work alongside you all.

Fourth, to the many individuals at UNC who have contributed to my journey in becoming an epidemiologist – core methods teachers, incredible TAs, Valerie Hudock, Lena Hudock, Kathy Wisniewski – thank you!

Lastly, to my incredible parents, Chris and Eva, and my amazing sister, Shina – where do I begin. No words will ever truly convey how grateful I am for all of you. Your belief in me, throughout this doctoral journey, was the very thing that gave me the courage to continue on. Thank you for always being there when I needed you the most. Thank you for making me take breaks when I didn't even realize I needed one. But most of all, thank you for believing in me when I did not believe in myself. I love you…how much? "lakdjflakjdsf". (P.S. Shina – don't worry, I'm not counting cells!)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS xii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND SPECIFIC AIMS 1
CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND
2.1 Epidemiology of gastroschisis
2.2 Embryology of gastroschisis
2.3 Risk factors of gastroschisis
2.4 Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position
2.5 Review of the epidemiologic literature and proposed study innovations
CHAPTER 3: STUDY DESIGN AND METHODS 41
3.1 Study overview
3.2 Study design and study population
3.3 Characterization of neighborhood-level socioeconomic position
3.4 Methodology for Specific Aim 1 50
3.5 Methodology for Specific Aim 2
CHAPTER 4: NEIGHBORHOOD-LEVEL SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION DURING EARLY PREGNANCY AND THE RISK OF GASTROSCHISIS
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods
4.3 Results

4.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 5: DOES NEIGHBORHOOD-LEVEL SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION MODIFY THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN MATERNAL AGE, PRE-PREGNANCY BODY MASS INDEX, AND GASTROSCHISIS?
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Materials and methods
5.3 Results
5.4 Discussion
CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
6.1 Summary of specific aims
6.2 Strengths and limitations100
6.3 Public health impact and future research directions 103
6.4 Conclusions
APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES 107
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Common domains and indicators of socioeconomic position 26
Table 2. Summary of neighborhood-level studies and birth defects 31
Table 3. Description of census indicators used to create the NeighborhoodDeprivation Index and Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index
Table 4. Covariates and specification of each covariate for Specific Aim 1
Table 5. Minimum detectable odds ratios for Specific Aim 1
Table 6. Covariates and specification of each covariate for Specific Aim 2
Table 7. Statistical power for Specific Aim 2
Table 8. Maternal and infant characteristics for mothers of participants with gastroschisis (cases) and infants without a birth defect (controls), National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011
Table 9. Distribution of gastroschisis cases and controls by neighborhoodindices, NDI and nEPI70
Table 10. Neighborhood-level index component loadings 71
Table 11. Association between single census-tract level socioeconomic indicators and gastroschisis among women with at least one geocoded address during the periconceptional period, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011
Table 12. Association between neighborhood indices and gastroschisis amongwomen with at least one geocoded address during the periconceptional period,National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 201173
Table 13. Association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis,stratified by NDI, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011
Table 14. Association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis,stratified by NDI, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 201192

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Gastroschisis prevalence by maternal age, 1995 – 2012, Jones et al 10
Figure 2. Conceptual framework linking neighborhood factors to maternal health, by Culhane et al. ¹⁰³
Figure 3. Simplified conceptual framework hypothesized explanatory mechanisms linking nSEP and gastroschisis
Figure 4. NBDPS catchment areas
Figure 5. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for study population
Figure 6. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between nSEP and gastroschisis
Figure 7. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis
Figure 8. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis
Figure 9. Distribution of Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) and Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI), National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011
Figure 10. Crude and adjusted ORs (95% CIs) for the association between (a) Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) (b) Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI) and gastroschisis

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

aPR	Adjusted prevalence ratios
aRR	Adjusted risk ratios
aOR	Adjusted odds ratios
ACS	American Community Survey
BDS	Slone Epidemiology Unit Birth Defects Study
BMI	Body mass index
CATI	Computer-assisted telephone interview
CBDMP	California Birth Defects Monitoring Program
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention
CI	Confidence interval
DAG	Directed acyclic graph
EQI	Environmental quality index
FIPS	Federal Information Processing Standards
GEE	Generalized estimating equations
IPI	Interpregnancy interval
IRB	Institutional Review Board
NBDPS	National Birth Defects Prevention Study
NDI	Neighborhood Deprivation Index
nSEP	Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position
nSEPI	Neighborhood-level Socioeconomic Position Index
OR	Odds ratio
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons

PCA	Principal component analysis
RERI	Relative Excess Risk due to Interaction
SEP	Socioeconomic Position
SGA	Small for gestational age
STI	Sexually transmitted infection
US	United States
UTI	Urinary tract infection

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION AND SPECIFIC AIMS

Pregnant women residing in low socioeconomic neighborhoods are at a higher risk of experiencing adverse pregnancy outcomes.^{1–6} Accumulating evidence suggests that neighborhoods contain physical, service, and social characteristics, above and beyond individual-level factors, that influence an individual's health through proposed mechanisms that involve psychosocial, behavioral, and biological factors.⁷ Individuals residing in socioeconomically disadvantaged or deprived neighborhoods are more likely exposed to chronic stressors and daily difficulties through lack of access to quality resources,⁸ inadequate housing quality, and lack of educational and/or employment opportunities. Neighborhood effects may also influence individual health behaviors through social norms shared amongst residents.⁹ In addition, previous studies have reported that individuals living in areas of lower income and education had higher levels of inflammatory markers, independent of individual-level risk factors.^{10–12} These inflammatory markers have been linked to adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as fetal growth restriction and neonatal complications.¹³

Studies examining neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics and adverse pregnancy outcomes have shown modest associations with preterm birth,^{1,2} low birth weight,¹⁴ and more recently neural tube defects⁶ and orofacial clefts^{3,15}, independent of individual-level factors. Considering the etiology of many birth defects are unknown, examining the contextual effect of neighborhoods may provide important etiologic clues given the social and biological consequences neighborhoods exert on individuals. This dissertation seeks to examine the association between the contextual effects of neighborhood-level SEP (nSEP) and the risk of

gastroschisis and its influence on the associations between well-established individual-level risk factors and gastroschisis.

Gastroschisis is an abdominal wall birth defect characterized by the herniation of intestines and other abdominal organs outside the fetal body. It occurs between the fifth and eighth gestational week¹⁶ and is associated with increased infant morbidity¹⁷. Gastroschisis has significant public health relevance due to its increasing prevalence from 3.6 (1995-2005) to 4.3 (2012-2016) per 10,000 live births.^{18,19} The epidemiologic pattern is unique in which it disproportionately affects mothers who are young,^{20–23} have normal or low body mass index (BMI),^{24–27} and are of non-Hispanic white race.^{18,19,28–30} Despite these findings, the etiology remains largely unknown, indicating the need to explore other factors that may be at higher-order levels. To date, only one study has examined the association between specific nSEP domains and gastroschisis.³¹ Although this study reported a modest association, after adjusting for individual factors, it was limited by exposure measurementerror and residual confounding. Solely looking at the individual level may be insufficient in understanding the complex etiology of gastroschisis. Examining higher order, or contextual, effects may provide clues into other factors that either influence individual-level characteristics or directly affect risk. Given the increasing prevalence, there is a need to expand our understanding of non-individual level risk factors and the contextual role neighborhoods may have on gastroschisis. Thus, the purpose of this dissertation project is to further understand the etiology of gastroschisis by examining the contextual influence of nSEP. The specific aims of this dissertation project are as follows:

Specific Aim #1. Estimate the association between nSEP during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis, independent of individual-level characteristics. To characterize neighborhood-level socioeconomic position, principal component analysis (PCA) will be

conducted to construct two neighborhood indices, Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) and Neighborhood-level Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI), based on census socioeconomic indicators corresponding to the census tract associated with the address mothers lived at the longest during the periconceptional period. Generalized estimating equations will be used to account for potential correlation and non-independence of outcomes among mothers living in the same neighborhood. The hypothesis for this aim is that residing in low-SEP neighborhoods will be associated with increased odds of gastroschisis relative to residing in high-SEP neighborhoods.

Specific Aim #2. Examine whether nSEP modifies the association between two wellestablished associations including (1) maternal age at conception and gastroschisis and (2) maternal BMI and gastroschisis. The extent to which contextual factors modify the effect of individual-level characteristics on the risk of gastroschisis is unknown. This aim focuses on the interrelationships between individual-level attributes and nSEP as both likely influence maternal health, and subsequently pregnancy outcomes. Given neighborhood effects may influence maternal health behaviors, the hypothesis for this aim is that nSEP will modify the association between (1) maternal age and gastroschisis and (2) maternal BMI and gastroschisis.

Results from this dissertation project will extend current gastroschisis literature, contribute to the studies examining neighborhood-level effects on individual health, and prompt future research to explore the effect of contextual factors on other birth defects.

CHAPTER 2: BACKGROUND

2.1 Epidemiology of gastroschisis

Gastroschisis is an abdominal wall birth defect characterized by the protrusion of intestines and other abdominal organs outside the fetal body without an amniotic membrane coverage. This abdominal birth defect occurs early in gestation, between the 5th and 8th gestational week, and the etiology remains unknown.^{16,32} Between 2012 and 2016, the prevalence of gastroschisis, in the United States (US), was 4.3 cases per 10,000 live births, based on data from 42 population-based state birth defects surveillance programs.¹⁹A previous study, using data from 14 state surveillance programs reported that the prevalence of gastroschisis increased from 3.6, in 1995 – 2005, to 4.9, in 2005 – 2012, per 10,000 live births, representing a 30% increase in prevalence.¹⁸ Despite the relative rarity of this birth defect, the epidemiologic pattern of gastroschisis is distinct due to its inexplicably increasing prevalence worldwide and consistent association with young maternal age (< 20 years). 18,20,21,23,29,33,34 Other striking risk factors unique to gastroschisis include mothers who are normal or underweight (compared with overweight/obese)^{24,26} and non-Hispanic White (compared non-Hispanic Black mothers).^{18,19,28-} ³⁰ In addition, gastroschisis has been observed to occur within geographic clusters, possibly indicating that environmental and sociodemographic factors may play a role in the etiology of gastroschisis.^{35–37}

Gastroschisis is primarily an isolated defect and is rarely associated with genetic conditions, such as chromosomal anomalies.^{21,38,39} Advances in prenatal monitoring, neonatal intensive care, parenteral nutrition, and surgical techniques have improved the survival rate to

over 90%. ^{40–42} However, depending on the severity of the case, gastroschisis is associated with short- and long-term morbidity and medical costs. Difficulties transitioning from parenteral to enteral nutritional feedings and changes in the absorption of nutrients prompt digestive complications and feeding intolerance, resulting in consequential effects on the infant.¹⁷ Fortunately, the prognosis of infants with gastroschisis is largely optimistic and the overall quality of life is expectedly normal.⁴³

2.2 Embryology of gastroschisis

The embryologic pathogenesis of gastroschisis is unknown; however, several hypotheses have been proposed.^{32,44–48} To understand these hypotheses, a summary of normal embryonic development is first described.

During the 3rd and 4th week of normal embryonic development following fertilization (~5th or 6th gestational week), the embryo is at a high risk of developmental defects as several significant events occur to prepare for organogenesis. These events include gastrulation (a process that converts the bilaminar embryo to a trilaminar embryo with three germ layers – ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm), neurulation (formation of neural tube and neural crest), mesoderm formation (subdivision of the mesoderm into three masses: paraxial mesoderm, intermediate mesoderm, and lateral plate mesoderm), and folding of the ventral body wall.⁴⁹ The folding process entails a downward extension of the body wall at the cranial and caudal ends to form the "fetal" position. In addition, lateral body folds draw the amniotic membrane ventrally over the embryo, with an opening that forms the umbilical ring which contains two stalks: yolk and connecting stalk. The yolk stalk contains vitelline vessels and the yolk sac, while the connecting stalk contains the allantois and umbilical vessels.^{49,50} During this process, the gut

tube lengthens to form the primary intestinal loop, which is attached to the yolk sac via the vitelline duct in the yolk stalk and contributes to the formation of the gastrointestinal tract. As the lateral folds continue to move ventrally toward the midline, the vitelline duct in the yolk stalk contracts and the two stalks (yolk and connecting stalks) are brought closer together, eventually merging to form the umbilical cord.³² By the 7th week of embryonic development (~9th gestational week), the umbilical cord is fully formed and the intestines begin to normally herniate out of the embryo through the umbilical ring. This herniation allows for the proper rotation of the intestines while the abdominal cavity grows.⁵¹ By the end of the 10th gestational week, the intestines return to the larger abdominal cavity and ultimately, the lateral body folds fuse at the midline.^{32,49,50} However, closure of the ventral body wall is not well understood, impeding the progress to fully understand the embryonic pathogenesis of gastroschisis.

To date, seven hypotheses have been proposed to explain the formation of gastroschisis; though, all have some limitations.^{32,44–48} <u>The first hypothesis</u> suggests that differentiation of the embryonic mesenchyme, the layer that gives rise to the body's connective tissue, fails to occur due to a teratogen (agent or factor that causes a birth defect).⁴⁴ However, this hypothesis fails to explain the type of teratogen involved and why the defect consistently occurs to the right of the umbilicus.³² <u>The second hypothesis</u> states that a rupture of the amniotic membrane at the base of the umbilical cord during normal physiologic herniation or a delay in the umbilical ring closure causes the ventral body wall to weaken and thus, allow herniation of the bowel.⁴⁷ However, if a rupture were to occur at the base of the umbilicus, the umbilical cord would not be normal upon delivery. Yet, in most cases, gastroschisis occurs with an intact umbilical cord.³² <u>The third hypothesis</u> suggests that an abnormal involution of the right umbilical vein affects the viability of the surrounding mesenchyme.⁴⁶ This hypothesis was based on earlier work on pigs,

by Smith et al., claiming that the ventral body wall is supported by the umbilical veins.⁵² However, current evidence shows that the umbilical veins do not support the mesenchyme of the ventral body wall.^{32,53} Thus, regardless of any insults to the umbilical veins, support to the surrounding mesenchyme of the paraumbilical region would remain uninterrupted. The fourth hypothesis states that vascular disruption of the vitelline artery may lead to necrosis of the ventral body wall and subsequent herniation of the bowel.⁴⁵ Up until recently, this was the most widely accepted hypothesis given the epidemiologic evidence showing a positive association between vasoactive substances and gastroschisis.⁵⁴⁻⁵⁶ However, this hypothesis was disputed by Feldkamp et al. because (1) it is unknown why only vessels to the right of the umbilicus are prone to infarction and (2) the vitelline vessels do not support the skin of the paraumbilical region, but rather the guttube and yolk sac. Thus, vascular disruption of the vitelline arteries would not damage the abdominal wall. Given these limitations, Feldkamp et al. proposed the fifth hypothesis, which suggests that gastroschisis is a result of defects in the folding and/or fusion of the ventral body wall.³² Although the authors note that the intrinsic forces required for ventral wall closure, such as cell proliferation and cell migration, may be targets for teratogens, no known teratogens have been identified to specifically disrupt these processes. In addition, Stevenson et al. notes that in some cases, failure of the ventral body wall closure would entail the inability for the amnion to close over the gut and adhere to the umbilical ring. This would result in exposing the gut to the extraembryonic celomic cavity rather than just the amniotic cavity.⁴⁸ As a result, Stevenson et al. proposed the sixth hypothesis which states that failure to combine the yolk stalk (and accompanying vitelline structures) with the connecting stalk results in a second perforation of the abdominal wall separate from the umbilicus. Given the gut is normally tethered to the vitelline structures of the yolk stalk, this would result in herniation of the gut at a

second location, resulting in gastroschisis. In addition, the occurrence of the gut extrusion to the right of the umbilicus is explained to be a result of a rapid ingrowth of the left lateral wall,⁵⁷ pushing the yolk stalk and attached vitelline structures to the right. However, no explanation has been proposed for why the vitelline structures fail to combine with the connecting stalk and no teratogens have been identified in relation to this hypothesis. Thus, the <u>seventh, and most recent hypothesis</u>, proposed by Bargy and Beaudoin et al.^{58,59}, suggests that gastroschisis is likely due to an amniotic rupture along the umbilical cord during normal physiologic hernia, between the 8th and 11th gestational week. However, the cause of the rupture is unclear. Overall, despite the numerous hypotheses, the embryologic pathogenesis of gastroschisis and linkage with specific risk factors remains unknown.

2.3 Risk factors of gastroschisis

2.3.1 Genetic risk factors of gastroschisis

The majority of gastroschisis cases are sporadic events; however, a few studies have observed a familial recurrence of cases,^{60–62} indicating a genetic contribution to gastroschisis. An early study by Torfs et al. found that among the 127 families studied, 4.7% had a family history of gastroschisis with a sibling recurrence risk of 3.5%.⁶⁰ A recent study examining all population-based studies of familial cases observed a recurrence risk of 2.4%; though, the authors note that this is likely an underestimate due to higher-degree relatives missing in some studies.⁶²

Although the possibility of shared social, lifestyle, and environmental factors among family members cannot be excluded, the genetic role in the etiology of gastroschisis is further supported by studies observing an association with chromosome abnormalities and gene

polymorphisms. One study using data from 24 birth defects surveillance systems reported that 1.2% of infants with gastroschisis had chromosome abnormalities,³⁸ while another study reported 2% of gastroschisis infants had associated chromosomal syndromes.³⁹ In addition, few studies also observed an association between certain common gene variants (i.e., ICAM-1 gl214arg, NOS3 glu298asp, NPPA T2238c) and an increased risk of gastroschisis.^{63,64} Furthermore, when the joint effect of maternal smoking and certain gene variants were examined, a strong interaction was observed, indicating a possible gene-environment interaction.⁶⁴ Given the rapidly increasing prevalence of gastroschisis, it is unlikely that genetics is the sole cause of this birth defect, but rather part of a multifactorial etiology involving both genetic and non-genetic factors.

2.3.2 Non-genetic risk factors of gastroschisis

The etiology of gastroschisis is unknown; however, several epidemiologic studies have examined non-genetic and genetic risk factors.

2.3.2.1 Maternal age at conception

Young maternal age at conception (< 20 years) has consistently been identified as a strong and significant risk factor for gastroschisis.^{18,21,22,33,65,66} One study, utilizing data from the California state surveillance program, observed mothers ages 12-15 and 16-19 years were four (adjusted prevalence ratio [aPR]: 4.2; 95% Confidence Interval (CI): (2.5-7.0)) and three (aPR: 2.9; 95% CI: 2.1, 4.0) times the prevalence, respectively, of having an infant with gastroschisis compared with 25 - 29-year-old mothers.⁶⁷ Another study in Metropolitan Atlanta observed infants born to teenage mothers were seven times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with infants born to mothers aged 25 - 29 years (odds ratio [OR]: 7.2; 95% CI: 4.4 –

11.8).⁶⁵ Most recently, in 2012, a case-control study using data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBPDS) reported that infants born to mothers less than 20 years were six times the risk of delivering an infant with gastroschisis compared with infants born to mothers aged 25 - 29 years (aOR: 6.1; 95% CI: 4.8 - 8.0).⁶⁶

The prevalence of gastroschisis has increased over the past couple decades. However, there is significant heterogeneity in the rates of increase, with the largest increase seen among teenage mothers (Figure 1).^{18,34}



Figure 1. Gastroschisis prevalence by maternal age, 1995 – 2012, Jones et al.¹⁸

Between 1995 – 2005, the percentage increase in the prevalence of gastroschisis was 0.2% among mothers 35 years and older compared to an increase of 6.5% among teenage mothers.³⁴ One hypothesis for this association is that young mothers may be biologically immature to support a pregnancy. Given that young mothers are growing themselves and often

have an inadequate diet with low micronutrient intake,⁶⁸ adolescent mothers may be competing with the developing fetus for essential vitamins and micronutrients.^{69,70} With effect estimates ranging from three to seven, young maternal age may be a marker for nutritional and other biologic factors for gastroschisis.

2.3.2.2 Diet/nutritional status

The strong association between young maternal age and gastroschisis has suggested that diet and nutritional status may be a risk factor for this birth defect. However, few studies have investigated these associations. Torfs et al. conducted an age-matched case-control study of 55 gastroschisis cases using a 100-item food-frequency questionnaire administered during the three months prior to conception. An increased risk of gastroschisis was observed among mothers with low α -carotene (OR: 4.3; 95% CI: 1.9-9.8), low total glutathione (OR: 3.3; 95% CI: 1.4 – 7.6), and high nitrosamines (OR: 2.6; 95% CI: 1.3-5.4). α-carotene and glutathione are antioxidants that protect the developing fetus from reactive oxygen species; whereas, nitrosamines are carcinogenic compounds. These associations indicate that poor nutritional status is associated with an increased risk of gastroschisis.⁷⁰ Another age-matched case-control study of 91 cases examined the association between diet in the first trimester and gastroschisis. However, detailed questionnaires such as the food-frequency questionnaire were not used to assess diet. Rather, diet during the first 12 weeks of pregnancy was assessed using the question 'How often do you typically eat a portion of (each type of food group, e.g., white meat, red meat, fruit, vegetables, and fish)?'. This analysis found that high intakes of fruits and vegetables (aOR: 0.2; 95% CI: 0.04 - 0.6) and taking at least 6 weeks of folic acid during the first trimester (aOR: 0.3; 95% CI: 0.12 - 0.8) were associated with a reduced risk of gastroschisis.⁷¹

Although both studies found an association between poor nutritional status and gastroschisis, an NBDPS analysis of 694 cases of gastroschisis observed null results. Feldkamp et al. used a modified Willett 58-item food frequency questionnaire and reported no associations between gastroschisis and micronutrients, macronutrients, amino acids, or fatty acids. Upon examining the nutrients in Torfs et al.'s study, this study found a weak and nonsignificant decrease in the risk of gastroschisis among mothers in the intermediate and highest tertile of α -carotene (intermediate aOR: 0.82; 95% CI: 0.66 – 1.02; highest aOR: 0.79; 95% CI: 0.63 – 1.01. The authors note, however, that the difference in food frequency questionnaires may explain the difference in study results.⁷² Furthermore, as a marker for deficiency in nutritional reserves short interpregnancy intervals (IPIs) have been examined as a risk factor for gastroschisis. Using data from the NBDPS, Getz et al. found that short IPIs, defined as an interpregnancy interval of less than 12 months, were associated with an increased risk of gastroschisis (aOR: 1.7; 95% CI: 1.1 – 2.5).⁷³

2.3.2.3 Maternal body mass index (BMI)

Studies have reported an inverse association between maternal body mass index (BMI) and gastroschisis, after adjusting for maternal age.^{24,26,56} A previous case-control study that examined BMI using maternal self-reported pre-pregnancy height and weight, observed an ~11% decreased risk of gastroschisis for every unit increase in BMI. When BMI was assessed as a categorical variable, underweight mothers (BMI < 18.1 kg/m²) were more likely to have an infant with gastroschisis (aOR: 3.20; 95% CI: 1.37 - 7.42), whereas, overweight mothers were less likely (aOR: 0.19; 95% CI: 0.04 - 0.83).²⁶ In addition, an NBDPS analysis reported that mothers of obese BMI (\geq 30 kg/m²) had a reduced risk (aOR: 0.2; 95% CI: 0.1 - 0.3) of having an infant with gastroschisis compared with mothers of normal weight BMI.²⁴ Studies in the UK also observed similar associations. Based on 144 gastroschisis cases, a UK case-control study using age-matched controls also observed an inverse association with maternal weight [overweight aOR: 0.3; 95%CI: 0.2, 0.7 and underweight aOR: 2.0; 95% CI: 1.1, 3.7].⁵⁶

This inverse association suggests a competition for nutrients or a nutrient deficit for the developing embryo among mothers of low BMI. An NBDPS study that examined the joint effects of maternal BMI and age found that young mothers with low BMI have the highest risk of gastroschisis. For example, a 15-year-old mother with a BMI of 17kg/m² was seven times as likely (aOR: 7.0; 95% CI: 4.2, 11.5) to have an infant with gastroschisis, compared with a 24-year-old mother with a BMI of 23 kg/m². This indicates that the nutrient deficit hypothesis may play a role in the etiology of gastroschisis.²⁷

2.3.2.4 Maternal race/ethnicity

Several studies have examined the association between maternal race/ethnicity and gastroschisis. Compared with white, non-Hispanic mothers, studies have consistently reported that infants born to black, non-Hispanic mothers have a lower risk of gastroschisis, after adjusting for maternal age.^{23,74,75} One study using data from the National Vital Statistics System found that black, non-Hispanic mothers were 0.44 (95% CI: 0.41 - 0.48) times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with white, non-Hispanic mothers.⁷⁵

Although other studies found similar black-white disparities, differing results for Hispanicity were reported.^{75,76} An NBPDS analysis observed a lower risk of gastroschisis among black, non-Hispanic mothers (aOR: 0.54; 95% CI: 0.34 - 0.85), compared with white, non-Hispanic mothers; while, infants born to mothers of Hispanic ethnicity had a slightly higher risk of gastroschisis (aOR: 1.15; 95% CI: 0.81 - 1.61) compared with the same reference group.²³ Similar results were found in a New York study using white, non-Hispanic mothers as the reference group (black, non-Hispanic aOR: 0.8; 95% CI: 0.6 - 1.2; Hispanic aOR: 1.5; 95% CI: 1.1 - 2.0).⁷⁷ However, one study using data from the Florida Birth Defects Registry (1998 – 2003), reported that after adjusting for maternal age, both black, non-Hispanic (aPR: 0.19; 95% CI: 0.13, 0.26) and Hispanic mothers (aPR: 0.60; 95% CI: 0.43, 0.83) had a lower risk of having a gastroschisis infant, compared with white, non-Hispanic mothers.⁷⁶ Similar results were reported in a population-based study of US live births from 2005 – 2013 (black, non-Hispanic aRR: 0.44, 95%CI: 0.41 - 0.48; Hispanic aRR: 0.69, 95% CI: 0.64, 0.73).⁷⁵ Given differences in study results, the risk of gastroschisis among Hispanic women is uncertain; though, it can be concluded that black, non-Hispanic mothers have a lower risk of having a gastroschisis infant compared with white, non-Hispanic mothers.

2.3.2.5 Smoking/alcohol/ illicit and recreational drug use

A common hypothesis for the pathogenesis of gastroschisis is vascular disruption during early embryogenesis.⁴⁵ Studies examining this hypothesis have investigated the association between vasoactive exposures, such as smoking, alcohol, and illicit and therapeutic drug use, and the risk of gastroschisis.

Several studies have reported a modest increase in the risk of gastroschisis with maternal cigarette smoking. An early, hospital-based, case-control study of 76 gastroschisis cases, using data from the Slone Epidemiology Unit Birth Defects Study (BDS), reported that mothers who self-reported smoking 1-14 cigarettes per day anytime during their pregnancy were 1.5 times as likely (aOR: 1.5; 95% CI: 0.9 - 2.7) to deliver an infant with gastroschisis, compared with

mothers who did not smoke, after adjusting for maternal age.³³ In addition, an updated analysis using data from the same study showed a possible dose-response association with first-trimester exposure (1-9 cigarettes/day: aOR: 1.3, 95%CI: 1.1 - 2.2; 10-19 cigarettes/day: aOR: 1.4, 95% CI: 0.9 - 2.4; ≥ 20 cigarettes/day: aOR: 1.8, 95% CI: 1.1 - 2.8).⁵⁵

Maternal alcohol consumption has also been reported to increase the risk of gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age.^{23,33,78} The first of two NBDPS studies observed a 1.4 – fold increased risk among mothers who self-reported any alcohol consumption during the periconceptional period (defined as one month before pregnancy through the third month of pregnancy) compared to no alcohol consumption (aOR: 1.38; 95% CI: 1.06, 1.79).²³ The second NBDPS study reported a dose-response pattern for binge drinking (1-3 drinks/occasion: aOR: 1.27, 95% CI: 1.01 – 1.59; \geq 4 drinks/occasion: aOR: 1.53, 95% CI: 1.21 – 1.92), compared with no drinking during the periconceptional period.⁷⁸ These results support an older study using BDS data (1976 – 1990) that observed a higher age-adjusted estimate among mothers who reported \geq 5 drinks at any one time (aRR: 3.8; 95%CI: 1.5 – 6.7) compared to mothers who reported 0 drinks. However, the sample size was small (n = 76) as reflected by the wide confidence interval.³³

Many studies have also observed an association between maternal self-reported illicit drug use and gastroschisis.^{22,55,56,79} Given the method of self-report data collection, these studies are vulnerable to social desirability bias. However, despite this challenge, two studies have attempted to objectively measure recreational drug use through the use of biological samples.^{56,80} One UK case-control study examined drug use through both maternal self-report and maternal hair samples. Using the self-reported measurement, results showed that any recreational drug use during the first trimester was associated with a two-fold increased risk of gastroschisis (aOR:

2.2; 95% CI: 1.2 - 4.3; however, recreational drug use was not specifically defined. When the analysis was restricted to only vasoactive illicit drugs, defined as cocaine, amphetamines, and ecstasy, the risk increased (aOR: 3.3; 95% CI: 1.0 - 10.5) using self-reported data but attenuated when using hair samples (OR: 2.0; 95% CI 0.8 - 5.0). The authors note that the reduced risk was likely due to reduced power; though, 98.6% (n = 142) and 97.9% (n = 423) of cases and controls, respectively, provided a hair sample.⁵⁶ In another observational study, slightly higher odds were reported using hair samples to assess exposure to vasoactive illicit drugs, defined as amphetamines, methamphetamines, barbiturates, cocaine, methadone, benzodiazepines, and opiates; however, estimates were not adjusted for maternal age.⁸⁰ Nevertheless, age-adjusted results of studies that examined this association, using self-reported data, suggest that mothers who use recreational drugs have an increased risk of gastroschisis.^{22,55,56,79,80} Various vasoactive therapeutic drugs have been shown to be associated with increased risks of gastroschisis, adjusting for maternal age.^{21,54,55,81} For example, one study observed a 2.7-increased risk among mothers who disclosed any use of aspirin during the first trimester of pregnancy (aOR: 2.7; 95% CI: 1.2 - 5.9),⁸² with other reports of similar estimates ranging from 1.5 to 3.5.^{38,79} Other vasoactive medications, including ibuprofen, acetaminophen, and various decongestants have been assessed, though results are inconsistent.54,55

2.3.2.6 Maternal stress

Many of the observed risk factors known to be associated with gastroschisis, such as young maternal age at conception, cigarette smoking, alcohol use, and others, may indicate a common underlying factor that explains the unique pattern of risk factors for gastroschisis. Given many of the risk factors induce a biologic stress response, including DNA damage, oxidative

stress, etc., a few studies have examined the association between maternal stress and gastroschisis.^{83–85}

In a recent NBDPS analysis, Werler et al. observed a strong, monotonic dose-response association between cumulative stressors, defined to have some biologic evidence of oxidative or inflammatory response, and gastroschisis for all age groups. Specifically, mothers who selfreported 1, 2,3, and \geq 4 stressor exposures were 1.3 (95% CI: 1.1, 1.6), 1.7 (95% CI: 1.4, 2.1), 2.5 (95% CI: 2.0, 31), and 3.6 (95% CI: 2.9, 4.4) times the odds, respectively, of having a gastroschisis infant compared with mothers who self-reported zero stressors, after adjusting for maternal age.⁸⁵ In addition, a previous NBDPS analysis conducted by Carmichael et al. examined the effect of cumulative social stressful-life events and noted a three-fold increased risk of gastroschisis among non-teenage mothers who self-reported three or more stressful life events. However, no association was found among teenaged mothers.⁸⁴ One study in the UK also examined social life stressors and reported that mothers with \geq 2 stressful-life events in the first trimester had a five-fold increased risk of gastroschisis, after adjusting for maternal age (aOR: 4.9; 95% CI: 1.2, 19.4). Age-specific estimates were not assessed.⁸³

One interesting paradox, however, of the hypothesized association between the biological consequence of maternal stress and gastroschisis is the reduced risk associated with a high BMI. Given that psychosocial stress is positively associated with BMI,^{85–87}and combined with the chronic inflammatory state of being obese,⁸⁸mothers of high BMI would be expected to experience enhanced activation of stress-inducing inflammatory responses. Yet, despite observed increases of inflammatory cytokines associated with high BMI,^{89,90} epidemiologic studies have shown that overweight and obese mothers have a reduced risk of delivering an infant with gastroschisis.^{24,26} However, given the generally consistent evidence of a strong association

between maternal stress and gastroschisis, stress-induced inflammation may play a role in the etiology of gastroschisis.

2.3.2.7 Maternal infections

Multiple studies have documented an association between gastroschisis and maternal genitourinary infections early in pregnancy, including urinary tract infections and sexually transmitted infections (STIs).^{56,91–95} However, infection assessment, including the collection method and type of assay used to analyze biological samples, vary by study resulting in inconsistent results. A few studies assessed STI infection using serological assays to detect antibodies.^{93,94} One study observed a four-fold increased risk of gastroschisis among women seropositive for anti-Chlamydia trachomatis (CT) immunoglobulin G3 (IgG3) antibodies (aOR: 3.9; 95% CI: 1.1 - 13.2), after adjustment for maternal age.⁹³ However, another study, using data from a Finnish cohort, found no association between two types of CT antibodies (immunoglobulin G antibodies and Chlamydial heat shock protein) and gastroschisis (aOR: 1.05; 95% CI: 0.73 - 1.52; though, estimates were only adjusted for seropositivity to herpes simplex virus 2 (HSV-2). The authors note that the difference in study results was likely due to the type of assay used. Their assay was unable to distinguish between different types of IgGs and likely captured subtypes known to have a low response for CT infection which may explain the null effects.⁹⁴ One study that examined the association between maternal antibodies to herpes virus antigens (HSV-1 or HSV-2) and gastroschisis found that mothers with a recent infection had a two-fold increase in the risk of gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age (aOR: 1.94; 95% CI: 0.74, 5.12).⁹⁵

Among studies that assessed UTI and STIs through maternal self-report^{56,91,92,96}, mothers

with a UTI between three months prior to conception to the end of first trimester had similar increases in risk (aOR: 1.5; 95% CI: 1.3 - 1.8) as mothers with a self-reported STI (aOR: 1.6, 95% CI: 1.2 - 2.3),⁹⁰ compared with mothers with no self-reported infection.⁹¹ Similar results for STIs were found in a BDS analysis (aOR: 1.2; 95% CI: 1.0 - 1.5) that examined infection during the first trimester; however, higher odds were found for UTIs (aOR: 2.3; 95% CI: 1.3 - 2.4).⁹² Furthermore, a synergistic effect was observed when examining the joint effect of UTIs and maternal age, but not for STIs and maternal age.^{91,92} Specifically, compared to mothers with no infection, mothers less than 25 years with a UTI during the first trimester had a higher risk of having an infant with gastroschisis (OR: 2.6; 95% C: 1.7 - 4.0) while older mothers with a UTI had a slightly lower risk (aOR: 1.8; 95% CI: 0.6 - 5.9).⁹²

2.3.2.8 Occupational exposures

To date, three studies have examined the role of occupational exposures in the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis.^{79,97,98} One study examined exposure to polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH)⁹⁸ and two studies assessed exposure to organic solvents^{79,97}.

A NBDPS analysis reported an increased risk of gastroschisis (aOR: 1.75; 95% CI: 1.05 – 2.92) associated with occupational exposure to PAH and gastroschisis. However, when stratified by maternal age, an increased risk was found among mothers 20 years and older (aOR: 2.53; 95% CI: 1.27 - 5.04), but no association was found among teenage mothers (aOR: 1.14; 95% CI: 0.55 - 2.33).⁹⁸ The authors hypothesized that this is likely due to prolonged exposure to PAHs; however, data on maternal occupation prior to conception was not available.⁹⁸ The two studies that examined exposure to organic solvents reported conflicting results. One study, using data from the California Birth Defects Monitoring Program (CBDMP), reported that mothers exposed

to aromatic, gaseous aliphatic, or liquid aliphatic hydrocarbons were almost three times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis (aOR: 2.55; 95% CI: 1.10 - 5.89).⁷⁹ However, in a more recent NBDPS analysis of 879 gastroschisis cases, no association was observed with occupational exposure to any solvent (aOR: 1.0; 95% CI: 0.75 - 1.32). The authors noted that differences in study results may be due to differences in power, inclusion/exclusion criteria, and possible exposure misclassification. The CBDMP study used one industrial hygienist to assign the type of exposure based on mothers' occupation; whereas the NBDPS study used a multiple expert rater system to assign solvent exposure.⁹⁷

2.3.2.9 Environmental exposures

Few studies have examined the relationship between environmental exposures and gastroschisis. Amongst these studies, inconsistent results have been reported. A case-control study in Europe, based on 13 gastroschisis cases, observed an elevated odds of gastroschisis among women living within 3 km of a landfill (OR: 3.19; 95% CI: 0.95, 10.77).⁹⁹ However, in another study based in Scotland, a much weaker association was found among mothers living within 2 km of a landfill (aOR: 1.22; 95% CI: 0.28, 5.38).¹⁰⁰ In addition, one case-control study examining the effect of periconceptional exposure to atrazine, anagrichemical, found an increased risk of gastroschisis among women who resided < 25 km from a high-concentration site compared with women living >50 km from the site (aOR: 1.60; 95% CI:1.10, 2.34).¹⁰¹ Lastly, a recent case-control study utilized the Environmental Quality Index (EQI) to examine the effects of overall county-level environmental quality on ten birth defects, one of which was gastroschisis. Results showed a positive association between worst overall EQI and gastroschisis (aPR: 1.55; 95% CI: 1.30, 1.86), after adjusting for individual-level characteristics. Moreover,

when each domain of the EQI (air, water, land, built, and sociodemographic) was examined separately, a reduced association was found with worst environmental quality in the built domain (aPR: 0.67; 95% CI: 0.48, 0.92); and, an increased risk of gastroschisis was observed with worsening sociodemographic quality (aPR: 1.53; 95% CI: 1.02, 2.31). The land, water, and air domains had no associations with gastroschisis.¹⁰²

To date, individual-level assessment of environmental exposures has not been examined in relation to gastroschisis. Given these inconsistent associations, further research is needed to conclude whether environmental exposures increase the risk of gastroschisis.

2.3.2.10 Individual-level socioeconomic position and gastroschisis

Overall, the epidemiologic evidence suggests that individual-level socioeconomic position (SEP) may be associated with gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age. Various indicators have been used as a proxy to measure SEP.

One study found that mothers with an annual family income of < \$10,000 were more likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with mothers with an annual family income of \geq \$50,000 (aOR: 4.5; 95% CI: 1.4 – 14.4), after adjustment for maternal age. In addition, mothers whose father was absent during childhood were four times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis (aOR: 4.0; 95% CI: 1.4 – 11.5).²² Two studies examined the effect of maternal education; however, conflicting results werereported. One case-control study, using data from BDS, measured education in years and reported no association between maternal education and gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age. Compared with mothers that had < 12 years of education, mothers with 13-15 years of education had an age-adjusted estimate of 1.1 (95% CI: 0.5, 2.2).³³ However, another US population-based study observed an increased risk of

gastroschisis among mothers who graduated high school compared with mothers who had less than a 9th-grade education (aRR: 1.40; 95% CI: 1.23, 1.59). In the same analysis, mothers with a master's or doctorate/professional degree had a decreased risk of having a gastroschisis infant (aRR: 0.51; 95% CI: 0.32, 0.82), using the same reference group.⁷⁵

The strong effect of maternal age makes it difficult to examine the effects of individuallevel SEP on gastroschisis because the opportunity for young mothers to acquire a high SEP, which is often measured by education and/or income, is limited by their age. It is also important to note that indicators of SEP represent different aspects of overall socioeconomic factors and association with health indicators. Using single indicators as a proxy for SEP obscures the multidimensional nature of SEP and how each aspect of SEP may affect maternal health. Despite these limitations, however, individual-level SEP has been suggested to play a role in the risk of gastroschisis.^{21,22}

2.4 Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position

2.4.1 Overview

Neighborhoods or residential environments have recently been shown to be an important contextual factor that may affect maternal health, and subsequently pregnancy outcomes.¹⁰³ The study of neighborhood effects on an individual's health has important implications not only on traditional health policies but policies that may affect health through other means, such as urban planning policies.⁸ Furthermore, while the examination of neighborhood-level effects may contribute to better understanding the hypothesized mechanisms linking contextual factors to individual health outcomes, it is also helpful to examine these factors for exploratory etiologic research.^{15,31} The influence of contextual factors, such as nSEP, may provide important etiologic

clues or help improve our understanding of contextual factors as a potential confounder or effect measure modifier for the associations with individual-level risk factors.

2.4.2 Neighborhoods and health

Neighborhoods contain physical, service, and social characteristics, above and beyond individual-level factors, that affect an individual's health through proposed mechanisms involving psychosocial, behavioral, and biological factors.¹⁰³ The physical features of neighborhoods include exposure to air pollution, water quality, various toxicants, housing quality, noise pollution, and the built environment such as greenspaces. The social environment refers to the level of social cohesion and/or connectedness amongst neighbors. Related attributes include residential stability, reciprocity amongst residents, levels of social disorder, and crime/violence. The service environment reflects the availability of resources, goods, and services – such as access to recreational facilities, healthcare, healthy foods, and municipal services.^{8,103,104} Figure 2, created by Culhane et al.¹⁰³, depicts a conceptual framework that outlines the pathways by which the neighborhood context may affect maternal health and subsequently, birth outcomes.
Figure 2. Conceptual framework linking neighborhood factors to maternal health, by Culhane et al.¹⁰³





Numerous studies have linked socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods to adverse health outcomes, including cardiovascular disease,^{105,106} depression,^{107,108} and mortality,^{109,110} independent of individual-level risk factors.¹⁰⁹ Although the idea that neighborhoods "independently" affect health outcomes is perhaps misleading, given that health outcomes are expressed at the individual level,¹¹¹ these "independent" effects refer to the contextual factors that affect an individual's vulnerability to adverse health outcomes through individual-level mechanisms, such as biological processes or changes in maternal health behavior. Furthermore, studies examining neighborhood-level attributes are often difficult to compare given the various indicators and indices used to characterize neighborhood socioeconomic position. However, there is generally consistent evidence to show that the socioeconomic context of a neighborhood affects individual health and continues to persist even after controlling for individual-level characteristics.^{7,8}

2.4.3 Domains and indicators of nSEP

Various domains and indicators are used to characterize nSEP. Since each domain measures unique, yet related aspects of nSEP, there is no single best domain/indicator to capture the multidimensional nature of this contextual factor. Sociologists and social epidemiologists have long recognized the importance of choosing domains/indicators based on the research question and hypothesized mechanisms by which nSEP influences the health outcome of interest.¹¹² However, given the mechanisms linking nSEP to health outcomes is unknown, particularly with adverse pregnancy outcomes, much of the neighborhood-level literature is often an exploration to further identify and elucidate these mechanisms. A brief summary of SEP domains/indicators and their interpretations are reported in Table 1.

SEP Domain	Interpretation/Operational Definition	Examples of
		census
Education	 Reflects knowledge, cognitive skills, learned effectiveness, builds resilienceand coping mechanisms Influences access to material and intellectual resources and educationalopportunities Enhances responsiveness to health education messages and communicationwith appropriate services Establishes a sense of personal controlover one's life 	 % adults with < high schooleducation % adults with Bachelor's degree % adults with > Bachelor's degree
Housing	 Markers of material and economicresources Key component of wealth Housing quality reflects direct effects onhealth through the spread of infectious diseases; influences exposure to allergens, pollutants, and other environmental contaminants 	 Crowding: % homes with > 1person/room % owner-occupied housing Wealth: % owner-occupied homes > \$300,000 Median house/unit value % renter-occupied units whosegross rent as a percentage of household income is ≥ 30%
Income andPoverty	 Reflects access to quality material resources; health-enhancing commodities and services; autonomy Determines material living standards Influences self-esteem, social standing through an outward reflection of materialgoods, psychosocial stressors, and social connections that may lead to increased 	 % individuals at/below the poverty line Median household income % individuals with income topoverty ratio < 1 % households earning <\$30,000 % female-headed households with dependents

 Table 1. Common domains and indicators of socioeconomic position

SEP: Socioeconomic position

2.4.4 Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position composite indices

Deprivation indices, which are composite measures of various nSEP indicators, have been created as a means to easily identify deprived neighborhoods to guide policy resource allocation decisions. While these indices are appealing as they summarize a complex, multidimensional concept into a single index, they fail to consider the theoretical framework by which it may influence different health outcomes. Nevertheless, the use of composite indices has become extremely popular and is often used in many neighborhood-level studies.

Common composite indices include the Townsend Deprivation Index¹¹⁶, the Carstairs-Morris Index¹¹⁷, Area Deprivation Index by Singh et al.¹¹⁸, and the Neighborhood Deprivation Index by Messer et al.¹¹⁵. In brief, the Townsend Deprivation index is a census-based index that combines four variables from the 1991 British census including unemployment, households without a car, overcrowded households, and non-owner occupied households, as a proportion of all households in a given census area.¹¹⁶ The Carstairs-Morris Index reflects area deprivation in relation to Scotland and combines four census variables, including households without a car, overcrowded households, social class distribution, and male unemployment.¹¹⁷ The Area Deprivation Index, developed by Singh et al., combines 17 census variables using the 1990 US Census¹¹⁸; and, most recently, the NDI created by Messer et al., incorporates eight 2000 US census variables including overcrowded households, female-headed households with dependents, households with public assistance, households in poverty, households earning <\$30,000 per year, unemployment, and percent of residents with less than a high school education that represents five sociodemographic domains, including income/poverty, education, employment, housing, and occupation.¹¹⁵ However, other self-composed indices are often used to measure nSEP.

Although various indicators and indices have been used to measure nSEP, there is no gold standard to capture the multidimensional nature of this contextual factor. While it may be an easy and efficient solution to measure neighborhood deprivation, most indices involve assumptions that may not be applicable over time, across different populations, or pertain to the mechanistic pathway hypothesized to influence the outcome of interest.¹¹² For example, indicators used to create a composite index may vary across countries. In some countries, education is measured as literacy rate while in other countries it is measured as entry into higher education.¹¹⁹ Deprivation indices created in other countries, such as the Townsend Deprivation Index, may not coincide with the deprivation in the country of interest. There is also evidence showing that different socioeconomic indicators do not have the same effect on influencing health outcomes. For example, income and education can both affect health through material resources; however, education can further influence how one understands and implements knowledge and/or critically thinks about situations.¹¹² Furthermore, standardized indices do not account for the quality gradient of each individual indicator. For example, simply accounting for years of education does not capture the educational quality an individual receives, which may be relevant to certain health outcomes.¹¹²

The construction of these composite indices is often seen as pragmatic since the choice of indicators used to construct the composite index is often based on the availability of data (census, administrative, and/or geospatial data) and geographic areas.¹¹⁹ What is lacking in the use of these composite indices, however, is the need to critically think about the mechanism by which neighborhood socioeconomic indicators influence specific health outcomes. Ideally, neighborhood-level SEP is characterized based on the research question and the plausible

Explanatory pathways specific to the outcome of interest; however, much research remains to identify these mechanisms, specifically in the context of reproductive health outcomes.¹¹²

2.4.5 Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position and adverse pregnancy outcomes

Pregnant women living in socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods have a higher risk of experiencing adverse pregnancy outcomes. Many studies have shown modest associations between neighborhood deprivation and preterm birth,^{1,5,120} low birthweight,^{111,120,121} and small-for-gestational-age (SGA),^{122,123} independent of various individual-level characteristics. For example, one study utilizing data from Johns Hopkins Hospital reported that infants delivered in the most disadvantaged neighborhoods were approximately 300 g lighter, on average than infants born to women who lived in the least disadvantaged neighborhood, after adjusting for individual-level risk factors.¹¹¹ Another study conducted in Canada found that women in the lowest neighborhood income quintile consistently had higher odds of preterm birth (aOR: 1.14; 95% CI: 1.10, 1.17), SGA (aOR: 1.18; 95% CI: 1.15, 1.21), and stillbirths (aOR: 1.30; 95%CI: 1.13, 1.48), after adjustment for individual-level factors.¹²⁴

Evidence of significant interactions between neighborhood- and individual-level characteristics suggest that the contextual setting where a mother resides may differentiallyaffect certain mothers and modify their risk of having an adverse pregnancy outcome.¹²⁵ One study using data from eight geographic areas in the US reported that non-Hispanic, White mothers living in a socioeconomically deprived neighborhood, based on the NDI created by Messer et al., had a 1.6-fold increased odds (95% CI: 1.41, 1.74) of having a preterm birth; whereas, non-Hispanic, Black mothers had a 1.2-fold increased odds (95% CI: 1.08, 1.23).¹ Another study conducted in New York observed modification in the effect of neighborhood deprivation on

term, low birthweight infants by different racial/ethnic groups. Mexican women living inthe most deprived neighborhood had a 1.5-fold increased odds of delivering a term, low birthweight infant (aOR: 1.5; 95% CI: 1.02, 2.10), whereas no association was found among Asian women.¹²⁰ Given other studies have observed modification of different individual-level risk factors by nSEP,^{126,127} there is broad agreement that neighborhood-level factors may not affect mothers equally.^{8,128}

Studies have examined the association between neighborhood-level deprivation and birth defects including orofacial clefts, neural tube defects, and conotruncal heart defects, though results are conflicting (Table 2).^{3,6,15,129–131} Among the studies that examined orofacial clefts (OFCs), two UK studies employed the same deprivation index but observed differing results.^{130,131} The authors note that this difference was likely due to differences in sample size given the first study was based on 73 OFC cases¹³¹ and the second study was based on 834 OFC cases.¹³⁰ In addition, one case-control study using data from the Texas Birth Defects Registry observed a modest increase in the risk of OFCs among mothers living in socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods (Q4 vs. Q1 aOR: 1.20; 95% CI: 1.05, 1.37).³ However, results from a California case-control study observed null effects, for both OFCs and conotruncal heart defects.¹⁵ Although both US studies used the same census indicators, differences in study results for OFCs may be due to differences in geographical scales used to define 'neighborhood', such as census tracts versus census blocks. In addition, given the spatial size of census tracts and census blocks may vary in different parts of the US based on the density of the population, this could also lead to differences in study results. Of the three studies that examined neural tube defects (NTD), one study found a positive association with neighborhood deprivation while two studies observed a weak to no association. In the UK, Vrijheid et al. conducted a case-control

study of 107 NTD cases and observed a weak association with increasing neighborhood deprivation, using the Carstairs Deprivation Index (OR: 1.23; 95% CI: 0.63, 2.37).¹³¹ Among the two US studies, Wasserman et al. observed an increased gradient risk of NTDs with increased census-block indicators of nSEP;⁶ whereas, Grewal et al. found no association, using the same indicators as Wasserman et al.¹²⁹ Although both studies used similar methodologies, Grewal et al. hypothesized that the difference in study results was probably due to the timing of data collection in relation to the 1998 mandatory fortification of enriched cereal-grain products with folic acid. Due to this mandate, differences in the occurrence of NTDs likely contributed to the difference in study results.⁷ Lastly, in the UK case-control study Vrijheid et al. conducted, an increased risk of digestive system anomalies was observed among mothers who resided in the most deprived neighborhoods compared with the most affluent. However, in this analysis, digestive system anomalies were not clearly defined, and given this outcome likely consisted of a group of etiologically heterogenous defects, effect estimates may be biased. Furthermore, this analysis was based on a small sample size (n = 44).¹³¹

Overall, although results from these neighborhood-level studies are inconsistent due to differences in study design, indicators/indices used to measure nSEP, and modeling techniques (i.e. single-level vs. multi-level logistic regression models), these studies suggest that nSEP may influence the risk of other birth defects, such as gastroschisis.^{3,6,15,129,132}

Study	Sample size	Measurement of nSEP	Effect estimate
Orofacial clefts (CL± P)			
Vrijheid et al.,2000 ¹³¹	n = 73	Carstairs DeprivationIndex	Deprived vs. affluent aOR: 0.95 (95% CI: 0.44, 2.05)
Clark et al., 2003 ¹³⁰	n = 834	Carstairs DeprivationIndex	Deprived vs. affluent RR: 2.33 (95% CI: 1.23, 4.43)

Table 2. Summary of neighborhood-level studies and birth defects

Carmichael	n = 434	Six census block	1-3 vs. 0 indicators OR: 1.0
et al		indicators: (1) education	(95% CI: 0.8 + 1.4)
2009 ¹⁵ *		(2) poverty (3)	
2007		(2) poverty, (3)	4-6 vs. 0 indicators OR: 0.9
		unemployment, (4)	(95% CI: 0.6, 1.3)
		occupation, (5) rental	
		occupancy, (6) crowding	
Lupo et al.,	n = 2,555	Six census block	Q2 vs. Q1 aOR: 1.12 (95% C1:
20153		indicators: (1) education,	0.99, 1.26)
		(2) poverty, (3)	Q3 vs. Q1 aOR: 1.16 (95% CI:
		unemployment, (4)	1.02, 1.33)
		occupation, (5) rental	Q4 vs. Q1 aOR: 1.20 (95% CI:
		occupancy, (6) crowding	1.05, 1.37)
		Neural Tube Defects	· · · ·
Vrijheid et	n = 107	Carstairs Deprivation	Deprived vs. affluent aOR: 1.23
al., 2000 ¹³¹		Index	(95% CI: 0.63, 2.3)
Wasserman	n = 538	Six census block	1 vs 0 OR · 1 6 (95% CI · 1 0
et al 1998^6	n 000	indicators: (1) education	24)
et u, 1990		(2) poverty (3)	$2 \text{ vs} = 0 \text{ OR} \cdot 1.6 (95\% \text{ CI} \cdot 1.0)$
		unemployment (4)	2 V3. 0 OK. 1.0 (7570 CI. 1.0,
		accupation (5) rontal	2.0)
		occupation, (5) remains	3 VS. 0 OK: 1.9 (95% CI: 1.0,
		occupancy, (6) crowding	3.3)
			4 vs. 0 OR: 2.8 (95% CI: 1.6,
			4.8)
			5 vs. 0 OR: 4.9 (95% CI: 2.1, 11.4)
			6 vs. 0 OR: 18.8 (95% CI: 2.5,
	N. 000	<u> </u>	390.6)
Grewal et al., 2009^{129*}	N = 283	Six census block indicators: (1) education,	1 vs. 0 OR: 1.2 (95% CI: 0.8, 1.8)
		(2) poverty, (3)	2 vs. 0 OR: 1.2 (95% CI: 0.7.
		unemployment, (4)	2.0)
		occupation. (5) rental	3 vs. 0 OR: 1.4 (95% CI: 0.8.
		occupancy. (6) crowding	
			$4 \text{ ys} = 0 \text{ OR} \cdot 0.9 (95\% \text{ CI} \cdot 0.5)$
			1 6)
			$5 = 0 \text{ OD} \cdot 0 0 (05\% \text{ CL} 0.5)$
			5 VS. 0 OK: 0.9 (95% CI: 0.5,
			1.0)
			6 vs. 0 OR: 1.3 (95% CI: 0.5,
			3.0)
Heart defects			
Carmichael	Tetralogy of	S1x census block	1-3 vs. 0 indicators OR: 1.2
et al.,	Fallot $n = 152$	indicators: (1) education,	(95% CI: 0.8, 1.8)
200915*		(2) poverty, (3)	4-6 vs. 0 indicators OR: 0.9
		unemployment, (4)	(95% CI (0.6, 1.5)
	d-	occupation, (5) rental	1-3 vs. 0 indicators OR: 0.9
	Transposition	occupancy, (6) crowding	(95% CI: 0.6, 1.3)

	of the great		4-6 vs. 0 indicators OR: 0.6
	arteries n =		(95% CI (0.4, 1.1)
	125		
Digestive System Anomalies			
Vrijheid et	n = 44	Carstairs Deprivation	Deprived vs. affluent aOR: 3.53
al., 2000 ¹³¹		Index	(95% CI: 1.11, 11.18)

*Only unadjusted results were presented; authors stated adjusted results were not substantially different from unadjusted results

2.4.6 Hypothesized explanatory mechanisms linking nSEP and gastroschisis

It is well known that neighborhoods influence health.¹³⁷ However, the mechanisms linking neighborhood-level characteristics to maternal and fetal health, and more specifically gastroschisis, are unknown. Thus, to aid in hypothesizing mechanisms linking nSEP to gastroschisis, we will consider the theorized pathways linking nSEP to other pregnancy-related outcomes.¹³⁸ These mechanisms have been posited to mediate through psychosocial, biological, and behavioral factors (Figure 3).





First, pregnant women who live in socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods are more likely to experience greater psychosocial stress.^{10,133–135} Exposure to acute and chronic stressors can result in the dysregulation of biological systems (i.e. high allostatic load);¹² increased concentrations of inflammatory markers (i.e. C-reactive proteins and interleukin-6);^{13,136,137} and overall influence major biochemical and immunological pathways^{10–12} that may not only impair the physical and mental well-being of the mother but may also affect embryogenesis and fetal development.¹³⁸ For example, one study observed high levels of interleukin-6 among mothers whose infants had a congenital heart defect compared with their controls;¹³⁹ while other studies observed an increased risk of preterm birth, fetal growth restriction neonatal morbidity, and low birthweight among mothers with high levels of C-reactive protein and interleukin-6.^{13,136–138}

In addition to the independent, stress-inducing biological effects, increased exposure to stressors may influence the adoption of stress-related risky health behaviors as a coping mechanism, such as smoking, alcohol, and illicit drug use. Also, the social influence of fellow neighbors may encourage the adoption of similar behaviors (i.e. behavioral contagion theory).¹⁴⁰ If residents of socioeconomically deprived neighborhoods are less likely to practice a healthy lifestyle, this will likely impact a mother's view on health-promoting behaviors and encourage the adoption of high-risk behaviors seen among fellow neighbors. Furthermore, the availability of goods and services in a neighborhood may function as an "exposure opportunity" for the adoption of risky health behaviors. For example, neighborhoods with greater availability of illicit substances may influence mothers to adopt these behaviors.¹⁴¹

The second way in which mothers adapt to stressful environments may, in part, rely on access to informal resources that are often created through social connections, networking, and relationships amongst fellow residents. In advantaged neighborhoods, mothers may benefit from

other residents who engage in social activities throughout their community. Whether it be through minor tasks to networking with others to gain health-related advice and information, social connections can enhance the overall well-being of a mother and foster resilience to overcome potential stressors. This will mitigate stress-induced biological effects, in addition to, potentially reducing risky health behaviors likely influencing the risk of having a gastroschisisaffected pregnancy.

Third, disadvantaged neighborhoods tend to be resource limited and often have poor quality resources, including health care services, recreational facilities, options for healthy foods, dilapidated housing, and other amenities that inhibit healthy living. For example, maternal health, and subsequently pregnancy outcomes, in lower socioeconomic neighborhoods may be related to the irregularity of prenatal visits needed during pregnancy through the lack of quality healthcare services. In addition, limited access to healthy food resources may inhibit mothers from getting adequate nutrition and prenatal vitamins needed to support a healthy pregnancy.

The last hypothesized mechanism linking nSEP and gastroschisis is through the environmental justice framework. This framework suggests that socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods are often disproportionately located near landfills, superfund sites, hazardous waste facilities, and industries that have polluting facilities that emit harmful substances that may adversely affect individual health and pregnancy outcomes.¹⁴² Studies examining the association between maternal residence near landfills/hazardous waste sites and birth defects, including gastroschisis report conflicting results.^{99,100,143–146} However, it is unclear whether the lack of association found in some studies is due to a true absence of a causal relationship or if it is due to a lack of detailed exposure assessment. Nevertheless, the shared

physical environment may potentially increase the risk of gastroschisis through exposure to harmful substances.

For this dissertation, we hypothesize that nSEP influences the risk of gastroschisis through psychosocial stress-mediated pathways for four reasons: (1) low-nSEP has been shown to influence the amount of stress individuals are exposed to,^{10–12} (2) studies have observed that maternal stress, defined as stressful life events or stressors that have biologic evidence of inducing an inflammatory stress response, is associated with gastroschisis,^{84,85} (3) although stress biomarkers have not been studied in relation to gastroschisis, other studies have found increased concentrations of stress biomarkers to be associated with other adverse pregnancy outcomes,^{13,139} and (4) psychosocial stressors influence the adoption of risky health behaviors,⁸ such as smoking, that have also been found to be associated with gastroschisis.

2.5 Review of the epidemiologic literature and proposed study innovations

To date, only one known study has examined the association between measures of nSEP and gastroschisis. Root et al.³¹ conducted a case-control study in North Carolina (1998 – 2004) of 264 cases of gastroschisis, obtained from the North Carolina Birth Defects Monitoring Program (NCBDMP), and 12,488 controls, randomly selected from the North Carolina Composite Linked Birth File. Five SEP indicators were used to estimate nSEP including the: percent of residents living below 100% and 200% of the federal poverty level, percent of residents with less than a high school education, percent of residents unemployed, and percent of residents reporting African American race. Residential address at delivery was used to define maternal neighborhood using six geographical sizes: 2000, 2500, 3000, 3500 m radius, census tracts, and census blocks. However, results were only reported for neighborhood sizes of 2500 and 3000 m radius. Multilevel models were conducted to estimate odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals. Additionally, a cross-level interaction between Medicaid status and neighborhood poverty was assessed to examine if the association between nSEP and gastroschisis is modified by iSEP.

The study found that neighborhoods high in poverty and unemployment were associated with an increased odds of gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age, race/ethnicity, parity, smoking, and Medicaid status. Specifically, for neighborhoods with a 2500m and 3000m circular radius, mothers residing in the 3rd quartile of poverty (30-40% of residents living below the 200% federal poverty level) were nearly two times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with mothers residing in the 1stquartile [(2500m aOR: 1.85; 95% CI: 1.19, 2.83); (3000m aOR: 1.79; 95% CI: 1.18, 2.80)]. Similarly, a two-fold increase in the risk of gastroschisis was observed among mothers residing in the 3rd quartile [(2500m aOR: 1.85; 95% CI: 1.61; 95% CI: 1.08, 2.44); (3000m aOR: 1.89; 95% CI: 1.25, 2.94)]. Although increased odds of gastroschisis were also seen among women living in neighborhoods in the 4th quartile of poverty [(2500m aOR: 1.15; 95% CI: 0.73, 1.88); (3000maOR: 1.20; 95% CI: 0.76, 1.95)] and unemployment [(2500m aOR: 1.27; 95% CI: 0.82, 1.98); (3000m aOR: 1.50; 95% CI: 0.96, 2.39)], the strength of association decreased.³¹

Results of the cross-level interaction between Medicaid status and neighborhood poverty showed that Medicaid mothers in high-poverty neighborhoods had the highest risk of having an infant with gastroschisis, compared with non-Medicaid mothers in low-poverty neighborhoods (aOR; 2.45; 95% CI: 1.57, 3.91). However, the risk of gastroschisis did not differ between low poverty/Medicaid, high poverty/non-Medicaid, and high poverty/Medicaid mothers relative to

low poverty/non-Medicaid mothers.³¹ Although a synergistic effect was not observed between iSEP and nSEP, the use of a single indicator to measure iSEP likely resulted in residual confounding.

Overall, the study observed an association between nSEP and gastroschisis. However, limitations of the study prompt the need for additional studies to address and expand upon these issues.

The first limitation of Root et al.'s study is the small sample size of 264 cases of gastroschisis and the limited generalizability of study results. Although this birth defect is relatively rare, a small sample size will reduce the study's statistical power to adequately detect a true association. In addition, given this study only utilized data from one state (NC), between 1998 and 2004, this will also limit the generalizability of study results. By leveraging NBDPS data, our study will include a larger sample size of gastroschisis cases which will allow our analysis to be better powered and provide more precise estimates. In addition, given our study will utilize 14 years of data, our study will be more temporally inclusive which will provide more generalizability to other time periods. Moreover, by incorporating data from nine US states, our study will include a larger variety of neighborhoods that are not only geospatially diverse but likely demographically diverse, further enhancing the generalizability of study results.

The potential for exposure misclassification is the second limitation. Maternal neighborhood was defined based on geocoded maternal addresses at delivery. Considering the critical window of gastroschisis development is approximately between the $8^{th} - 11^{th}$ gestational week^{58,59}, use of residential addresses during delivery may lead to exposure misclassification. Although residential mobility has not been shown to be extensive during pregnancy, with approximately 25-30% of pregnant mothers moving within short distances^{147,148}; there are iSEP-

driven disparities that are obscured by the overall trends. Studies have reported higher mobility rates for mothers who are young and White¹⁴⁹; less educated¹⁵⁰; have lower household incomes¹⁴⁷; and have a higher pre-pregnancy BMI¹⁵¹. Given these disparities, using maternal addresses at delivery as a proxy for nSEP during the critical period of gastroschisis development may be subject to exposure misclassification. Our analysis will define maternal neighborhoods as the census tract corresponding to self-reported addresses during the periconceptional period, defined as one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy. If multiple addresses were reported, we will use the address lived at the longest because neighborhood impact will be the most significant for a longer duration. This will ensure the exposure occurs during the appropriate etiologic window for gastroschisis and reduce the potential for exposure misclassification.

Lastly, the third limitation of the study is residual confounding by iSEP. While this bias is likely present in most epidemiologic studies, Root et al. only used one indicator, Medicaid status, to measure iSEP. Without including additional measures of iSEP, the contextual effect of nSEP may be inappropriately confounded by iSEP characteristics that were not accounted for. Our analysis will include different and additional measures of iSEP, including maternal education and household income. Although we do not claim to have "controlled" for iSEP, it is plausible that the use of additional iSEP measures will reduce the effects of residual confounding.

Overall, this dissertation will improve upon the limitations of the previous study in the following ways: (1) use of a larger sample of gastroschisis cases spanning a national geographical range, (2) maternal neighborhoods defined based on geocoded addresses around conception to reduce exposure misclassification, and (3) the inclusion of additional measures of

iSEP to reduce residual confounding. Moreover, we will meaningfully expand upon the previous study by not only investigating the associations between single SEP indicators and gastroschisis, but also examine the relationship between overall nSEP, using two composite neighborhood-level indices, and gastroschisis.

CHAPTER 3: STUDY DESIGN AND METHODS

3.1 Study overview

The objective of this dissertation is to explore the potential influence of contextual risk factors for gastroschisis using data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS). In Specific Aim 1, we will examine the overall association between nSEP during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis, using two composite neighborhood-level indices to characterize nSEP. In Specific Aim 2, we will examine whether the associations between young maternal age at conception, pre-pregnany BMI, and gastroschisis differ by nSEP. For both aims, the study design, study population, and characterization for nSEP will be the same.

3.2 Study design and study population

The National Birth Defects Prevention Study is a population-based, multi-center casecontrol study designed to examine potential risk factors for over 30 individual types of major structural birth defects. Pregnancies ending between October 1, 1997, to December 31, 2011, were eligible to participate from ten participating centers in the following states: Arkansas (AR), California (CA), Georgia (GA), Iowa (IA), Massachusetts (MA), North Carolina (NC), New York (NY), New Jersey (NJ), Texas (TX), and Utah (UT).

3.2.1 Case and control ascertainment

Eligible cases included livebirths, stillbirths (≥ 20 weeks' gestation), and terminations with at least one eligible birth defect. Cases were ascertained through each participating center's

birth defects surveillance registry from selected counties (CA, GA, MA, NC, NY, TX) or the entire state (AR, IA, NJ, UT) (Figure 4). Controls were live born infants without a major birth defect and were randomly selected in proportion to the number of births in the same month of the prior year using birth certificates or hospital records from the same study geographic catchment area as the cases.¹⁵² The selection of controls in the NBDPS has been shown to be generally representative of the source population that gave rise to the cases.¹⁵³



Figure 4. NBDPS catchment areas¹⁵²

All eligible mothers were sent an introductory packet and invited to participate in the study. Mothers that provided an informed consent were asked to complete a computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) within 6 weeks to 24 months after the estimated date of delivery.

Over the 14-year study period, 67% and 65% of eligible cases and controls, respectively, consented and participated in the interview. The interview collected information on a variety of factors including demographics; medical and pregnancy history; residentially history; diet; physical activity; nutrition; and lifestyle factors.

3.2.2 Case classification

All NBDPS cases were verified by clinical geneticists using information abstracted from medical records and a standardized, study-wide classification protocol. Cases were classified as 'isolated' (vs. non-isolated) if there was a single major birth defect or co-occurring defects that are anatomically related or pathogenetically similar.¹⁶⁰ In addition, cases with known etiologies, such as single-gene conditions or chromosomal abnormalities, were excluded. Case classification was standardized across all participating centers.

3.2.3. NBDPS and US Census/American Community Survey linkage

As part of the NBDPS interview, mothers were asked to self-report all residential addresses they lived at for at least 30 days between three months prior to pregnancy to the end of pregnancy. Residential addresses from each participating center, except New Jersey, were geocoded by the Geospatial Research, Analysis, and Services Program (GRASP) of the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry (ATSDR) at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), using Centrus version 6.00.00N and linked to the 2000 and 2010 US Census Tracts using ArcGIS. Dates of occupancy at each address were recorded. Residential addresses were successfully geocoded for 97% of all NBDPS participants. NBDPS data were linked to the US Decennial Census and the 5-year American Community Survey (ACS), by Federal

Information Processing Standards (FIPS) codes and infant birth year, to obtain census-tract level SEP information. Specifically, infants born between 1997-2004, 2005-2009, and 2010-2011 were linked to the 2000 U.S. Decennial Census, 2005-2009 ACS, and 2010-2014 ACS, respectively. The US Decennial Census occurs every 10 years and accounts for every resident in the US;¹⁵⁴whereas, the ACS, which began in 2005, is conducted yearly and is based on a sample of the overall US population.¹⁵⁵

3.2.4 Study population

The study population for both aims of this dissertation will include all eligible singleton cases of gastroschisis (British Pediatric Association (BPA) modification of the International Classification of Diseases, 9th revision (ICD-9): 756.710) and controls enrolled in the NBDPS between 1997 and 2011. Isolated and non-isolated cases of gastroschisis are included in this study since isolated cases make up the majority of cases and because previous studies observed that the distribution of risk factors are similar between both isolated and non-isolated cases. The participation rates for eligible case and control mothers, for this dissertation, is 65% and 64%, respectively.

Per NBDPS protocol, mothers of case and control infants were excluded if they previously participated in the study with a prior pregnancy, were unable to complete the interview in English or Spanish, were incarcerated, or did not have legal custody of their child at the time of the interview.³⁵ In addition to the NBDPS exclusion criteria, for this analysis, participants were excluded if they (1) were missing geocoded addresses during the periconceptional period, defined as one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy, (2) reported more than one address during the periconceptional period with the same

length of stay since it was unclear which address would have a greater impact on the risk of gastroschisis, and (3) reported only one address during the periconceptional period with a length of stay of fewer than 30 days (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for study population

3.3 Characterization of neighborhood-level socioeconomic position

3.3.1 Maternal neighborhood

For this analysis, maternal neighborhood will be geographically defined as the census tract corresponding to the longest address lived at during the periconceptional period, defined as one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy. According to the US Census Bureau, census tracts are statistical subdivisions of counties with approximately 4,000 individuals. The spatial size of a census tract varies based on the population density of the area.¹⁵⁶ Census tracts were designed to be fairly homogenous in regards to the living condition, population characteristics, and social and economic factors.¹⁶⁴ In addition, differences between census tract and block group area-level socioeconomic measures have been shown to be relatively small;^{157,158} and, compared with other geographical units (i.e. ZIP-code level areas), census tracts have detected stronger socioeconomic gradients while maintaining the fairly homogenous contextual factors within each census tract.¹⁵⁸ Prior studies that have assessed neighborhood effects on pregnancy outcomes have employed census tracts as their geographical unit to define 'neighborhood'.^{3,15,159} Moreover, use of neighborhood-level socioeconomic measures at the census-tract level have been shown to be meaningfully useful in relation to birth outcomes.¹⁵⁸ Thus, for these reasons, we will use census tracts to proxy maternal neighborhoods.

3.3.2 Neighborhood-level indices

For this dissertation, nSEP is defined as the social and economic contextual factors that reflect the distribution of a neighborhood's physical, social, and service characteristics that influence the health and well-being of an individual's lived experience above and beyond individual-level characteristics.^{1,2} We will characterize nSEP using two methods: (1) the

Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) developed by Messer et al. and (2) the Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index we create based on seventeen socioeconomic indicators.

3.3.2.1 Neighborhood Deprivation Index

The NDI, developed by Messer et al.¹¹⁵, is a measure of nSEP that has been widely used in previous epidemiologic studies to examine the associations between neighborhood-level factors and birth outcomes, including low birth weight, preterm birth, and small-for-gestational age.^{1,120,160} The NDI represents five socioeconomic domains (income/poverty, occupation, housing, employment, and education) and is comprised of eight census-tract level indicators including: percent of males in management and professional occupations, percent of crowded housing, percent of households in poverty, percent of female-headed households with dependents, percent of households on public assistance, percent of households earning less than \$30,000 per year, percent earning less than a high school education, and percent unemployed (Table 3). The index was created based on data between 1995 and 2001 from eight study areas that represented three urban centers (Philadelphia, PA; Baltimore City, Maryland; and 16 pooled cities in Michigan) and five racially heterogenous counties (three Maryland counties near Washington D.C. and Baltimore, MD; and two in North Carolina). Census-tract level data from the 2000 U.S. Census was used to develop this deprivation index.

To construct the NDI for our study population, we will follow the methods outlined by Messer et al.¹¹⁵ Census-tract level data from all nine NBDPS participating centers will be pooled and the data reduction technique, principal component analysis (PCA), will be performed. The first principal component will be retained because it accounts for the largest proportion of the total variation among the component measures. The component loadings represent the

correlation between each SEP indicator and the principal component. Using the loadings, we will weight each SEP indicator to create a continuous index score for each census tract. The index will be standardized to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1, with low scores indicating less deprivation (or high SEP) and high scores indicating greater deprivation (or low SEP). The NDI will then be linked to NBDPS participants and categorized into tertiles based on the distribution among controls, to examine a potential gradient in the risk of gastroschisis. Tertiles will represent low (reference), moderate, and high neighborhood deprivation.

This index will be used for four reasons: (1) it was specifically developed to assess the relationship between neighborhood deprivation and birth outcomes, (2) it employs the same geographical unit as our proposed study (i.e., census tract), (3) it has previously been used in a number of studies examining adverse pregnancy outcomes, and (4) it will allow our study results to be comparable to other neighborhood-pregnancy related studies that have used the same nSEP characterization.

However, there are limitations to using a standardized index, such as the NDI. Although convenient, using a standardized index may not be applicable over time, across different study populations, or span various geographical regions. Specifically, the NDI was developed based on data from birth years between 1998 and 2001 using a non-nationally representative sample based on four states in the eastern region of the US. Given our study will use data from birth years between 1997 and 2011 from nine states spanning the US, use of this NDI may not apply to our specific study time period and population. Due to these limitations, we will characterize nSEP using a second method, the Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index.

3.3.2.2 Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

Studies have suggested that socioeconomic position, both at the individual and neighborhood level, should be measured with as much relevant information as possible. In addition, although socioeconomic indicators are often correlated, studies have shown that they are generally not strong enough to be proxies for one another. Thus, to characterize this multidimensional construct, we will create a second index, the Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI), using the same methods as the NDI. The nSEPI will represent the same five socioeconomic domains (income/poverty, occupation, housing, employment, and education) but will include additional socioeconomic indicators, in particular measures of socioeconomic advantage, to provide a richer representation of each domain.

The nSEPI will be comprised of the same eight indicators in the NDI plus nine additional indicators including the: percent of residents with a bachelor's degree or higher; percent of employed residents who are nature, construction, or transportation workers; percent of employed residents who reported being an unpaid family worker or self-employed; median household income; percent of owner-occupied homes with values greater than \$300,000; percent of owner-occupied homes with a mortgage and monthly owner costs of 30% or more of household income; percent of owner-occupied homes without a mortgage and monthly owner costs of 30% or more of household income; percent of renter-occupied units among total occupied housing units; and percent of renter-occupied units with a monthly rent that costs 30% or more of household income (Table 3). The same data reduction technique that was used to construct the NDI (i.e. PCA) will be conducted to create the nSEPI. The nSEPI will be similarly be categorized into tertiles to represent high (reference), moderate, and low nSEP.

Table 3. Description of census indicators used to create the Neighborhood Deprivation Index

 and Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

Socioeconomic	Census indicator	Description
domain		
Education	% Low education ^{a.b}	% Residents whose highest education level
		at the age of 25 is less than high school
	% High	% Residents whose highest education level
	education ^b	at the age of 25 is a bachelor's degree or higher
Housing	% Crowding ^{a.b}	% Housing units with > 1 occupant per room
Employment	% Unemployed ^{a.b}	% Residents unemployed
Occupation	% Males in	% Males in professional and management
-	Management ^{a.b}	occupations
	% Manual occupation ^b	% Employed civilian population ≥ 16 years
	-	who are nature, construction, or transportation
		workers
	% Workers class ^b	% Employed civilian population \geq 16 years who report
		being an unpaid family worker or self-employed
Poverty/Income	% Female house ^{a.b}	% Female headed households with dependents
	% Public assistance ^{a.b}	% Households on public assistance
	% Income below 30 ^{a.b}	% Households earning less than \$30,000 per year
	% Poverty ^{a.b}	% Residents with an income to poverty ratio <1
	Median income ^b	Median household income
	% Wealth ^b	% Owner-occupied homes with values of
		≥ \$300,000
	% Affordable housing	% Owner-occupied homes with a monthly
	with mortgage ^b	mortgage that costs $\geq 30\%$ of household income
	% Affordable housing	% Owner-occupied homes without a monthly
	with no mortgage ^b	mortgage that costs $\geq 30\%$ of household income
	% Renters occupancy ^b	% Renter-occupied units among total occupied
		housing units
	% Renters affordable	% Renter-occupied units with a monthly rent that
	housing ^b	costs \geq 30% of household income

^aCensus indicators used to construct the Neighborhood Deprivation Index

^bCensus indicators used to construct the Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

3.4 Methodology for Specific Aim 1

For this aim, the study design, study population, and characterization of nSEP described

in Section 3.2 and 3.3, respectively, will be used to examine the overall association between

nSEP during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis. The exposure of interest is nSEP,

characterized by the NDI and nSEPI, and the outcome of interest is gastroschisis.

3.4.1 Covariate selection

All covariate information will be abstracted from the NBDPS maternal interview. For this analysis, potential confounders were identified *a priori* using existing literature and a directed acyclic graph (DAG; Figure 6).¹⁶¹ Table 4 presents all covariates identified in the minimally sufficient adjustment set and the specification of each covariate. In addition, for this dissertation, race/ethnicity is conceptualized as a socially-constructed classification system created to order individuals within society based on phenotypic characteristics (i.e., skin complexion, hair texture, eye shape, and etc.). Given this country's long history of perceiving minorities as inferior, this classification system governs the opportunities and risks individuals are exposed to in our race-conscious society and is deeply entwined with residential and socioeconomic segregation.



Figure 6. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between nSEP and gastroschisis

Covariate	Specification
Maternal race/ethnicity	Non-Hispanic Black
	Non-Hispanic White
	Hispanic
	Other
Infant birth year	1997 - 2004
	2005 - 2009
	2010-2011
Maternal education (years)	0-11
	12
	> 12
Household income (\$USD)	<\$10,000
	\$10,000 - \$50,000
	> \$50,000
Duration of residency	Continuous

Table 4. Covariates and specification of each covariate for Specific Aim 1

3.4.2 Data analysis

3.4.2.1. Missing data

Multiple imputation with fully conditional specification will be used to account for missing data, assuming data are missing at random. This process will be carried out in three steps: (1) imputation for ten cycles, (2) analysis within each dataset, and (3) combination of results using *proc mianalayze* in SAS¹⁶².

For this aim, maternal education and household income are missing for 9% and 2%, respectively, among eligible study participants. In addition, the range of missingness for census-tract SEP indicators is 0.01% - 0.29%. The imputation model will include the outcome (gastroschisis), auxiliary variables associated with missing data (maternal age at conception and employment status), and variables in the analytic model (all census SEP indicators, maternal race/ethnicity, birth year, education, household income, and duration of residence). In addition, we will compare the results from the multiple imputation analysis to the complete case analysis (Supplementary Table 1a and 1b).

3.4.2.2 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics for all covariates will be examined using median (interquartile range) or frequencies (relative frequencies) based on the type and distribution of the variable. Generalized estimating equations (GEEs) with logistic links and robust errors will be used to calculate odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). GEEs account for potential correlation and non-independence among mothers clustered within the same neighborhood. We will examine the association between individual SEP indicators and gastroschisis. In addition, using the NDI and nSEPI, we will investigate the overall association between nSEP during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis. Two separate models will be conducted for each association examined: (1) unadjusted and (2) adjusted for the covariates identified in the minimally sufficient adjustment set. Furthermore, we will conduct a Spearman Correlation test to examine the correlation between the two neighborhood-level indices. All analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA)

3.4.2.3 Power calculations

Minimum detectable odds ratios were calculated assuming a fixed sample size of 1,200 cases of gastroschisis, with a 1:8 case:control ratio, using PS Power and Sample Size software.¹⁶³ All effect estimate calculations assume a two-sided hypothesis test with a type 1 error rate of 5% and power of 80%. Table 5 presents the minimum detectable odds ratios for varying prevalence of exposure to low nSEP among controls. At minimum, we will have sufficient power to detect small to moderate effect estimates (OR range: 1.19 - 1.43). Furthermore, given we plan to categorize the SEP indicators and nSEP indices into tertiles, we should have adequate power ($\beta = 80\%$) to detect ORs of approximately 0.83 to 1.196 at exposure frequencies of 33%, based on the

distribution of controls.

Exposure prevalence	Minimum detectable ORs
5%	1.426
10%	1.306
25%	1.212
35%	1.194
50%	1.188

Table 5. Minimum detectable odds ratios for Specific Aim 1

OR: Odds Ratio

3.5 Methodology for Specific Aim 2

In Specific Aim 2, we will examine whether the associations between maternal age at conception, pre-pregnancy BMI, and gastroschisis, differ by nSEP. Similar to Specific Aim 1, this aim will use the same study design, study population, and characterization of nSEP described in Section 3.2 and 3.3, respectively.

3.5.1 Exposure assessment

The exposures of interest for Specific Aim 2 are maternal age at conception and prepregnancy BMI. Data were obtained from the NBDPS interview. Maternal age at conception will be dichotomized at 20 years (<20 vs. \geq 20 years (reference)) since epidemiologic studies have identified that the risk of gastroschisis changes at this age.^{65,84,164} In addition, maternal prepregnancy BMI was calculated using self-reported weight and height and categorized into three groups, representing underweight (<18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (18.5-24.9 kg/m²), and overweight/obese (\geq 25.0 kg/m²; reference). Overweight and obese categories were combined and used as the reference because studies have shown that overweight and obese mothers have similar reduced risks of gastroschisis.⁵⁶

3.5.2 Covariate selection

Similar to Aim 1, all covariate information will be abstracted from the NBDPS maternal interview. Two directed acyclic graphs (DAGs) were created to identify minimally sufficient adjustment sets for the associations between (1) maternal age at conception and gastroschisis (Figure 7) and (2) maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis (Figure 8). Table 6 presents all covariates identified in the minimally sufficient adjustment sets for each association and the specification of each covariate.

Figure 7. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis



Figure 8. Directed Acyclic Graph (DAG) for the association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis



Maternal age at conception and gastroschisis			
Maternal education (years)	0-11		
	12		
	> 12		
Household income (\$USD)	<\$10,000		
	\$10,000 - \$50,000		
	> \$50,000		
Maternal pre-pregnanc	y BMI and gastroschisis		
Maternal education (years)	0-11		
	12		
	> 12		
Household income (\$USD)	<\$10,000		
	\$10,000 - \$50,000		
	> \$50,000		
Smoking ^a	Yes (any)		
	No		
Recreational drug use ^a	Yes (any)		
	No		
Alcohol ^a	Yes (any)		
	No		
Maternal age at conception	Quadratic term		

Table 6. Covariates and specification of each covariate for Specific Aim 2

BMI: Body Mass Index; USD: US Dollars

^aSelf-reported use between one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy

3.5.3 Data analysis

3.5.3.1. Missing data

To account for missing data, multiple imputation with fully conditional specification will be used to impute missing values for the following variables, assuming data are missing at random: household income (9%), pre-pregnancy BMI (3.8%), education (2%) alcohol use (2%), substance use (1.8%), smoking (1.7%), and census-tract SEP indicators (0.01% missing). Data will be imputed for 10 imputation cycles and the process will include: imputation, analysis, and combination of results, similar to Specific Aim 1 (see Section 3.4.2.1). The imputation model will include the outcome (gastroschisis), auxiliary variables associated with missing data (employment status), and variables in the analytic model (all census SEP indicators, maternal education, household income, BMI, smoking, alcohols use, and substance use).

3.5.3.2 Statistical analysis

Descriptive analysis will be conducted to examine the distribution of data using median (interquartile range) or frequencies (relative frequencies), depending on the type of variable. We will use GEEs with logistic links and robust errors to estimate ORs and 95% CIs. The use of GEEs will account for potential correlation and non-independence among mothers residing in the same neighborhood. To assess potential effect measure modification by nSEP, we will compare OR estimates within strata of nSEP to see if there are any observable differences in the magnitude of associations by levels of nSEP. Effect measure modification will be evaluated on the additive scale due to its relevance for public health purposes. The additive scale is recommended to indicate whether the effect of a risk factor is greater in a specific sub-population to help target potential interventions and resource allocations. Thus, we will calculate the relative excess risk due to interaction (RERI) with 95% CIs based on standard errors obtained using the delta method.¹⁶⁵ All models will be adjusted for the covariates identified in the minimally sufficient adjustments, corresponding to the association of interest. All analyses will be conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA)

3.5.3.3 Power calculations

To detect statistically significant odds ratios for the associations between maternal age at conception, pre-pregnancy BMI, and gastroschisis, we will calculate statistical power using a fixed sample size of 1,200 cases of gastroschisis, with a 1:8 case:control ratio, using the QUANTO software (<u>https://quanto.software.informer.com/1.2/</u>). The power calculations for both associations will assume 33% of mothers reside in low nSEP, an estimate OR of 1.2 for the association between nSEP and gastroschisis, a two-sided hypothesis test with a type 1 error rate

of 5%, and a baseline gastroschisis prevalence of 5 per $10,000^{18}$.

For the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis, we will assume an exposure prevalence of 15% and an estimated OR of 7.0 for the association between young maternal age (< 20 years) and gastroschisis⁶⁵. For the association between maternal prepregnancy BMI and gastroschisis, we will assume an exposure prevalence of 5% and an estimated OR of 3.0 for the association between low pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis. Power calculation results are presented in Table 7.

Detectable OR	Maternal age at conception	Pre-pregnancy BMI
1.3	0.4323	0.4123
1.5	0.7649	0.7708
1.7	0.9262	0.9437
1.9	0.9797	0.9902

 Table 7. Statistical power for Specific Aim 2

OR: Odds Ratio; BMI: Body Mass Index
CHAPTER 4: NEIGHBORHOOD-LEVEL SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION DURING EARLY PREGNANCY AND THE RISK OF GASTROSCHISIS

4.1 Introduction

Pregnant women residing in low socioeconomic neighborhoods are at higher risk of experiencing adverse pregnancy outcomes.^{1,166,167} Neighborhood contextual factors encompass various physical, social, and service characteristics, such as ambient pollutants, levels of social cohesion, and access to goods and services, respectively. The combination of adverse conditions in these contextual factors is often correlated with the neighborhood's socioeconomic position (nSEP) and is hypothesized to influence maternal health through psychosocial, behavioral, and biologic mechanisms.^{103,104} Exploratory etiologic studies have reported modest associations between measures of nSEP and birth outcomes, including preterm birth,^{1,167} low birth weight,¹⁴ neural tube defects,⁶ and more recently, orofacial clefts,¹⁶⁸ and conotruncal heart defects,^{15,159} after accounting for individual-level SEP (iSEP). However, few studies have examined this association with gastroschisis.³¹

Gastroschisis is an abdominal birth defect characterized by the herniation of intestines and sometimes other abdominal organs outside the fetal body.^{18,19} In the United States, the gastroschisis prevalence increased from $3.6 (1995 - 2005)^{18}$ to $4.3 (2012-2016)^{19}$ cases per 10,000 livebirths, suggesting that environmental factors may have an etiologic role in the development of this birth defect. Gastroschisis disproportionately affects infants of mothers who are young (<20 years),^{20,22,164} have low body mass index (BMI),^{24–27} smoke,¹⁶⁴ and are of non-Hispanic White and Hispanic race/ethnicity.^{21,74,164} Despite these findings, the etiology remains

unknown. Proposed underlying mechanisms include rupture of the amnion due to unidentified teratogens during normal physiologic hernia^{58,59} and the disruption of inflammatory pathways.^{83,85} Identifying neighborhood-level factors that may influence teratogenic exposures or induce an inflammatory response, such as psychosocial stress related to neighborhood deprivation, may provide further insight into the etiology of gastroschisis.

To our knowledge, only one study, using data from North Carolina (1998 – 2004), investigated the relationship between contextual factors and gastroschisis. The study reported a slight increase in the risk of gastroschisis associated with residing in areas characterized by high poverty and unemployment, after adjustment for maternal age, race/ethnicity, smoking, and Medicaid status; however, estimates were imprecise.³¹ Our analysis expands this study by including a larger sample of gastroschisis cases spanning a wider geographical area, use of composite neighborhood indices, maternal neighborhoods based on addresses around conception, and the inclusion of additional measures of iSEP.

Neighborhoods may influence known risk factors of gastroschisis through shaping health behaviors, access to resources, and individual opportunities. The association between these risk factors and gastroschisis may, in part, be explained by neighborhood-level factors. Thus, the purpose of this study is to examine the overall association between neighborhood-level socioeconomic position during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis.

4.2 Materials and methods

Study population

We analyzed data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS). Details about the NBDPS have been described previously.¹⁵² Briefly, the NBDPS is a large, multi-center

case-control study sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) to examine potential risk factors of major structural birth defects, including gastroschisis. Eligible pregnancies between 1997 and 2011 were included from ten participating centers in the following states: Arkansas, California, Georgia, Iowa, Massachusetts, North Carolina, New York, New Jersey, Texas, and Utah. However, in this analysis, New Jersey participants were excluded since geocoded addresses were not available from this center. The NBDPS was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the CDC and at each participating center.

Liveborn, stillborn, or terminated pregnancies with a diagnosis of gastroschisis (cases) (British Pediatric Association (BPA) modification of the International Classification of Diseases, 9th revision (ICD-9): 756.710) were ascertained through surveillance registries from selected counties (CA, GA, MA, NC, NY, TX) or the entire state (AR, IA, UT). Cases were verified by clinical geneticists and classified as isolated (vs. non-isolated) if gastroschisis was the only major defect or if it occurred with another developmentally related defect.^{152,169} In this analysis, isolated (90.7%) and non-isolated (9.3%) singleton cases were included. Singleton liveborn infants without a birth defect (controls) were randomly sampled using birth certificates or hospital records from the same geographic catchment area and time period as the cases. Mothers were invited to participate in a computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) between 6 weeks and 24 months after their estimated date of delivery. Approximately 65% of case mothers and 65% of control mothers participated in the interview. Mothers were asked to report information on a variety of exposures and lifestyle factors, including their residential history.

Geocoding addresses and linkage to U.S. census-tract socioeconomic indicators

During the interview, mothers self-reported all residential addresses where they lived for at least 30 days between the three months before pregnancy to the end of pregnancy. Address(es) were successfully geocoded by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry's Geospatial Research, Analysis, and Services Program using the Centrus software version 6.00.00N for 97% of NBDPS participants and subsequently linked by the CDC to the 2000 and 2010 U.S. Census Tracts using ArcGIS. Census-tract level data from the 2000 US Census and 5year American Community Survey (ACS) were linked to maternal addresses by Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) codes and infant birth year.

Maternal periconceptional neighborhood

We defined "maternal neighborhood" as the census tract corresponding to each participant's self-reported address during the periconceptional period of her pregnancy (i.e., one month before conception to the third month of pregnancy) to ensure nSEP is captured during the critical period of gastroschisis development (i.e., $8^{th} - 11^{th}$ gestational week⁵⁸). If multiple addresses were reported for that period, we selected the address with the longest duration. Participants were excluded if they (1) reported multiple addresses during the periconceptional period with the same duration since it was unclear which address would have a larger influence on the risk of gastroschisis or (2) reported only one address with a duration of < 30 days (Figure 5).

Among all 12,243 NBDPS gastroschisis cases and controls with at least one geocoded address, we assigned a periconceptional address as described above to 97% (n=11,838). Overall, \sim 6% of cases and controls were excluded due to missing geocoded addresses during the

periconceptional period. Geocoding at the census tract level for maternal neighborhoods was successful for 93% of cases and 94% of controls. 6,315 census tracts were represented in our study sample.

Neighborhood Deprivation Index

To characterize nSEP, two indices were used: the neighborhood deprivation index (NDI) developed by Messer et al.¹¹⁵ and the neighborhood socioeconomic position index (nSEPI) we created using additional census indicators.

Detailed methods used to create the NDI are described elsewhere.¹¹⁵ In brief, eight census-tract level indicators representing five socioeconomic domains (income/poverty, occupation, housing, employment, and education) were selected to construct this index: percent of crowded housing, percent of males in management and professional occupations, percent of households in poverty, percent of households on public assistance, percent of female-headed households with dependents, percent of unemployed residents, percent of households earning < \$30,000 per year, and percent of residents with less than a high school education (Table 3).

All census-tract level indicators were pooled across our study sample and principal component analysis (PCA) was performed. The first principal component was retained because it accounted for the largest proportion of the total variation among the component measures,¹¹⁵ and the component loadings were used to weight each census variable's contribution to the index score. The index was standardized to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1 (Figure 9, Range: -1.7, 5.6), with low scores indicating less deprivation and high scores indicating greater deprivation. The NDI was linked to NBDPS participants and categorized into tertiles (low

[reference], moderate, and high neighborhood deprivation) based on the distribution among controls, to examine a potential gradient in the risk of gastroschisis.

Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

Socioeconomic position, both at the individual and neighborhood level, is a multidimensional construct that should be measured with as many indicators as possible to reflect each socioeconomic domain.¹¹² Although socioeconomic indicators are correlated, they are generally not strong enough to be proxies for one another.¹¹² Thus, the nSEPI includes additional indicators, in particular, measures of socioeconomic advantage, to provide a richer representation of each socioeconomic domain.

The nSEPI is composed of the eight single-census indicators in the NDI and nine additional indicators: percent of residents with a bachelor's degree or higher; percent of employed residents who are nature, construction, or transportation workers; percent of employed residents who reported being an unpaid family worker or self-employed; median household income; percent of owner-occupied homes with values greater than \$300,000; percent of owneroccupied homes with a mortgage and monthly owner costs of 30% or more of household income; percent of owner-occupied homes without a mortgage and monthly owner costs of 30% or more of household income; percent of renter-occupied units among total occupied housing units and percent of renter-occupied units with a monthly rent that costs 30% or more of household income (Table 3). The nSEPI was constructed following the same methods as the NDI (Figure 9, Range: -3.0, 4.3), with low scores indicating high nSEP and high scores indicating low nSEP. Tertiles represent high (reference), moderate and low nSEP.





Individual-level covariates

Individual-level variables were obtained from the NBDPS interview. Potential confounders were selected *a priori* using a directed acyclic graph (DAG)¹⁶¹ (Figure 6) and included infant birth year (1997-2004, 2005-2009, 2010-2011); iSEP measured by maternal years of education (0-11, 12, > 12 years) and household income (<\$10,000, \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000); self-identified maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, and Other); and duration of residency (continuous). Race/ethnicity is conceptualized as a socially-constructed classification system, based on phenotypic characteristics. This system often governs the opportunities and risks individuals are exposed to and is deeply entwined with residential and socioeconomic segregation. Additional descriptive variables that are included but not in the covariate adjustment set are in Table 8.

Statistical analysis

Multiple imputation with fully conditional specification was used to account for missing data, including household income (9% missing), maternal education (2% missing), and census-

tract SEP indicators (0.01% - 0.29% missing), assuming data were missing at random. Ten imputation cycles were conducted. PCA and generalized estimating equations (GEEs) were conducted on each imputation dataset and results were pooled using the *proc mianalyze* procedure in SAS.¹⁶²

Generalized estimating equations (GEEs) with logistic links and robust errors were used to estimate crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). The use of GEEs accounted for potential correlation and non-independence of outcomes among mothers clustered within the same neighborhood. We first modeled single-tract-level nSEP indicators on gastroschisis to explore the association between specific aspects of nSEP and gastroschisis, adjusting for the individual-level covariates identified above. Additionally, we examined the association between two neighborhood-level indices (NDI and nSEPI) and gastroschisis. Estimates were adjusted for covariates identified in the DAG. The correlation between the two neighborhood-level indices was examined using Spearman correlations. All analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

4.3 Results

Study population description

We analyzed data from 11,486 NBDPS participants, including 1,269 gastroschisis infants and 10,217 controls. Compared with control mothers, case mothers were more likely to be young (< 25 years), nulliparous, Hispanic, have a BMI < 25 kg/m², smoke, use recreational drugs, have a household income of < \$10,000, and have \leq 12 years of education. The average total duration of residency was approximately three years, with case mothers having a shorter mean length of stay (~2.6 years) relative to control mothers (~3.5 years) (Table 8). Case mothers (45-46%) were also more likely to reside in higher deprivation areas compared to control mothers (33%) (Table 9).

The neighborhood-level indices were highly correlated (r = 0.99). The first principal component of the NDI and nSEPI explained about 57% and 41% of the total variability among the component measures, respectively. The top three indicators that were strongly correlated with the first principal component of both indices were low education, households earning < \$30,000 per year, and poverty (Table 10).

Single census-tract socioeconomic indicators

Mothers residing in areas characterized by adverse census indicators, such as high unemployment, had a higher unadjusted risk of having an infant with gastroschisis, whereas, mothers residing in areas characterized by favorable indicators, such as males in management and/or professional occupations, had a reduced unadjusted risk. Adjustment for maternal-level characteristics attenuated the crude effect estimates such that the majority of single census-tract nSEP indicators had odds ratios around the null; however, few associations remained (Table 11).

Neighborhood-level indices

Results were similar for both neighborhood-level indices (Table 12). We observed a monotonic increase in the unadjusted odds of gastroschisis. Upon covariate adjustment, the patterns of association remained similar to the crude estimates, though the estimates were attenuated towards the null. Mothers residing in moderate (NDI Tertile 2: aOR: 1.25; 95% CI: 1.05, 1.49) or high deprivation (NDI Tertile 3 aOR: 1.27; 95% CI: 1.05, 1.54) neighborhoods, characterized by adverse census indicators, were more likely to deliver an infant with

gastroschisis compared with mothers residing in low deprivation areas. Similarly, mothers residing in areas of moderate (nSEPI Tertile 2 aOR: 1.25; 95% CI: 1.04, 1.49) or low nSEP (nSEPI Tertile 3 aOR: 1.32, 95% CI: 1.09, 1.61) had elevated risks of having an infant with gastroschisis (Figure 10) compared with mothers residing in high nSEP areas.

Table 8. Maternal and infant characteristics for mothers of participants with gastroschisis (cases)and infants without a birth defect (controls), National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 -2011

	Gastroschisis	Controls	Total
	Cases	n = 10,217	n = 11,486
	n = 1,269		
Maternal age at conception			
(years)			
<20	540 (42.6)	1294 (12.7)	1834 (16.0)
20-25	541 (42.6)	2969 (29.1)	3510 (30.6)
26-35	178 (14.0)	5106 (50.0)	5284 (46.0)
≥36	10 (0.8)	848 (8.3)	858 (7.5)
Parity	× č		, , ,
0	830 (65.4)	3986 (39.0)	4816 (41.9)
1	272 (21.4)	3334 (32.6)	3606 (31.4)
≥2	166 (13.1)	2891 (28.3)	3057 (26.6)
Missing	1 (0.1)	6 (0.1)	7 (0.1)
Maternal race/ethnicity	· ·		
Non-Hispanic White	644 (50.8)	5978 (58.5)	6622 (57.7)
Non-Hispanic Black	107 (8.4)	1089 (10.7)	1196 (10.4)
Hispanic	410 (32.3)	2484 (24.3)	2894 (25.2)
Other	108 (8.5)	666 (6.5)	774 (6.7)
Maternal pre-pregnancy BMI			
(kg/m^2)			
Underweight (<18.5)	109 (8.6)	508 (5.0)	617 (5.4)
Normal weight	830 (65.4)	5198 (50.9)	6028 (52.5)
(18.5≤BMI<25)			
Overweight (25≤BMI<30)	223 (17.6)	2251 (22.0)	2474 (21.5)
Obese (≥30)	71 (5.6)	1858 (18.2)	1929 (16.8)
Missing	36 (2.8)	402 (3.9)	438 (3.8)
Maternal education (years)			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
<12	346 (27.2)	1687 (16.5)	2032 (17.7)
12	489 (38.5)	2439 (23.9)	2927 (25.5)
>12	435 (34.3)	6092 (59.6)	6526 (56.8)
Annual household income	\$ <i>t</i>		· · ·
(\$USD)			
<\$10,000	441 (34.7)	2012 (19.7)	2453 (21.4)
\$10,000 - \$50,000	679 (53.5)	4668 (45.7)	5347 (46.6)

>\$50,000	149 (11.7)	3537 (34.6)	3685 (32.1)
Maternal employment			
Employed	852 (67.1)	7213 (70.6)	8065 (70.2)
Unemployed	376 (29.6)	2839 (27.8)	3215 (28.0)
Unknown	0 (0.0)	5 (0.1)	5 (0.04)
Missing	41 (3.2)	160 (1.6)	201 (1.8)
Maternal recreational drug use ^{a,b}			
Yes	170 (13.4)	456 (4.5)	626 (5.5)
No	1057 (83.3)	9600 (94.0)	10657 (92.8)
Missing	42 (3.3)	161 (1.6)	203 (1.8)
Maternal smoking ^a			
Yes	438 (34.5)	1812 (17.7)	2250 (20.0)
No	793 (62.5)	8250 (80.8)	9043 (78.7)
Missing	38 (3.0)	155 (1.5)	193 (1.7)
Maternal alcohol ^a			
Yes	518 (40.8)	3752 (36.7)	4270 (37.2)
No	708 (55.8)	6284 (61.5)	6992 (60.9)
Missing	43 (3.4)	181 (1.8)	224 (1.9)
Gestational age at delivery			
(weeks)			
Very preterm (<32 wks)	80 (6.3)	107 (1.0)	187 (1.6)
Preterm (32-36 wks)	710 (55.9)	725 (7.1)	1435 (12.5)
Term (37-45 wks)	478 (37.7)	9384 (91.8)	9862 (85.9)
Missing	1 (0.1)	1 (0.01)	2 (0.02)
Duration of residence (days)	952 (30 - 14,152)	1,274 (30 –	1,239 (30 –
		14,456)	14,456)

Data presented as n (%) or mean (range)

BMI: Body mass index

^aSelf-reported use between one month prior to conception to third month of pregnancy

^bRecreational drug use includes: marijuana, hash, cocaine, crack, hallucinogens, heroin, hallucinogenic mushrooms

	Gastroschisis Cases	Controls					
	n = 1,269	n = 10,217					
	Neighborhood Deprivation Index (N	NDI)					
T1 (Low deprivation)	246 (19.4)	3407 (33.3)					
T2	454 (35.8)	3406 (33.3)					
T3 (High deprivation)	569 (44.8)	3405 (33.3)					
Ne	Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position (nSEPI)						
T1 (High nSEP)	240 (18.9)	3406 (33.3)					
T2	449 (35.4)	3406 (33.3)					
T3 (Low nSEP)	580 (45.7)	3405 (33.3)					

Table 9. Distribution of gastroschisis cases and controls by neighborhood indices, NDI and nEPI

Data presented as n (%)

Neighborhood indices were created within each imputed dataset via principal component analysis. Counts and frequencies were averaged over the 10 imputed datasets.

NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index: nSEP: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position

High tertile scores reflect high deprivation (NDI) or lower nSEP (nSEPI). Low tertile scores reflect low deprivation (NDI) or high nSEP (nSEPI).

	NDI component loadings	nSEPI component loadings
Crowding	0.73269	0.67584
Low education	0.89459	0.87929
Unemployment	0.63385	0.58647
Males in management and	-0.66328	-0.73436
professional occupations		
Female headed households	0.47965	0.45906
with dependents		
Poverty	0.88975	0.84535
Households earning <	0.86481	0.87896
\$30,000 per year		
Public Assistance	0.76763	0.71253
Affordable housing with		0.40177
mortgage		
Renters affordable housing		0.32866
High education		-0.81017
Median income		-0.80242
Rental occupancy		0.52012
Workers class		-0.0441
Manual occupation		0.73154
Affordable housing without		0.17981
mortgage		
Wealth		-0.48562

Table 10. Neighborhood-level index component loadings

NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

Table 11. Association between single census-tract level socioeconomic indicators and gastroschisis among women with at least one geocoded address during the periconceptional period, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011

	Gastroschisis	Crude ORs (95%	Adjusted ORs (95%
	Cases	CIs)	CIs) ^a
	n = 1,269		
Crowding ^{b,c}			
T1	341	Ref	Ref
T2	417	1.22 (1.05 – 1.42)	1.07 (0.92 – 1.26)
Т3	511	1.50 (1.29 – 1.74)	1.06 (0.89–1.26)
Low education ^{b,c}			
T1	288	Ref	Ref
T2	422	1.47 (1.25 – 1.72)	1.06 (0.90 - 1.26)
Т3	559	1.94 (1.67 – 2.26)	1.11 (0.92 – 1.34)
Unemployment ^{b,c}			
T1	299	Ref	Ref
T2	407	1.44 (1.23 – 1.68)	1.20 (1.01 – 1.41)
T3	563	1.92 (1.65 – 2.23)	1.35 (1.13 – 1.62)

Males in management and			
professional occupation ^{b,c}			
T1	526	Ref	Ref
T2	452	0.86(0.75 - 0.98)	1.09 (0.94 – 1.26)
Т3	291	0.55(0.47 - 0.64)	0.87(0.72 - 1.04)
Female-headed households			
w/ dependents ^{b,c}			
T1	286	Ref	Ref
T2	460	1.60 (1.38 - 1.87)	1.27 (1.08 – 1.49)
Т3	523	1.83(1.57 - 2.13)	1.27 (1.06 – 1.52)
Poverty ^{b,c}		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
T1	264	Ref	Ref
T2	455	1.72(1.47 - 2.02)	1.21 (1.02 – 1.43)
Т3	550	2.08(1.78 - 2.43)	1.18(0.98 - 1.42)
Households earning <		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
\$30,000 ^{b,c}			
T1	281	Ref	Ref
T2	449	1.59(1.36 - 1.87)	1.13(0.95 - 1.34)
T3	539	1.92(1.64 - 2.23)	1.09(0.91 - 1.30)
Public Assistance	007	1.52 (1.01 2.25)	
Income ^{b,c}			
T1	339	Ref	Ref
T2	376	1 11 (0.95 - 1.29)	0.92(0.78 - 1.08)
T3	554	1.11(0.93 1.29) 1.63(1.42 - 1.89)	1 13 (0.96 - 1.33)
High education ^c	554	1.05 (1.42 1.07)	1.15 (0.90 1.55)
T1	575	Ref	Ref
T2	242 442	0.77(0.67 - 0.88)	0.95 (0.83 - 1.10)
T3	252	0.77(0.07 - 0.00) 0.44(0.37 - 0.51)	0.75(0.63 - 1.10) 0.76(0.64 - 0.92)
Affordable housing w/	252	0.11 (0.57 0.51)	0.70 (0.04 0.92)
mortgage ^c			
T1	415	Ref	Ref
T2	415	$1 15 (0.00 \ 1.34)$	1.00(0.04 1.27)
T2 T3	400	1.13(0.7) - 1.54) 1 30(1 21 1 61)	1.07(0.94 - 1.27) 1.14(0.97 - 1.34)
Affordable housing w/out	T U)	1.57(1.21 - 1.01)	1.14(0.77 - 1.34)
mortgage ^c			
T1	258	Pof	Dof
	338 412	1.07(0.02, 1.24)	1.02(0.88 + 1.18)
	412	1.07(0.93 - 1.24) 0.08(0.85 - 1.14)	1.02(0.00 - 1.10) 0.01(0.78 - 1.06)
13 Manual accumation ⁶	サブブ	0.70(0.03 - 1.14)	0.71(0.70 - 1.00)
	275	Def	$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{c}}\mathbf{f}$
	\angle / \Im	Kel	
	444 550	1.01(1.37 - 1.89) 2.00(1.72 - 2.22)	1.10(0.98 - 1.5/) 1.10(1.00 - 1.41)
1.5 Worksong alle an	330	2.00(1.72 - 2.32)	1.19 (1.00 – 1.41)
workers class	AAC		
	446	Ket	Ket
	404	0.91(0.78 - 1.05)	0.98 (0.85 - 1.14)
13	419	0.94 (0.81 – 1.08)	0.91 (0.79 – 1.06)

Renters affordable			
housing ^c			
T1	363	Ref	Ref
T2	427	1.18 (1.02 – 1.37)	1.10 (0.94 – 1.28)
Т3	479	1.32 (1.14 – 1.53)	1.06 (0.91 – 1.25)
Renter occupancy ^c			
T1	341	Ref	Ref
T2	414	1.23 (1.06 – 1.43)	1.01 (0.86 – 1.18)
Т3	514	1.52 (1.31 – 1.76)	1.14 (0.97 – 1.33)
Wealth ^c			
T1	438	Ref	Ref
T2	477	1.09 (0.95 – 1.25)	1.19 (1.03 – 1.38)
Т3	354	0.81 (0.70 – 0.94)	1.13 (0.95 – 1.34)
Household median income ^c			
T1	503	Ref	Ref
T2	492	0.98 (0.86 - 1.12)	1.13 (0.97 – 1.31)
T3	274	0.54(0.47 - 0.64)	0.87 (0.73 – 1.06)

NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index; T1: Tertile 1; T2: Tertile 2; T3: Tertile 3; OR: Odds Ratio; CI: Confidence Interval

High tertile scores reflect a high proportion of residents that meet census indicator definition. Low tertile scores reflect a low proportion of residents that meet census indicator definition.

Separate models were run for each census indicator.

^a Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, Other), infant birth year (1997 – 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq \$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq \$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq 50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq 50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq 50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq 50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (\leq 10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, \geq 50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and 2004, 2005 – 2009, 2004, 2005 – 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2005 – 2004, 2005 – 2004, 2005 –

> 12 years), and duration of residence

^b Census indicator used to create the NDI

^c Census indicator used to create the nSEPI

Table 12. Association between neighborhood indices and gastroschisis among women with atleast one geocoded address during the periconceptional period, National Birth DefectsPrevention Study, 1997 - 2011

	Case	Crude ORs (95% CIs)	Adjusted ORs (95% CIs) ^a	
	n = 1,269			
NDI				
T1 (Low deprivation)	246	Ref	Ref	
Τ2	454	1.85 (1.57 – 2.18)	1.25 (1.05 – 1.49)	
T3 (High deprivation)	569	2.31 (1.98 – 2.71)	1.27 (1.05 – 1.54)	
nSEPI				
T1 (High nSEP)	240	Ref	Ref	
T2	449	1.87 (1.59 – 2.20)	1.25 (1.04 – 1.49)	
T3 (Low nSEP)	580	2.42 (2.06 - 2.83)	1.32 (1.09 – 1.61)	

T1: Tertile 1; T2: Tertile 2; T3: Tertile 3; NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

^a Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, Other), infant birth year (1997 –

2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (<\$10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and > 12 years), and duration of residence

High tertile scores reflect high deprivation (NDI) or lower nSEP (nSEPI). Low tertile scores reflect low deprivation (NDI) or high nSEP (nSEPI).

Figure 10. Crude and adjusted ORs (95% CIs) for the association between (a) Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) (b) Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index (nSEPI) and gastroschisis



Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity, education, household income, birth year, and duration of residence



Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity, education, household income, birth year, and duration of residence

4.4 Discussion

Principal findings

This study examined the overall association between measures of nSEP during early pregnancy and risk of gastroschisis. We constructed two weighted neighborhood-level indices (NDI and nSEPI) and results were similar. Given the NDI is a standardized index that has been widely used to describe associations between neighborhood-level factors and other birth outcomes, we believe the NDI may be a better measure of nSEP. Our findings suggest an overall elevation in risk of gastroschisis among mothers residing in neighborhoods characterized by moderate and high levels of socioeconomic deprivation during early pregnancy.

Literature review

To date, only one known study has explored the relationship between measures of nSEP and gastroschisis. Root et al.³¹ conducted a case-control study in North Carolina (1998 – 2004) of 242 gastroschisis cases. Five socioeconomic position indicators were used to estimate nSEP including percent of residents living below 100% and 200% of the federal poverty level, percent of residents with less than a high school education, percent of residents unemployed, and percent of African American residents. Although estimates were imprecise, residing in census tracts characterized by high levels of residents living below 200% of the federal poverty level (aOR: 1.25; 95% CI: 0.81, 1.97) and unemployment (aOR: 1.21; 95% CI: 0.81,1.84) was modestly associated with gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age, race/ethnicity, parity, smoking, and Medicaid status.³¹

Similarly, we observed a modest increase in the risk of gastroschisis associated with neighborhoods characterized by moderate to high unemployment and poverty. However, direct

comparison of results is difficult due to differences in nSEP measures, study size, covariate adjustment sets, and geographical areas of the study population. Our analysis expands meaningfully on Root et al.'s study³¹ in four ways. First, we evaluated this association in a much larger sample of 1,269 gastroschisis cases spanning a national geographical range. Second, we not only examined single socioeconomic position indicators but also composite neighborhood-level indices. Third, we used the address during the periconceptional period to define maternal neighborhood to reduce exposure misclassification. Lastly, we included additional measures of iSEP, specifically, maternal education and household income, to account for factors associated with residential selection.

Our findings add to a small body of literature examining the overall associations between nSEP and birth defects. In general, results of these studies are inconsistent. Two studies^{3,15} using similar nSEP factors as in our analysis reported a modest association with cleft lip with or without palate, whereas, one study¹³¹ using the Carstairs index reported no associations. Inconsistent findings with neural tube defects^{6,129} and conotruncal heart defects have also been reported.^{15,159}

Studies of neighborhood-level effects on pregnancy outcomes have typically adjusted for iSEP, as in our analysis. While adjustment theoretically mitigates bias due to confounding, there may be compelling reasons to consider the interpretation of unadjusted estimates when investigating nSEP. Epidemiologic evidence suggests that iSEP, measured by low household income, insurance status, and mothers whose fathers were absent, may be associated with gastroschisis, after adjustment for maternal age.^{21,22,75} In our study, adjustment for household income had the most impact on the change between crude and adjusted estimates (Supplementary Table 2). However, if nSEP during the periconceptional period influences, at least in part, iSEP, the unadjusted estimates may be more appropriate because adjusting for it may remove part of the

neighborhood-level effect. For example, if residing in deprived neighborhoods with few career opportunities affects an individual's income, adjusting for iSEP measures would lead to overadjustment bias,¹⁷⁰ producing estimates that may be attenuated. If so, the crude models may be more appropriate. However, if iSEP is more likely influenced by socioeconomic factors of the mother's neighborhood at birth or at another point along the life course, including it in the model will account for residential selection during the periconceptional period and produce neighborhood-level effect estimates above and beyond individual-level factors. Furthermore, studies have shown that residents tend to remain in neighborhoods within a given socioeconomic stratum^{171,172} and that there is a low degree of social mobility in the United States.¹⁷³ Thus, it is plausible that an individual's current neighborhood has less of an impact on iSEP than originally thought and is the basis for including it as a confounder in this analysis.

In addition, we did not identify maternal age at conception, one of the strongest risk factors for gastroschisis, as a confounder, but rather a mediator based on our DAG. Studies have shown that there are many social, cultural, and economic factors that influence childbearing age.^{174,175} For instance, women with access to career opportunities are likely to pursue professional occupations, which may increase labor force participation, further postponing childbearing age.^{174,176} Additionally, given it is often not simply childbearing but childrearing instead, raising a child is often intertwined with the social support and material resources available to mothers within their community, such as support among residents and quality childcare services.^{175–177} Thus, despite the strong association between maternal age and gastroschisis, we believe that nSEP in part influences when a woman conceives. This reasoning can similarly be applied to other risk factors of gastroschisis, such as BMI and risky health behaviors, given that nSEP likely influences other individual-level characteristics.^{8,103,111,166,178,179}

Since our analysis is focused on examining the total effect of nSEP and gastroschisis, adjusting for maternal age at conception would introduce bias. However, it is important to acknowledge that the strong correlation between maternal age and iSEP is difficult to deconstruct. Adjustment for iSEP may inadvertently also adjust for maternal age. Thus, it may be more appropriate to consider the unadjusted and adjusted estimates as a range that contains a more accurate estimate of this overall association.¹⁸⁰ Nevertheless, our results suggest that lower nSEP during early pregnancy may increase the risk of gastroschisis.

Potential mechanisms linking neighborhoods to gastroschisis

There are multiple mechanisms by which neighborhoods influence individual health.^{8,103,179} It is hypothesized that the physical, social, and service environment of a neighborhood impacts individual health by mediating through biological and/or social factors, such as psychosocial stress and health behaviors, that may directly or indirectly affect biological processes.^{103,111,166,178,179} However, these mechanisms are unknown, partially because the etiology and pathogenesis of this defect are unknown. To aid in hypothesizing these mechanisms, we considered the theorized pathways proposed in other neighborhood-birth outcome studies.

The first hypothesized mechanism is through the physical characteristics, or built environment, of the neighborhood. This includes exposure to air/noise pollution, environmental toxins, water quality, dilapidated housing, and the overall physical space. Given some studies have shown increased odds of gastroschisis with pesticide exposure¹⁸¹ and overall environmental exposures, as assessed by the Environmental Quality Index,¹⁰² neighborhood physical characteristics may have direct biological consequences on gastroschisis development.

Additionally, these characteristics may have indirect biological effects through its influence on the social environment of the neighborhood.⁸ The social environment refers to the relationships among residents, level of cohesion or disorganization, and overall degree of community integration.¹⁸² This mechanism may influence maternal health, and subsequently gastroschisis, through exposure to acute and chronic psychosocial stress. Although no studies to date have examined the association between stress-related biomarkers and gastroschisis, cumulative stress exposures defined to have biologic evidence of inducing an inflammatory stress response⁸⁵ and stressful life events¹⁸³ have been shown to increase the odds of gastroschisis, indicating that social factors may directly affect biological processes and play a role in gastroschisis development. Furthermore, social factors may indirectly affect biological processes through downstream factors by influencing the adoption of stress-related health behaviors as coping mechanisms, such as smoking and alcohol, which have been shown to be associated with gastroschisis.²¹

Depending on the extent to which residents cohesively work together to demand services for their community, the social environment may indirectly influence the service environment of the neighborhood. The service environment reflects the availability of goods and services such as health care, transportation systems, police and fire safety, and healthy foods.^{128,179} Depending on the level of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation, necessary and high-quality services, such as prenatal care and municipal services, may not exist or be relatively inaccessible in certain communities. Areas with poor access to services may not only have a direct impact on the safety and health of residents but may also indirectly contribute to additional levels of psychosocial stress influencing the risk of gastroschisis, especially among women exposed to other negative aspects of their neighborhood.

Although our study was not aimed to assess a specific causal mechanism linking nSEP factors and gastroschisis, our findings confirm there is a contextual element that may directly or indirectly influence maternal factors associated with gastroschisis.

Strengths and limitations

The use of NBDPS data provided many strengths including geographic diversity, population-based ascertainment of cases and controls, a large sample of gastroschisis cases, clinically verified outcomes, and extensive covariate information. We extended the current literature on the relationship between nSEP and gastroschisis by including multiple socioeconomic position indicators and two neighborhood-level indices.¹¹⁵ Furthermore, this analysis was also strengthened by defining maternal neighborhood based on the address during the periconceptional period to ensure the nSEP was present during the critical period of gastroschisis development.

This analysis, however, is not without limitations. First, although we adjusted for covariates identified in our DAG, residual confounding may occur due to unmeasured factors.¹¹² Additionally, given iSEP is strongly correlated with maternal age at conception, a mediator in this study, adjustment for iSEP may inadvertently adjust for maternal age. Second, neighborhoods were geographically defined using census tracts rather than the mother's perception of her neighborhood. Nevertheless, census tracts are often used in neighborhood-level studies and have been shown to be meaningfully useful in relation to birth outcomes.¹⁵⁸ Third, if factors associated with participation or having a geocoded address were systematically different from nonparticipants and women without a geocoded address, the exclusion of both would lead to bias. However, a previous study reported that NBDPS control mothers were generally

representative of their base populations.¹⁵³ Also, given only 3% of NBDPS participants were excluded due to missing geocoded addresses, selection bias is likely minimal. Finally, assessment of neighborhood-level factors at one point in time may not only conceal how disparate neighborhoods truly are since neighborhoods may change over time, but may also inaccurately reflect a mother's cumulative lifetime exposure to these contextual factors. The lack of data on the historical context of periconceptional neighborhoods and the neighborhoods mothers were born into and/or raised likely understates the true impact of neighborhoods on birth outcomes.¹⁷¹

Conclusions and future directions

Our study suggests that lower nSEP during early pregnancy is modestly associated with an elevated odds of gastroschisis. These findings require replication in additional epidemiologic studies. Future studies should assess neighborhoods mothers resided in over the life course. Additionally, given nSEP may differentially affect certain mothers, studies should examine nSEP as a potential effect measure modifier and the interactions between neighborhood- and individual-level characteristics, such as iSEP and nSEP, on the risk of gastroschisis.¹²⁸ Lastly, future studies should further explore the degree to which individual-level factors, such as maternal age at conception and risky health behaviors, account for the influence of nSEP on the risk of gastroschisis. Greater insight into mechanisms linking nSEP and gastroschisis will potentially help identify modifiable neighborhood characteristics that may be critical in shaping future public health interventions.

CHAPTER 5: DOES NEIGHBORHOOD-LEVEL SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION MODIFY THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN MATERNAL AGE, PRE-PREGNANCY BODY MASS INDEX, AND GASTROSCHISIS?

5.1 Introduction

Gastroschisis is an abdominal birth defect characterized by the protrusion of intestines and sometimes other abdominal organs outside the body.^{18,19} The prevalence has been increasing worldwide, possibly driven by an increase among young mothers. Between 1995 and 2005, the percentage increase in the prevalence of gastroschisis among mothers younger than 20 years was 6.5% compared with an increase of 0.2% among mothers 35 years or older.³⁴ To date, much of the gastroschisis literature has focused on individual-level risk factors.

Epidemiologic studies have consistently observed strong associations with young maternal age and low body mass index (BMI).^{24–27,65,66} However, the mechanisms underlying these associations remain unknown. A study by Reefhuis and Honein reported that women ages 14 -19 years were seven times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with women ages 25 - 29 years (OR: 7.2; 95% CI: 4.4 - 11.8).⁶⁵ Similar results were observed in a more recent study using data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS). Women younger than 20 years were six times as likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with women ages 25-29 years (OR: 6.1; 95% CI: 4.8 - 8.0).⁶⁶ For the association between BMI and gastroschisis, a previous study reported a three-fold increased risk (OR: 3.2; 95% CI: 1.4 - 7.4) associated with underweight BMI (<18.1 kg/m²) and a reduced risk (OR: 0.2; 95% CI: 0.04 - 0.8) associated with overweight BMI (> 28.3 kg/m²), after adjusting for maternal age and race/ethnicity. Additionally, when BMI was specified as a continuous variable, the risk

decreased by ~11% for every unit increase in BMI.²⁶ Although these unique associations are thought to reflect lifestyle behaviors and/or biological factors, such as smoking or decreasing nutrient availability for the developing embryo with decreasing BMI, the mechanisms underlying these associations remain unknown.^{18,34}

In recent decades, it has been suggested that neighborhood contextual factors influence the risk of adverse pregnancy outcomes.¹⁰³ Previous studies have observed modest associations between measures of neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics and suboptimal maternal health,^{166,184} in addition to, birth outcomes, including low birth weight,¹⁴ preterm birth,¹ orofacial clefts,¹⁶⁸ neural tube defects,⁶ and congenital heart defects,^{15,159} after accounting for individuallevel socioeconomic position (iSEP). For gastroschisis, one study using data from North Carolina (1998 – 2004) observed an increased risk among mothers residing in areas characterized by high poverty and unemployment.³¹ Additionally, in a previous analysis using data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS) between 1997 and 2011, we observed a monotonic increase in the risk of gastroschisis associated with decreasing nSEP during early pregnancy (Neo et al., submitted).

Neighborhood conditions closely related to the neighborhood's socioeconomic position may not only influence the risk of gastroschisis by patterning individual-level risk factors, such as age at conception or pre-pregnancy BMI; but the effect of these factors may behave differently depending on the shared characteristics of the neighborhood through social and environmental stressors. Insight into these relationships may provide important etiologic clues. For instance, if these associations persist irrespective of contextual factors associated with nSEP, this may suggest that other unidentified factors potentially play a larger role in influencing the risk of gastroschisis. Alternatively, if these associations disappear in certain strata of nSEP, such

that young mothers or mothers of low or normal BMI in high SEP areas are no longer at a higher risk of having an infant with gastroschisis, this may indicate that factors associated with low SEP areas largely influence these strong associations. Thus, in this analysis, we examine whether the associations between young maternal age at conception and low or normal pre-pregnancy BMI and the risk of gastroschisis, differ by nSEP.

5.2 Materials and methods

Study population

This study used data from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study (NBDPS). Detailed study methods have been published elsewhere.¹⁵² In brief, the NBDPS is a populationbased, multi-site, case-control study sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) that investigates risk factors associated with more than 30 major birth defects, including gastroschisis. The NBDPS included pregnancies between October 1997 and December 2011 in ten participating states: Arkansas, California, Georgia, Iowa, Massachusetts, North Carolina, New York, New Jersey, Texas, and Utah. The NBDPS was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at the CDC and at each participating center.

For this analysis, we included cases that were singleton livebirths, stillbirths (fetal deaths ≥ 20 weeks' gestation), or terminations with a diagnosis of gastroschisis (British Pediatric Association (BPA) modification of the International Classification of Diseases, 9th revision (ICD-9)). Cases were ascertained through the participating centers' birth defects surveillance program from the entire state (AR, IA, NJ, UT) or from selected counties (CA, GA, MA, NC, NY, TX). Using standardized case classification guidelines, case medical records were

systematically reviewed by clinical geneticists to confirm diagnoses, exclude cases with genetic etiologies, and classify cases as isolated (vs. non-isolated), if there was no concurrent major anomaly, or sequence, if there were additional major defects that were developmentally related to one another.^{152,169} Liveborn singleton infants without a birth defect were randomly selected as controls from hospital records and/or birth certificates from the same geographic area and time period as the cases.

Eligible mothers of case and control infants who provided informed consent participated in a computer-assisted telephone interview (CATI) approximately 6 weeks to 24 months after their estimated date of delivery. The interview included questions regarding sociodemographic information, residential history, lifestyle and behavioral factors, medical history, and other exposures that occurred between three months prior to conception through the end of the pregnancy. Overall, participation rates were approximately 65% for case and 64% for control mothers.

Defining maternal neighborhood

During the interview, mothers self-reported all residential addresses they lived at for at least 30 days between three months prior to pregnancy to the end of pregnancy. For this study, we geographically defined "maternal neighborhood" as the census tract corresponding to the address mothers lived at during the periconceptional period, defined as one month prior to conception to the third month of pregnancy. If a participant reported multiple addresses for this period (13%), we selected the address with the longest duration. Mothers were excluded if they reported more than one address with the same length of stay during the periconceptional period on the basis that it was unclear which address would have a larger influence on the risk of

gastroschisis (<1%) or if they only reported one address with a length of stay fewer than 30 days (<1%).

Geocoding addresses and linkage to U.S. census-tract socioeconomic indicators

Maternal addresses from all NBDPS participating centers except NJ were centrally geocoded by the Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry's Geospatial Research, Analysis, and Services Program using the Centrus software version 6.00.00N. All successfully geocoded addresses (~97% of eligible NBDPS participants) were linked by the CDC to the 2000 and 2010 U.S. Census Tracts using ArcGIS. Census information from the 2000 U.S. Census and 5-year American Community Survey (ACS) was linked with the NBDPS analytic data set based on Federal Information Processing Standards (FIPS) codes and infant birth year. Specifically, census-tract level data from the 2000 U.S. Decennial Census, 2005-2009 ACS, and 2010-2014 ACS were linked to infants born between 1997-2004, 2005-2009, and 2010-1011, respectively.

Among the 12,243 NBDPS participants in our study population with at least one geocoded address, 97% were assigned a maternal neighborhood during the periconceptional period, as described above. Geocoding at the census tract level was successful for 93% of the interviewed cases and 94% of the controls. Overall, 6,315 census tracts were represented in our study sample.

Effect measure modifier: neighborhood-level socioeconomic position

Neighborhood-level SEP was characterized using the Neighborhood Deprivation Index (NDI) developed by Messer et al.¹¹⁵ The NDI is a standardized index that represents five socioeconomic domains including income/poverty, education, employment, housing, and

occupation, and has been commonly used to examine the relationships between neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and pregnancy outcomes.^{1,120,160} The NDI is comprised of eight census-tract level indicators including the percent of crowded housing, percent of males in management and professional occupations, percent of households in poverty, percent of households on public assistance, percent of female-headed households with dependents, percent of unemployed residents, percent of households earning < \$30,000 per year, and percent of residents with less than a high school education (Table 3). To create this index, census-tract level data from all NBDPS geocoding participating centers were pooled and the data reduction technique principal component analysis (PCA) was performed. The component loadings of the first principal component were used to weight each census variable's contribution to the index score. The index score was standardized to have a mean of 0 and a standard deviation of 1 (Range: -1.7, 5.6), with high values indicating higher levels of neighborhood deprivation and low values indicating lower levels of neighborhood deprivation. The continuous index score was categorized into tertiles to represent low (reference), moderate, or high neighborhood deprivation and subsequently linked to NBDPS participants based on the periconceptional residence, as described above.

Individual-level variables

Data on maternal characteristics were obtained from the NBDPS interview. Self-reported maternal age at conception was dichotomized at 20 years (< 20 vs. \geq 20 years), since epidemiologic studies have identified a definitive change in risk at this age threshold.^{65,84,164} Maternal pre-pregnancy BMI was calculated using self-reported weight and height (kg/m²) and

subsequently categorized into three groups, representing underweight (<18.5 kg/m²), normal weight (18.5-24.9 kg/m²), and overweight/obese (≥ 25.0 kg/m²).⁵⁶

We developed directed acyclic graphs (DAG) to identify minimally sufficient adjustment sets to mitigate confounding in our analysis of the associations between (1) maternal age at conception and gastroschisis (Figure 7) and (2) maternal BMI and gastroschisis (Figure 8) with potential effect measure modification by nSEP. Based on our DAGs, the adjustment set for our analyses of maternal age included years of education (0-11, 12, > 12 years) and household income (<\$10,000, \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000); and the adjustment set for analyses of BMI included years of education (0-11, 12, > 12 years), household income (<\$10,000, \$10,000 -\$50,000, >\$50,000), smoking (yes, no), alcohol (yes, no), substance abuse (yes, no), and maternal age at conception modeled as a quadratic term to allow for flexible adjustment.

Statistical analysis

Missing values for the following covariates were imputed using 10 cycles of multiple imputation: household income (9%), pre-pregnancy BMI (3.8%), education (2%) alcohol use (2%), substance use (1.8%), smoking (1.7%), and census-tract SEP indicators (0.01%). For each of the 10 imputation datasets, a PCA was performed to construct the NDI. In addition, to account for potential correlation and non-independence among mothers clustered within the same neighborhood, generalized estimating equations (GEEs) with logistic links and robust errors were conducted on each imputation dataset to estimate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs). All imputation datasets were analyzed separately and the results were combined for inference using the proc mianalyze procedure in SAS.¹⁶² To assess potential effect measure modification by nSEP, we compared results within strata of NDI, adjusting for the appropriate minimally sufficient adjustment set. Effect measure modification was evaluated on the additive scale due to its relevance for public health purposes. The additive scale is recommended to indicate whether the effect of a risk factor is greater in a specific sub-population to help target potential interventions and resource allocations. Thus, we calculated the relative excess risk due to interaction (RERI) with 95% CIs based on standard errors obtained using the delta method.¹⁶⁵ All analyses were conducted using SAS version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and independently replicated (Co-author: SE).

5.3 Results

Description of study population

We analyzed data from 1,269 infants with gastroschisis and 10,217 control infants. Compared to mothers of controls, mothers of gastroschisis case infants were more likely to be young (< 20 years); nulliparous; Hispanic; be of normal or underweight; have completed fewer than 12 years of education; have a household income of less than \$50,000; and self-report smoking, alcohol and recreational drug use during the periconceptional period (Table 8). In our study population, mothers of case infants were more likely to reside in highly deprived ("low" SEP) neighborhoods (NDI: 45%) and have a shorter mean duration of residence at their periconceptional neighborhood (~2.6 years) compared with mothers of control infants (NDI: 33%, ~3.5 years) (Table 9).

The first principal component of the NDI explained 57% of the total variability among the component measures. The top three indicators that were strongly associated with the first

principal component were low education, households earning < \$30,000 per year, and poverty (Table 10).

Does nSEP modify the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis?

Within each stratum of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation, young maternal age at conception (< 20 years) was associated with a higher risk of gastroschisis. However, the magnitude of the association with young maternal age was higher among mothers residing in low deprivation ("high" SEP) neighborhoods (aOR: 6.55; 95% CI: 4.59, 9.35) than the association among mothers residing in high deprivation ("low" SEP) neighborhoods (aOR: 3.13, 95% CI: 2.59, 3.78). Furthermore, we observed evidence of antagonistic effect measure modification, on the additive scale, by high deprivation neighborhoods (RERI: -2.81; 95% CI: -4.93, -0.68) for the association between young maternal age at conception and gastroschisis. In other words, residing in high deprivation neighborhoods diminishes the effect of young maternal age at conception on the risk of gastroschisis, contrary to expectation. However, no modification was observed for moderate deprivation neighborhoods (RERI: -1.96; 95% CI: -4.12, 0.20).

Overall, as neighborhood deprivation increased, the magnitude of the association between young maternal age at conception and gastroschisis decreased, though age was still associated with an elevated odds of gastroschisis (Table 13).

Maternal	Neighborhood	Cases,	Controls,	Stratified OR	Single	RERI
age at	Deprivation	n	n	(95% CI) ^a	reference OR	(95% CI) ^b
conception	Index (NDI)				(95% CI)	
(years)						
≥ 20	Low	168	3268	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)	
	deprivation					
< 20		78	138	6.55 (4.59 –	6.55 (4.59 –	
				9.35)	9.35)	
≥ 20	Moderate	273	2999	1.0 (Ref)	1.32 (1.06 -	
	deprivation				1.63)	
< 20	_	181	406	3.73 (2.96 –	4.91 (3.72 –	-1.96 (-4.12,
				4.69)	6.47)	0.20)
≥ 20	High	288	2656	1.0 (Ref)	1.29 (1.02 –	
	deprivation				1.63)	
< 20	_	281	750	3.13 (2.59 –	4.04 (3.12 –	-2.81 (-4.93, -
				3.78)	5.22)	0.68)

Table 13. Association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis, stratified by NDI, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011

NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index

^a Odds ratio (95% Confidence Interval), within strata of neighborhood index

^bRelative excess risk due to interaction (95% Confidence Interval)

Adjusted for household income and maternal education

Does nSEP modify the association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis?

Normal (18.5 kg/m² \leq BMI \leq 25 kg/m²) or underweight BMI (\leq 18.5 kg/m²) were

consistently associated with an increased risk of gastroschisis compared to overweight/obese

BMI (\geq 25 kg/m²), irrespective of the neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation level.

Specifically, within each stratum of NDI, underweight (aOR range: 1.49 - 2.09) and normal

(aOR range: 1.96 - 2.24) weight mothers had approximately two times the odds of having an

infant with gastroschisis compared to mothers of overweight/obese BMI, after covariate

adjustment. Furthermore, upon examination of the RERI estimates, residing in moderate or high

deprivation neighborhoods did not modify the odds of gastroschisis for normal (moderate

deprivation RERI: 0.04, 95% CI: -0.57, 0.64; high deprivation RERI: -0.19, -0.80, 0.41) or

underweight (moderate deprivation RERI: 0.63, 95% CI: -0.48, 1.73; high deprivation RERI:

0.39, 95% CI: -0.71, 1.49) mothers (Table 14).

	NDI	C	C	Cturt C 1 OD	C ¹	DEDI
Maternal BMI	NDI	Cases,	Controls,	Stratified OK	Single	KEKI
(kg/m^2)		n	n	(95% CI) ^a	reference OR	(95% CI) ^b
					(95% CI)	
Overweight/	Low	16	161	1.00 (Ref)	1.00 (Ref)	
obese	deprivation					
Normal	•	181	2070	2.24 (1.59 –	2.24 (1.59 –	
				3.16)	3.16)	
Underweight		49	1176	1.49 (0.81 –	1.49 (0.81 –	
				2.75)	2.75)	
Overweight/	Moderate	48	189	1.0 (Ref)	1.04 (0.71 –	
obese	deprivation				1.49)	
Normal	_	307	1740	2.24 (1.75 –	2.31 (1.66 –	0.04 (-0.57,
				2.87)	3.20)	0.64)
Underweight		99	1477	2.09 (1.40 -	2.15 (1.37 –	0.63 (-0.48,
				3.11)	3.38)	1.73)
Overweight/	High	48	182	1.0 (Ref)	1.09 (0.77 –	
obese	deprivation				1.56)	
Normal	_	365	1571	1.96 (1.58 –	2.14 (1.54 –	-0.19 (-0.80,
				2.43)	2.97)	0.41)
Underweight		155	1652	1.81 (1.22 –	1.98 (1.23 –	0.39 (-0.71,
		1		2.68)	3.17)	1.49)

Table 14. Association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis, stratified by NDI, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011

NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index

BMI: Body Mass Index: Underweight: <18.5 kg/m²; Normal weight: $18.5 \le BMI < 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$; Overweight/obese: $\ge 25 \text{ kg/m}^2$ a Odds ratio (95% Confidence Interval), within strata of neighborhood index

^bRelative excess risk due to interaction (95% Confidence Interval)

Adjusted for household income, maternal education, maternal age at conception, smoking, alcohol, and substance use

5.4 Discussion

In our study, young mothers (< 20 years) and mothers of low or normal BMI were

consistently associated with elevated odds of gastroschisis regardless of the level of nSEP.

Contrary to expectation, we observed that nSEP sub-additively modified the association between

maternal age at conception and gastroschisis, such that young mothers in low deprivation ("high"

SEP) neighborhoods had nearly double the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis than young

mothers in high deprivation ("low" SEP) neighborhoods. However, nSEP was not found to

modify the association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis.

Prior studies have consistently reported associations of gastroschisis with maternal age and BMI, yet we are unaware of any other studies that have evaluated the potential influence of contextual socioeconomic factors on these unique associations. In a previous analysis using data from the same study population used in this study (Neo et al., submitted), we observed a monotonic increase in the odds of gastroschisis among mothers residing in moderate and low nSEP, after adjusting for maternal race/ethnicity, education, household income, length of residency and birth year. Moreover, since nSEP may differentially affect certain mothers, this indicates the importance of examining how contextual factors may impact the relationships between individual-level risk factors and gastroschisis. Thus, our analysis expands upon the previous study by exploring how nSEP may influence these unique associations.

Our results are consistent with the strong evidence in the existing literature that mothers younger than 20 years are at a higher risk of having an infant with gastroschisis relative to mothers older than 20 years.^{20,22,23} The reason(s) that young mothers are at higher risk remains unknown. It is suspected that lifestyle behaviors, environmental exposures, and other risk factors known to be more prevalent among younger mothers likely play a role in the risk of gastroschisis. In addition, to some degree, it is plausible that these risk factors are in some ways influenced by the social, service, and physical characteristics of a mother's residing neighborhood, which is closely related to the nSEP. Although we observed that nSEP modifies the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis, young mothers consistently had a higher risk regardless of the nSEP, suggesting that the underlying etiology of gastroschisis among adolescent mothers is likely driven by other, unidentified non-biologic or biologic factor(s) that may be unrelated to nSEP. For instance, the etiologic mechanism may involve aspect(s) of maternal biology that inversely change with increasing age, in the same

manner as the prevalence of gastroschisis does with increasing age. However, the exact biological mechanism underlying this association is unknown, in part, because the etiology and pathogenesis of gastroschisis are unknown. Thus, our findings suggest that there are potentially other factor(s) unrelated to nSEP but specific to young mothers that may be better targets of intervention. However, it is unknown what those factor(s) are.

It is unclear why young mothers residing in high SEP neighborhoods have a substantially higher risk of gastroschisis relative to young mothers in low SEP neighborhoods. However, a possible explanation is the relative social deprivation hypothesis, which suggests that the inequality between a mother's social experience relative to their resident counterparts may cause psychological strain leading to higher levels of psychosocial stress.^{185,186} Although adolescent mothers tend to be more socially disadvantaged irrespective of the level of nSEP,¹⁸⁷ residing in high SEP areas may cause increased levels of psychosocial stress associated with relative social standing comparisons and a sense of relative deprivation. This may explain, at least in part, why the risk of gastroschisis among young mothers in high SEP areas was nearly double that of young mothers in low SEP areas.

Our results for the association between maternal BMI and gastroschisis are consistent with prior literature demonstrating that mothers of low and normal BMI have an increased risk of having an infant with gastroschisis. Although neighborhood socioeconomic factors have been shown to be associated with BMI through access to physical activity opportunities¹⁸⁸ or healthy foods,¹⁸⁹ our results indicate that nSEP did not modify the association between maternal BMI and gastroschisis, suggesting that individual-level factors associated with BMI, such as maternal diet or undernutrition, may play a more important role in the development of gastroschisis.

This study has some limitations. First, non-differential exposure misclassification may have resulted from two sources. The first is the use of census tracts to define maternal neighborhoods. This geographical unit may not accurately represent the neighborhood to which a mother perceives she belongs. However, census tracts have been used in prior neighborhoodlevel studies and have been shown to be meaningfully useful in the context of adverse birth outcomes.¹⁵⁸ The second potential source of non-differential exposure misclassification is due to the lack of data regarding the amount of interaction mothers may have with their residential environment. Mothers who do not often interact with their neighborhoods may be misclassified in regards to the level of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation they are exposed to. However, the impact of this potential misclassification cannot be determined with the data available. Another limitation of this study is selection bias that may have been introduced at two levels. The first is factors associated with non-participation in the NBDPS, since participation was 65% and 64% for case and control mothers, respectively. However, a previous study reported that participants and non-participants had similar demographic characteristics.¹⁵³ The second is if maternal characteristics differed between mothers with and without a geocoded address. We observed that excluded mothers without a geocoded address were more likely to be less than 20 years and of non-Hispanic Black or Hispanic race and ethnicity compared with included mothers with a geocoded address. However, given only 3% of NBDPS participants were excluded due to missing geocoded addresses, the potential impact of this selection bias is minimal. Lastly, the potential for residual confounding should be noted. Although we adjusted for several covariates identified by our DAG, it is possible that residual confounding from unknown confounders or misspecified variables contributed to our results.
Despite these limitations, this study also has several strengths. This is the first known study to examine if nSEP modifies the associations between maternal age, pre-pregnancy BMI, and the risk of gastroschisis. Although few studies have observed a modest association between nSEP and gastroschisis, no studies, to date, have examined how contextual factors may modify the effect of two, well-established risk factors. Another strength of this study is the use of NBDPS data. The NBDPS provided population-based ascertainment of cases and controls, extensive covariate information, standardized case classification verified by clinical geneticists, and a large sample size of cases with gastroschisis. In addition, maternal residential addresses were centrally geocoded at the CDC increasing data consistency and improving quality control of geocoded addresses used to characterize nSEP. Lastly, our study was strengthened by defining maternal neighborhood based on addresses during the periconceptional period. This ensures that any potential influence by nSEP occurs during the critical period of gastroschisis development.

The results of this study suggest that neighborhood socioeconomic factors may play a modifying role of the relationships between maternal age at conception, BMI, and gastroschisis. In particular, we observed that the association between young maternal age at conception and gastroschisis is stronger for women residing in high SEP neighborhoods compared to women residing in low SEP neighborhoods. In addition, our findings provide evidence that the strong association with young maternal age at conception may be due, in part, to non-biologic or biologic factors that is unlikely to be strongly related to nSEP, given that elevated odds were observed irrespective of the level of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation. This study highlights the importance of evaluating the contributions neighborhood socioeconomic conditions may have on individual-level attributes and/or its influence on the risk of gastroschisis. Future epidemiologic studies are needed to corroborate these findings and to

96

investigate why young mothers in high SEP neighborhoods have a higher risk of having an infant with gastroschisis compared with young mothers in low SEP neighborhoods.

CHAPTER 6: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1 Summary of specific aims

In recent decades, "neighborhoods" have emerged in the epidemiologic literature as an important upstream factor that may impact maternal and reproductive health. Several studies have reported an association between measures of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and adverse birth outcomes, including birth defects. However, very few studies have examined this association with gastroschisis and its potential influence on the relationships between well-established individual-level risk factors and gastroschisis. Thus, the goal of this dissertation research is to address this gap in knowledge through two aims. In Aim 1, we examined the overall association between neighborhood-level socioeconomic position (nSEP) during early pregnancy and the risk of gastroschisis. We first examined the association between nSEP and gastroschisis, using two PCA-derived neighborhood-level indices to characterize nSEP. In Aim 2, we examined whether the associations between (1) young maternal age at conception and (2) low or normal BMI and the risk of gastroschisis, differ by nSEP, using the same study population and nSEP characterization as in Aim 1.

6.1.1 Aim 1: Summary of findings

Upon examining single SEP indicators, we observed that mothers residing in neighborhoods characterized by adverse SEP indicators were more likely to have an infant with gastroschisis compared with mothers residing in areas characterized by favorable SEP indicators. Adjustment for maternal race/ethnicity, household income, maternal education, birth year, and duration of residence attenuated the crude effect estimates. Only a few associations remained such as the percent of unemployed residents, female-headed households with dependents, and residents with at least a bachelor's degree or higher. All other associations were either suggestive of an association or generally around the null and imprecise.

The results for the associations between nSEP and gastroschisis were similar for both neighborhood-level indices. We observed a monotonic increase in the unadjusted odds of gastroschisis with increasing neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation. This pattern of association remained after adjustment for maternal race/ethnicity, household income, maternal education, birth year, and duration of residence. Furthermore, the two neighborhood-level indices were highly correlated (r = 0.99). Given that the NDI is a standardized, validated index that has been previously used to describe the relationships between neighborhood-level effects and birth outcomes, our study suggests that the NDI may be a better measure of nSEP, despite the additional census indicators used to characterize the nSEPI.

Overall, our findings suggest that nSEP during early pregnancy is modestly associated with an increased odds of gastroschisis.

6.1.2. Aim 2: Summary of findings

Neighborhood-level socioeconomic position was found to modify the association between maternal age at conception and gastroschisis, but not the association between maternal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis. Contrary to expectation, the magnitude of the association between young maternal age at conception (<20 vs. \geq 20 years) and gastroschisis decreased as nSEP decreased. Young mothers in low SEP neighborhoods had nearly half the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis compared with young mothers in high SEP neighborhoods. However, it is unknown why young mothers residing in high SEP areas have the highest risk of gastroschisis. The magnitude of the associations between low (<18.5 kg/m² vs. \geq 25 kg/m²) or normal BMI (18.5 kg/m² \leq BMI < 25 kg/m² vs. \geq 25 kg/m²) and gastroschisis were similar across all strata of nSEP. Both underweight and normal-weight mothers had nearly two times the odds of having an infant with gastroschisis suggesting that other unidentified, potentially biological factors, specific to being of low or normal BMI, may have a larger influence on the development of gastroschisis. On the contrary, it may be plausible that there is a protective, unidentified factor specific to overweight/obese mothers that may reduce the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis. If so, insight into these potentially protective factors may help elucidate the etiology of gastroschisis.

Overall, regardless of the level of neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation, young maternal age at conception and low and normal BMI were consistently associated with elevated odds of gastroschisis. This suggests that other unidentified biological or non-biological factors unrelated to nSEP may be more important contributors to the risk of gastroschisis.

6.2 Strengths and limitations

6.2.1 Strengths

To date, only one known epidemiologic study has examined the association between measures of nSEP and gastroschisis. This dissertation not only adds to the limited body of literature but meaningfully expands upon the previous study in several ways. First, we examined this association in a larger sample of gastroschisis cases spanning a wider geographical range, resulting in more precise effect estimates and increasing the generalizability of study results. Second, we attempted to reduce exposure misclassification by using self-reported addresses

100

during the periconceptional period to ensure the exposure occurs during the critical window of gastroschisis development. Third, we used additional measures of iSEP to account for factors related to residential selection, reducing the potential for residual confounding. Fourth, we characterized nSEP using two PCA-derived indices, the NDI and nSEPI. Although the NDI is a standardized index that has been previously used in neighborhood-birth outcome studies, the use of the nSEPI verified the assumptions involved in using a standardized index, including its applicability over time and across different study populations spanning various geographical areas. Both indices had similar results. Fifth, we examined both single SEP indicators and composite neighborhood-level indices to explore specific aspects of nSEP, in addition, to the overall nSEP effect on the risk of gastroschisis. Sixth, a major strength of this dissertation is that Aim 2 is the first study to investigate whether the associations between two well-established, individual-level risk factors, including maternal age and pre-pregnancy BMI, and gastroschisis differ by levels of nSEP. Neighborhoods may differentially affect mothers of certain individuallevel characteristics. Thus, it is important to explore how nSEP may affect the risk of gastroschisis for young mothers and mothers of low or normal BMI, as these individual-level risk factors are uniquely specific to this birth defect. Finally, the use of NBDPS data strengthened both aims of this dissertation by providing a geographically diverse study population, population-based ascertainment of cases and controls, a larger sample size of gastroschisis cases, clinically verified outcomes, and extensive covariate information.

6.2.2 Limitations

Despite the many strengths of this dissertation, interpretation of our results should be considered in the context of our study's limitations. The first major limitation of both aims of this dissertation is the lack of data on neighborhoods mothers resided in over their life course. Although nSEP was examined during the etiologically-relevant period for gastroschisis, it is plausible that the neighborhoods mothers were born into and/or raised may have a greater influence on their reproductive health, and subsequently pregnancy outcomes. Solely assessing nSEP around conception may understate the true impact of neighborhood effects on gastroschisis. Another major limitation is the lack of data on the historical context of the periconceptional neighborhood. Neighborhood features may change over time in response to federal and/or local government initiatives. For instance, currently deprived neighborhoods may have experienced years of deprivation whereas other deprived neighborhoods may have only become deprived rather recently. Assessment of neighborhood-level factors at one point in time may conceal how different neighborhoods truly are and its potential influence on reproductive health. In addition, although we adjusted for covariates identified in the minimally sufficient adjustment sets based on our DAGs, residual confounding from unmeasured, unknown, or misspecified variables cannot be ruled out as a possible explanation of our study results. Furthermore, in Aim 1 maternal age at conception was identified as a mediator and was thus, not included in the models. However, given maternal age is correlated with education, a confounder in our study, adjustment for education may inadvertently also adjust for maternal age at conception, possibly resulting in overadjustment bias. This would likely bias the observed estimates towards the null. Lastly, selection bias may have resulted if there were factors associated with non-participation or missing geocoded addresses. Unfortunately, we do not have data on non-participants; however, a previous study reported that NBDPS control mothers were generally representative of their base populations. In addition, given only 3% of NBDPS

participants were excluded due to missing geocoded addresses, selection bias from these two sources is likely minimal.

6.3 Public health impact and future research directions

6.3.1 Public health impact

Gastroschisis has a significant public health impact due to its increasing prevalence worldwide and unique epidemiologic pattern. While the majority of epidemiologic studies on gastroschisis have focused on individual-level factors, there is a need to explore the broader social context to aid in identifying the etiology of this birth defect. Very little research has examined the association between neighborhood contextual factors and the risk of gastroschisis. This dissertation research adds to the accumulating body of literature examining neighborhoodlevel effects on reproductive health and adverse pregnancy outcomes. In particular, our findings suggest that there is a contextual element influencing the risk of gastroschisis; however, among young mothers and mothers of low or normal pre-pregnancy BMI, there may be unidentified biological or social factors unrelated to nSEP that may either increase their vulnerability to known, identified exposures or directly influence the pathogenesis of gastroschisis. Overall, these results provide new insight into contextual risk factors for gastroschisis above and beyond the individual level and potentially provide etiologic clues that may be missed by solely examining individual-level characteristics.

6.4.2 Future research directions

There are multiple ways to meaningfully advance our understanding of the relationship between neighborhood contextual factors and gastroschisis. First, the results of this study require

replication in other epidemiologic studies to confirm our findings. Second, much of the criticism of neighborhood-level studies focuses on the notion that individuals do not randomly select into neighborhoods. Thus, there is a need to conduct longitudinal studies to explore the life course perspective and gain a better understanding of how neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation at birth influences iSEP, which in turn likely influences residential selection. Furthermore, to the extent that there is a window of vulnerability along the life course that may have the greatest impact on factors related to residential selection, identification of this critical window and insight into the neighborhood's socioeconomic deprivation is needed. Third, additional work is needed to elucidate the mechanisms through which neighborhoods influence pregnancy outcomes. Although studies have theorized multiple pathways, the causal relationship between neighborhood characteristics and gastroschisis remains unknown. Exploring specific mechanisms may identify modifiable neighborhood characteristics that may not only reduce the risk of gastroschisis but also improve overall maternal and reproductive health. Furthermore, future studies should investigate the degree to which individual-level characteristics and their possible interaction with neighborhood-level factors, account for the effect of nSEP on the risk of gastroschisis. In this dissertation study, we identified maternal age at conception and risky health behaviors, such as smoking, as mediators rather than confounders. Additionally, given studies have observed plausible epigenetic mechanisms, such as DNA methylation, as a result of psychosocial stress exposures from neighborhood characteristics¹⁹⁰, future studies should explore the mediation of neighborhood-level effects through individual-level characteristics and epigenetic mechanisms. Lastly, it remains unclear why gastroschisis disproportionately affects mothers younger than 20 years and mothers of low or normal BMI. While a myriad of risk factors has been identified to be associated with gastroschisis, perhaps it is time to collect

biological samples, such as measures of inflammatory cytokines or biomarkers of diet quality. Biological evidence may help explain the unique epidemiology of this birth defect and elucidate the etiology of gastroschisis.

6.4 Conclusions

The results of this dissertation suggest that neighborhood-level socioeconomic position during early pregnancy is associated with an increased odds of gastroschisis. These findings indicate that there is a contextual element that may influence maternal health and subsequently pregnancy outcomes; however, further research is needed to replicate these findings. Furthermore, individuals residing in the same neighborhood may differentially be affected by their socioeconomic environment based on their individual-level characteristics. In our analysis, we found that young mothers residing in high SEP neighborhoods had nearly double the risk of having an infant with gastroschisis compared with young mothers residing in low SEP neighborhoods. However, we did not observe the same modification by nSEP for the association between low or normal pre-pregnancy BMI and gastroschisis. Furthermore, we consistently observed elevated odds of gastroschisis associated with young maternal age and low or normal pre-pregnancy BMI, irrespective of nSEP. This indicates that there are potentially unidentified biological or non-biological factors, unrelated to nSEP, that may play a greater role in influencing the risk of gastroschisis.

While the relationship between neighborhood-level effects and individual health has long been recognized, this dissertation is one of the few studies to explore neighborhood-level effects on gastroschisis. It is clear that additional work is needed to further investigate the mechanisms by which nSEP may influence the risk of gastroschisis. However, while contextual studies may provide hypotheses and etiologic clues about potential causes of gastroschisis, perhaps what is urgently required is a more direct biological assessment of biomarkers that may be related to known risk factors of gastroschisis

APPENDIX: SUPPLEMENTARY TABLES

Supplementary Table 1a. Association between single census-tract level socioeconomic indicators and gastroschisis among women with at least one geocoded address during the periconceptional period *using complete case analysis*, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011

	Gastroschisis	Crude ORs (95%	Adjusted ORs (95%
	Cases	CIs)	CIs) ^a
	n = 1,269		
Crowding ^{b,c}			
T1	341	Ref	Ref
T2	417	1.22 (1.05 – 1.42)	1.13 (0.96 – 1.34)
T3	511	1.50 (1.30 – 1.74)	1.08 (0.90–1.30)
Low education ^{b,c}			
T1	288	Ref	Ref
T2	422	1.47 (1.25 – 1.72)	1.13 (0.94 – 1.34)
Т3	559	1.95(1.67 - 2.26)	1.11 (0.91 – 1.36)
Unemployment ^{b,c}		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
T1	299	Ref	Ref
T2	407	1.44 (1.23 – 1.69)	1.18 (1.00 – 1.41)
Т3	563	1.93(1.66 - 2.24)	1.33(1.09 - 1.61)
Males in management and			
professional occupation ^{b,c}			
T1	526	Ref	Ref
T2	452	0.86(0.75 - 0.98)	1.09 (0.94 – 1.28)
Т3	291	0.55(0.48 - 0.65)	0.82(0.68 - 1.00)
Female-headed households			
w/ dependents ^{b,c}			
T1	286	Ref	Ref
T2	460	1.61 (1.38 – 1.87)	1.24 (1.04 – 1.47)
Т3	523	1.83(1.57 - 2.13)	1.20 (0.99 – 1.45)
Poverty ^{b,c}			
T1	264	Ref	Ref
T2	455	1.72(1.47 - 2.01)	1.26 (1.05 – 1.50)
Т3	550	2.08(1.78 - 2.43)	1.20 (0.99 – 1.46)
Households earning <			
\$30,000 ^{b,c}			
T1	281	Ref	Ref
T2	449	1.60(1.36 - 1.87)	1.16 (0.97 – 1.38)
Т3	539	1.82(1.64 - 2.23)	1.13 (0.93 – 1.36)
Public Assistance		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
Income ^{b,c}			
T1	339	Ref	Ref
T2	376	1.11 (0.95 – 1.29)	0.92 (0.78 - 1.10)
T3	554	1.64 (1.42 – 1.89)	1.15(0.97 - 1.37)

High education ^c			
T1	575	Ref	Ref
T2	442	0.77(0.67 - 0.88)	0.95(0.81 - 1.11)
	2.52	0.44(0.37 - 0.51)	0.77 (0.64 - 0.93)
Affordable housing w/	202		
mortgage ^c			
TI	415	Ref	Ref
T2	445	1.15 (0.99 – 1.34)	1.11 (0.94 – 1.31)
Т3	409	1.40(1.21 - 1.61)	1.14 (0.96 – 1.36)
Affordable housing w/out			
mortgage ^c			
TI	358	Ref	Ref
T2	412	1.07 (0.93 – 1.24)	1.03(0.88 - 1.20)
Т3	499	0.98(0.85 - 1.14)	0.92(0.78 - 1.09)
Manual occupation ^c			
T1	275	Ref	Ref
T2	444	1.61 (1.37 -1.89)	1.14 (0.95 – 1.36)
Т3	550	2.00(1.72 - 2.32)	1.17(0.98 - 1.41)
Workers class			
T1	446	Ref	Ref
T2	404	0.91 (0.78 – 1.05)	1.02 (0.87 – 1.20)
Т3	419	0.94(0.81 - 1.08)	0.90(0.77 - 1.05)
Renters affordable			
housing ^c			
T1	363	Ref	Ref
T2	427	1.17(1.02 - 1.37)	1.09 (0.93 – 1.28)
Т3	479	1.32 (1.14 – 1.52)	1.05(0.89 - 1.25)
Renter occupancy ^c		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
T1	341	Ref	Ref
T2	414	1.22 (1.05 – 1.42)	1.02 (0.86 - 1.20)
Т3	514	1.51 (1.30 – 1.75)	1.16 (0.99 – 1.37)
Wealth ^c			
T1	438	Ref	Ref
T2	477	1.09 (0.95 – 1.25)	1.16 (0.99 – 1.36)
Т3	354	0.81(0.70 - 0.94)	1.07 (0.89 – 1.29)
Household median income ^c		, , , , , ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
T1	503	Ref	Ref
T2	492	0.98 (0.86 - 1.12)	1.07 (0.92 – 1.26)
T3	274	0.54(0.47 - 0.64)	0.83 (0.68 – 1.02)

T1: Tertile 1; T2: Tertile 2; T3: Tertile 3

High tertile scores reflect a high proportion of residents that meet census indicator definition. Low tertile scores reflect a low proportion of residents that meet census indicator definition.

Separate models were run for each census indicator.

^a Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, Other), infant birth year (1997 -

2004, 2005 - 2009, 2010 - 2011), household income (<\$10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and > 12 years), and duration of residence

^b Census indicator used to create the NDI

^c Census indicator used to create the nSEPI

case analysis, National Birth Defects Prevention Study, 1997 - 2011 Case Crude ORs (95% Adjusted ORs (95% n = 1,269 CIs) CIs)^a NDI T1 (Low deprivation) 246 Ref Ref T2 454 1.85(1.57 - 2.18)1.27(1.06 - 1.53)569 2.31(1.98 - 2.71)1.28(1.04 - 1.57)T3 (High deprivation)

Supplementary Table 1b. Association between neighborhood indices and gastroschisis among women with at least one geocoded address during the periconceptional period, using complete

T1: Tertile 1; T2: Tertile 2; T3: Tertile 3; NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

Ref

1.87(1.59 - 2.20)

2.42(2.06 - 2.83)

Ref

1.27(1.05 - 1.54)

1.36(1.11 - 1.67)

High tertile scores reflect high deprivation (NDI) or lower nSEP (nSEPI). Low tertile scores reflect low deprivation (NDI) or high nSEP (nSEPI).

240

449

580

nSEPI

T2

T1 (High nSEP)

T3 (Low nSEP)

^a Adjusted for maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, Other), infant birth year (1997 -

2004, 2005 – 2009, 2010 – 2011), household income (<\$10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and > 12 years), and duration of residence

	NDI	nSEPI
Model 1: Crude		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
T2	1.85 (1.57 – 2.18)	1.87 (1.59 – 2.20)
T3 (High deprivation)	2.31 (1.98 - 2.71)	2.42(2.06-2.83)
Model 2: Model 1 + birth year		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
Τ2	1.85 (1.57 – 2.18)	1.89 (1.61 – 2.23)
T3 (High deprivation)	2.33 (1.99 – 2.73)	2.46 (2.10 - 2.88)
Model 3: Model 1 + birth year + race		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
T2	1.88 (1.59 – 2.21)	1.92 (1.63 – 2.27)
T3 (High deprivation)	2.31 (1.93 – 2.77)	2.46 (2.05 - 2.94)
Model 4: Model 1 + birth year + race +		
duration of residence stay		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
Τ2	1.85 (1.55 – 2.15)	1.87 (1.58 – 2.21)
T3 (High deprivation)	2.24 (1.89 - 2.68)	2.37 (1.98 – 2.84)
Model 5: Model 1 + birth year + race +		
duration of residence stay + education		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
T2	1.52 (1.28 - 1.80)	1.53 (1.29 – 1.82)
T3 (High deprivation)	1.66 (1.37 – 2.00)	1.74 (1.44 – 2.11)
Model 6: Model 1 + birth year + race +		
duration of residence stay + income		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
T2	1.33 (1.12 – 1.58)	1.33 (1.12 – 1.59)
T3 (High deprivation)	1.39 (1.15 - 1.69)	1.46 (1.20 – 1.78)
Model 7: Model 1 + birth year + race +		
duration of residence stay + income +		
education		
T1 (Low deprivation)	Ref	Ref
T2	1.25 (1.05 – 1.49)	1.25 (1.04 – 1.49)
T3 (High deprivation)	1.27 (1.05 – 1.54)	1.32(1.09-1.61)

Supplementary Table 2. Crude and adjusted odds ratios (ORs) and 95% Confidence Intervals (CI) of gastroschisis per tertiles of NDI and nSEPI

T1: Tertile 1; T2: Tertile 2; T3: Tertile 3; NDI: Neighborhood Deprivation Index; nSEPI: Neighborhood Socioeconomic Position Index

High tertile scores reflect high deprivation (NDI) or lower nSEP (nSEPI). Low tertile scores reflect low deprivation (NDI) or high nSEP (nSEPI).

Maternal race/ethnicity (Non-Hispanic Black, Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, Other), infant birth year (1997 - 2004, 2005 - 2009, 2010 - 2011), household income (<\$10,000 \$10,000 - \$50,000, >\$50,000), maternal education (0-11, 12 and > 12 years), and duration of residence

REFERENCES

- 1. O'Campo P, Burke JG, Culhane J, et al. Neighborhood deprivation and preterm birth among non-Hispanic Black and white women in eight geographic areas in the United States. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2008;167(2):155-163. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm277
- 2. Messer LC, Vinikoor LC, Laraia BA, et al. Socioeconomic domains and associations with preterm birth. Published online 2008. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.06.009
- Lupo PJ, Danysh HE, Symanski E, Langlois PH, Cai Y, Swartz MD. Neighborhood-based socioeconomic position and risk of oral clefts among offspring. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(12):2518-2525. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302804
- 4. Vos AA, Posthumus AG, Bonsel GJ, Steegers EAP, Denktaş S. Deprived neighborhoods and adverse perinatal outcome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand*. 2014;93(8):727-740. doi:10.1111/aogs.12430
- 5. Kaufman JS, Dole N, Savitz DA, Herring AH. Modeling community-level effects on preterm birth. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2003;13(5):377-384. doi:10.1016/S1047-2797(02)00480-5
- 6. Wasserman CR, Shaw GM, Selvin S, Gould JB, Syme SL. Socioeconomic status, neighborhood social conditions, and neural tube defects. *Am J Public Health*. 1998;88(11):1674-1680. doi:10.2105/AJPH.88.11.1674
- 7. Pickett KE, Pearl M. *Multilevel Analyses of Neighbourhood Socioeconomic Context and Health Outcomes: A Critical Review.* Vol 55.; 2001. Accessed August 29, 2020. www.jech.com
- 8. Diez Roux A V., Mair C. Neighborhoods and health. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 2010;1186(1):125-145. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.05333.x
- La Guardia JG, Patrick H. The influence of the social environment on health behavior. In: *Human Motivation and Interpersonal Relationships: Theory, Research, and Applications*. Vol 9789401785426. Springer Netherlands; 2014:299-315. doi:10.1007/978-94-017-8542-6_13
- 10. Bird CE, Seeman T, Escarce JJ, et al. Neighbourhood socioeconomic status and biological "wear and tear" in a nationally representative sample of US adults. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* 2010;64(10):860-865. doi:10.1136/jech.2008.084814
- Petersen KL, Marsland AL, Flory J, Votruba-Drzal E, Muldoon MF, Manuck SB. Community socioeconomic status is associated with circulating interleukin-6 and creactive protein. *Psychosom Med.* 2008;70(6):646-652. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e31817b8ee4
- 12. Schulz AJ, Mentz G, Lachance L, Johnson J, Gaines C, Israel BA. Associations between socioeconomic status and allostatic load: Effects of neighborhood poverty and tests of mediating pathways. *Am J Public Health*. 2012;102(9):1706-1714.

doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300412

- 13. Ernst GDS, De Jonge LL, Hofman A, et al. C-reactive protein levels in early pregnancy, fetal growth patterns, and the risk for neonatal complications: The Generation R Study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2011;205(2):132.e1-132.e12. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2011.03.049
- 14. O'Campo P, Xue X, Wang MC, Brien Caughy MO. Neighborhood risk factors for low birthweight in Baltimore: a multilevel analysis. *Am J Public Health*. 1997;87(7):1113. doi:10.2105/AJPH.87.7.1113
- 15. Carmichael SL, Ma C, Shaw GM. Socioeconomic Measures, Orofacial Clefts, and Conotruncal Heart Defects in California. Published online 2009. doi:10.1002/bdra.20614
- 16. Skarsgard ED. Management of gastroschisis. *Curr Opin Pediatr*. 2016;28(3):363-369. doi:10.1097/MOP.0000000000336
- 17. Balgi S, Singhal S, Mueller G, Batton B. *Feeding Intolerance and Poor Growth in Infants with Gastroschisis: Longitudinal Experience with Consecutive Patients over Thirteen Years.* Vol 4. MED-Pub Publishers; 2015.
- Jones AM, Isenburg J, Salemi JL, et al. Increasing Prevalence of Gastroschisis 14 States, 1995–2012. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65(2):23-26. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6502a2
- Stallings EB, Isenburg JL, Short TD, et al. Population-based birth defects data in the United States, 2012–2016: A focus on abdominal wall defects. *Birth Defects Res*. 2019;111(18):1436-1447. doi:10.1002/bdr2.1607
- 20. Kazaura MR, Lie RT, Irgens LM, et al. Increasing Risk of Gastroschisis in Norway: An Age-Period-Cohort Analysis. *Am J Epidemiol Hopkins Bloom Sch Public Heal All rights Reserv.* 2004;159(4):358-363. doi:10.1093/aje/kwh051
- 21. Rasmussen SA, Frías JL. Non-genetic risk factors for gastroschisis. *Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet*. 2008;148(3):199-212. doi:10.1002/ajmg.c.30175
- 22. Torfs CP, Velie EM, Oechsli FW, Bateson TF, Curry CJR. A Population-Based Study of Gastroschisis: Demographic, Pregnancy, and Lifestyle Risk Factors. Vol 50.; 1994.
- Mac Bird T, Robbins JM, Druschel C, Cleves MA, Yang S, Hobbs CA. Demographic and environmental risk factors for gastroschisis and omphalocele in the National Birth Defects Prevention Study ☆,☆☆. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2009;44:1546-1551. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2008.10.109
- Waller DK, Shaw GM, Rasmussen SA, et al. Prepregnancy obesity as a risk factor for structural birth defects. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2007;161(8):745-750. doi:10.1001/archpedi.161.8.745
- 25. Siega-Riz AM, Olshan AF, Werler MM, Moore C. Fat intake and the risk of gastroschisis.

Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol. 2006;76(4):241-245. doi:10.1002/bdra.20249

- 26. Lam PK, Torfs CP, Brand RJ. A low prepregnancy body mass index is a risk factor for an offspring with gastroschisis. *Epidemiology*. 1999;10(6):717-721. doi:10.1097/00001648-199911000-00012
- 27. Siega-Riz AM, Herring AH, Olshan AF, Smith J, Moore C. The joint effects of maternal prepregnancy body mass index and age on the risk of gastroschisis. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2009;23(1):51-57. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2008.00990.x
- 28. Anderson JE, Galganski LA, Cheng Y, et al. Epidemiology of gastroschisis: A populationbased study in California from 1995 to 2012. *J Pediatr Surg.* 2018;53(12):2399-2403. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2018.08.035
- 29. Castilla EE, Mastroiacovo P, Orioli IM. Gastroschisis: International epidemiology and public health perspectives. *Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet*. 2008;148(3):162-179. doi:10.1002/ajmg.c.30181
- 30. Kirby RS. The prevalence of selected major birth defects in the United States. *Semin Perinatol.* 2017;41(6):338-344. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2017.07.004
- 31. Root ED, Meyer RE, Emch M. Socioeconomic context and gastroschisis: Exploring associations at various geographic scales. *Soc Sci Med*. 2011;72(4):625-633. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.11.025
- 32. Feldkamp ML, Carey JC, Sadler TW. Development of gastroschisis: Review of hypotheses, a novel hypothesis, and implications for research. *Am J Med Genet Part A*. 2007;143(7):639-652. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.31578
- 33. Werler MM, Mitchell AA, Shapiro S. Demographic, Reproductive, Medical, and Environmental Factors in Relation to Gastroschisis. Vol 45.; 1992.
- Kirby RS, Marshall J, Tanner JP, et al. Prevalence and correlates of gastroschisis in 15 states, 1995 to 2005. Obstet Gynecol. 2013;122(2 Pt 1):275-281. doi:10.1097/aog.0b013e31829cbbb4
- Root ED, Meyer RE, Emch ME. Evidence of localized clustering of gastroschisis births in North Carolina, 1999-2004. Soc Sci Med. 2009;68(8):1361-1367. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.01.034
- 36. Elliott L, Loomis D, Lottritz L, Slotnick RN, Oki E, Todd R. Case-control study of a gastroschisis cluster in Nevada. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* 2009;163(11):1000-1006. doi:10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.186
- Bassil KL, Yang J, Arbour L, et al. Spatial variability of gastroschisis in Canada, 2006–2011: An exploratory analysis. *Can J Public Heal*. 2016;107(1):e62-e67. doi:10.17269/CJPH.107.5084

- Mastroiacovo P, Lisi A, Castilla EE, et al. Gastroschisis and associated defects: An international study. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2007;143(7):660-671. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.31607
- Williams LJ, Kucik JE, Alverson CJ, Olney RS, Correa A. Epidemiology of gastroschisis in metropolitan Atlanta, 1968 through 2000. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2005;73(3):177-183. doi:10.1002/bdra.20114
- 40. Perry H, Healy C, Wellesley D, et al. Intrauterine death rate in gastroschisis following the introduction of an antenatal surveillance program: Retrospective observational study. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res.* 2017;43(3):492-497. doi:10.1111/jog.13245
- 41. Bradnock TJ, Marven S, Owen A, et al. Gastroschisis: One year outcomes from national cohort study. *BMJ*. 2011;343(7832):1036. doi:10.1136/bmj.d6749
- 42. Haddock C, Skarsgard ED. Understanding gastroschisis and its clinical management: where are we? *Expert Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 2018;12(4):405-415. doi:10.1080/17474124.2018.1438890
- 43. Henrich K, Huemmer HP, Reingruber B, Weber PG. Gastroschisis and omphalocele: Treatments and long-term outcomes. *Pediatr Surg Int*. 2008;24(2):167-173. doi:10.1007/s00383-007-2055-y
- 44. Duhamel B. *Embryology of Exomphalos and Allied Malformations*. Vol 38.; 1963. doi:10.1136/adc.38.198.142
- 45. Hoyme HE, Higginhottom MC. The vascular pathogenesis of gastroschisis: Intrauterine interruption of the omphalomesenteric artery. 1981;(February):228-231.
- 46. Pieter deVries Sacramento BA. *The Pathogenesis of Gastroschisis and Omphalocele*. Vol XV.; 1980.
- 47. Shaw A. The myth of gastroschisis. *J Pediatr Surg*. 1975;10(2):235-244. doi:10.1016/0022-3468(75)90285-7
- 48. Stevenson RE, Rogers RC, Chandler JC, Gauderer MWL, Hunter AGW. Escape of the yolk sac: A hypothesis to explain the embryogenesis of gastroschisis. *Clin Genet*. 2009;75(4):326-333. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0004.2008.01142.x
- 49. Sadler TW, Feldkamp ML. The embryology of body wall closure: Relevance to gastroschisis and other ventral body wall defects. *Am J Med Genet Part C Semin Med Genet*. 2008;148(3):180-185. doi:10.1002/ajmg.c.30176
- 50. Sadler TW. *Langman's Medical Embryology*. Vol 81. 5th ed. Williams & Wilkins; 1988. doi:10.1097/00006534-198801000-00024
- 51. Donovan MF, Cascella M. *Embryology, Weeks 6-8*. StatPearls Publishing; 2020. Accessed April 20, 2021. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/33085328

- 52. Smith HW. On the development of the superficial veins of the body wall in the pig. *Am J Anat*. 1909;9(1):439-462. doi:10.1002/aja.1000090114
- 53. Hamilton W, Mossman H. *Hamilton, Boyd and Mossman's Human Embryology: Prenatal Development of Form and Function.* 4th ed. Willaism & Wilkins Company; 1972.
- 54. Werler MM, Mitchell AA, Shapiro S. First trimester maternal medication use in relation to gastroschisis. *Teratology*. 1992;45(4):361-367. doi:10.1002/tera.1420450407
- 55. Werler MM, Sheehan JE, Mitchell AA. Association of vasoconstrictive exposures with risks of gastroschisis and small intestinal atresia. *Epidemiology*. 2003;14(3):349-354. doi:10.1097/01.EDE.0000059226.36219.DE
- 56. Draper ES, Rankin J, Tonks AM, et al. Recreational drug use: A major risk factor for gastroschisis? *Am J Epidemiol*. 2008;167(4):485-491. doi:10.1093/aje/kwm335
- 57. Miller SA. Differential proliferation in morphogenesis of lateral body folds. *J Exp Zool*. 1982;221(2):205-211. doi:10.1002/jez.1402210211
- 58. Bargy F, Beaudoin S. Comprehensive developmental mechanisms in gastroschisis. *Fetal Diagn Ther.* 2014;36(3):223-230. doi:10.1159/000360080
- 59. Beaudoin S. Insights into the etiology and embryology of gastroschisis. *Semin Pediatr Surg.* 2018;27(5):283-288. doi:10.1053/j.sempedsurg.2018.08.005
- 60. Torfs CP, Curry CJR. Familial cases of gastroschisis in a population-based registry. *Am J Med Genet*. 1993;45(4):465-467. doi:10.1002/ajmg.1320450414
- 61. Feldkamp ML, Carey JC, Pimentel R, Krikov S, Botto LD. Is gastroschisis truly a sporadic defect? Familial cases of gastroschisis in Utah, 1997 to 2008. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2011;91(10):873-878. doi:10.1002/bdra.22844
- 62. Kohl M, Wiesel A, Schier F. Familial recurrence of gastroschisis Literature review and data from the population-based birth registry "Mainz Model." Published online 2010. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2010.05.003
- 63. Padula AM, Yang W, Schultz K, et al. Gene variants as risk factors for gastroschisis. *Am J Med Genet Part A*. 2016;170(11):2788-2802. doi:10.1002/ajmg.a.37883
- 64. Torfs CP, Christianson RE, Iovannisci DM, Shaw GM, Lammer EJ. Selected gene polymorphisms and their interaction with maternal smoking, as risk factors for gastroschisis. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2006;76(10):723-730. doi:10.1002/bdra.20310
- 65. Reefhuis J, Honein MA. Maternal age and non-chromosomal birth defects, Atlanta 1968-2000: Teenager or thirty-something, who is at risk? *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2004;70(9):572-579. doi:10.1002/bdra.20065

- 66. Gill SK, Broussard C, Devine O, Green RF, Rasmussen SA, Reefhuis J. Association between maternal age and birth defects of unknown etiology - United States, 1997-2007. *Birth Defects Res Part A - Clin Mol Teratol*. 2012;94(12):1010-1018. doi:10.1002/bdra.23049
- Vu LT, Nobuhara KK, Laurent C, Shaw GM. Increasing Prevalence of Gastroschisis: Population-based Study in California. Published online 2008. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2007.11.037
- 68. Lenders CM, McElrath TF, Scholl TO. Nutrition in adolescent pregnancy. *Curr Opin Pediatr*. 2000;12(3):291-296. doi:10.1097/00008480-200006000-00021
- 69. Weber KA, Yang W, Carmichael SL, Padula AM, Shaw GM. A machine learning approach to investigate potential risk factors for gastroschisis in California. *Birth Defects Res*. 2019;111(4):212-221. doi:10.1002/bdr2.1441
- 70. Torfs CP, Lam PK, Schaffer DM, Brand RJ. Association between mothers' nutrient intake and their offspring's risk of gastroschisis. *Teratology*. 1998;58(6):241-250. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9926(199812)58:6<241::AID-TERA5>3.0.CO;2-R
- 71. Paranjothy S, Broughton H, Evans A, et al. The role of maternal nutrition in the aetiology of gastroschisis: An incident case-control study. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2012;41(4):1141-1152. doi:10.1093/ije/dys092
- 72. Feldkamp ML, Carmichael SL, Shaw GM, Panichello JD, Moore CA, Botto LD. Maternal nutrition and gastroschisis: findings from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study. *Am J Obs Gynecol*. 2011;204:404-405. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.12.053
- 73. Getz KD, Anderka MT, Werler MM, Case AP. Short interpregnancy interval and gastroschisis risk in the national birth defects prevention study. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2012;94(9):714-720. doi:10.1002/bdra.23061
- Salihu HM, Pierre-Louis BJ, Druschel CM, Kirby RS. Omphalocele and gastroschisis in the State of New York, 1992-1999. *Birth Defects Res Part A - Clin Mol Teratol*. 2003;67(9):630-636. doi:10.1002/bdra.10113
- 75. Friedman AM, Ananth C V., Siddiq Z, D'Alton ME, Wright JD. Gastroschisis: epidemiology and mode of delivery, 2005–2013. *Am J Obstet Gynecol*. 2016;215(3):348.e1-348.e9. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2016.03.039
- 76. Salemi JL, Pierre M, Tanner JP, et al. Maternal nativity as a risk factor for gastroschisis: A population-based study. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2009;85(11):890-896. doi:10.1002/bdra.20612
- 77. Salihu HM, Aliyu ZY, Pierre-Louis BJ, Obuseh FA, Druschel CM, Kirby RS. Omphalocele and Gastroschisis: Black-White Disparity in Infant Survival. *Birth Defects Res (Part A)*. 2004;70:586-591. doi:10.1002/bdra.20067

- 78. Richardson S, Browne ML, Rasmussen SA, et al. Associations between periconceptional alcohol consumption and craniosynostosis, omphalocele, and gastroschisis. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol.* 2011;91(7):623-630. doi:10.1002/bdra.20823
- 79. Torfs CP, Katz EA, Bateson TF, Lam PK, Curry CJR. Maternal medications and environmental exposures as risk factors for gastroschisis. *Teratology*. 1996;54(2):84-92. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9926(199606)54:2<84::AID-TERA4>3.0.CO;2-4
- 80. Morrison JJ, Chitty LS, Peebles D, Rodeck CH. Recreational drugs and fetal gastroschisis: Maternal hair analysis in the peri-conceptional period and during pregnancy. *BJOG An Int J Obstet Gynaecol*. 2005;112(8):1022-1025. doi:10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00655.x
- Martínez-Frías ML, Rodríguez-Pinilla E, Prieto L. Prenatal exposure to salicylates and gastroschisis: A case-control study. *Teratology*. 1997;56(4):241-243. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9926(199710)56:4<241::AID-TERA2>3.0.CO;2-1
- 82. Werler MM. Maternal Medication Use and Risks of Gastroschisis and Small Intestinal Atresia. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2002;155(1):26-31. doi:10.1093/aje/155.1.26
- Palmer SR, Evans A, Broughton H, et al. The role of maternal stress in early pregnancy in the aetiology of gastroschisis: An incident case control study. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):80103. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080103
- 84. Carmichael SL, Ma C, Tinker S, Shaw GM. Original Contribution Maternal Stressors and Social Support and Risks of Delivering Babies With Gastroschisis or Hypospadias. Published online 2017. doi:10.1093/aje/kww121
- 85. Werler MM, Guéry E, Waller DK, Parker SE. Gastroschisis and cumulative stressor exposures. *Epidemiology*. 2018;29(5):721-728. doi:10.1097/EDE.00000000000860
- Cuevas AG, Chen R, Thurber KA, Slopen N, Williams DR. Psychosocial Stress and Overweight and Obesity: Findings from the Chicago Community Adult Health Study. *Ann Behav Med.* 2019;53(11):964-974. doi:10.1093/abm/kaz008
- 87. Scott KA, Melhorn SJ, Sakai RR. Effects of Chronic Social Stress on Obesity. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2012;1(1):16-25. doi:10.1007/s13679-011-0006-3
- 88. Gregor MF, Hotamisligil GS. Inflammatory mechanisms in obesity. *Annu Rev Immunol*. 2011;29:415-445. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101322
- Hernández-Trejo M, Montoya-Estrada A, Torres-Ramos Y, et al. Oxidative stress biomarkers and their relationship with cytokine concentrations in overweight/obese pregnant women and their neonates. *BMC Immunol*. 2017;18(1). doi:10.1186/s12865-016-0184-6
- 90. Schmidt FM, Weschenfelder J, Sander C, et al. Inflammatory cytokines in general and central obesity and modulating effects of physical Activity. *PLoS One*. 2015;10(3). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0121971

- 91. Feldkamp ML, Arnold KE, Krikov S, et al. Risk of gastroschisis with maternal genitourinary infections: The US National birth defects prevention study 1997-2011. *BMJ Open.* 2019;9(3). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026297
- 92. Yazdy MM, Mitchell AA, Werler MM. Maternal Genitourinary Infections and the Risk of Gastroschisis. Published online 2014. doi:10.1093/aje/kwu157
- Feldkamp ML, Enioutina EY, Botto LD, Krikov S, Byrne JLB, Geisler WM. Chlamydia trachomatis IgG3 seropositivity is associated with gastroschisis. *J Perinatol*. 2015;35(11):930-934. doi:10.1038/jp.2015.115
- 94. Parker SE, Werler MM, Gissler M, Surcel HM. Maternal antibodies to chlamydia trachomatis and risk of gastroschisis. *Birth Defects Res.* 2017;109(8):543-549. doi:10.1002/bdr2.1001
- 95. Werler MM, Parker SE, Hedman K, Gissler M, Ritvanen A, Surcel HM. Maternal antibodies to herpes virus antigens and risk of gastroschisis in offspring. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2016;184(12):902-912. doi:10.1093/aje/kww114
- 96. Feldkamp ML, Reefhuis J, Kucik J, et al. Case-control study of self reported genitourinary infections and risk of gastroschisis: Findings from the national birth defects prevention study, 1997-2003. *Bmj*. 2008;336(7658):1420-1423. doi:10.1136/bmj.39567.509074.25
- 97. Spinder N, Almli LM, Desrosiers TA, et al. Maternal occupational exposure to solvents and gastroschisis in offspring-National Birth Defects Prevention. *Occup Env Med*. 2020;77:172-178. doi:10.1136/oemed-2019-106147
- 98. Lupo PJ, Langlois PH, Reefhuis J, et al. Maternal Occupational Exposure to Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons: Effects on Gastroschisis among Offspring in the National Birth Defects Prevention Study. *Environ Health Perspect*. 2012;120(6):910-915. doi:10.1289/ehp.1104305
- 99. Dolk H, Vrijheid M, Armstrong B, et al. Risk of congenital anomalies near hazardouswaste landfill sites in Europe: The EUROHAZCON study. *Lancet*. 1998;352(9126):423-427. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(98)01352-X
- 100. Morris SE, Thompson AOW, Jarup L, de Hoogh C, Briggs DJ, Elliott P. No excess risk of adverse birth outcomes in populations living near special waste landfill sites in Scotland. *Scott Med J.* 2003;48(4):105-107. doi:10.1177/003693300304800403
- 101. Waller SA, Paul K, Peterson SE, Hitti JE. Agricultural-related chemical exposures, season of conception, and risk of gastroschisis in Washington State. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010;202(3):241.e1-241.e6. doi:10.1016/J.AJOG.2010.01.023
- 102. Krajewski AK, Rappazzo KM, Langlois PH, Messer LC, Lobdell DT. Associations between cumulative environmental quality and ten selected birth defects in Texas. *Birth Defects Res.* 2021;113(2):161-172. doi:10.1002/bdr2.1788

- 103. Culhane JF, Elo IT. Neighborhood context and reproductive health. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2005.01.071
- Robert SA. Socioeconomic position and health: The independent contribution of community socioeconomic context. *Annu Rev Sociol*. 1999;25:489-516. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.25.1.489
- 105. Barber S, Hickson DA, Wang X, Sims M, Nelson C, Diez-Roux A V. Neighborhood disadvantage, poor social conditions, and cardiovascular disease incidence among African American adults in the Jackson heart study. *Am J Public Health*. 2016;106(12):2219-2226. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2016.303471
- 106. Diez-Roux A V, Mujahid MS, Hirsch JA, Moore K, Moore L V. The impact of neighborhoods on cardiovascular risk: the MESA Neighborhood Study. *Lancet Glob Heal*. 2016;11(3):353–363. doi:10.1016/j.gheart.2016.08.002.The
- 107. Generaal E, Timmermans EJ, Dekkers JEC, Smit JH, Penninx BWJH. Not urbanization level but socioeconomic, physical and social neighbourhood characteristics are associated with presence and severity of depressive and anxiety disorders. *Psychol Med.* 2019;49(1):149-161. doi:10.1017/s0033291718000612
- 108. Mair C, Diez Roux A V., Shen M, et al. Cross-Sectional and Longitudinal Associations of Neighborhood Cohesion and Stressors with Depressive Symptoms in the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2009;19(1):49-57. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.10.002
- 109. Major JM, Doubeni CA, Freedman ND, et al. Neighborhood Socioeconomic Deprivation and Mortality: NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(11). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0015538
- 110. Mode NA, Evans MK, Zonderman AB. Race, neighborhood economic status, income inequality and mortality. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(5). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0154535
- 111. Schempf A, Strobino D, O'Campo P. Neighborhood effects on birthweight: An exploration of psychosocial and behavioral pathways in Baltimore, 1995-1996. Soc Sci Med. 2009;68(1):100-110. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.10.006
- 112. Braveman PA, Cubbin C, Egerter S, et al. Socioeconomic Status in Health Research. *Jama*. 2005;294(22):2879. doi:10.1001/jama.294.22.2879
- 113. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Smith GD. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2006;60(1):7-12. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.023531
- 114. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA, Lynch JW, Smith GD. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 2). *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2006;60(2):95-101. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.028092

- 115. Messer LC, Laraia BA, Kaufman JS, et al. The development of a standardized neighborhood deprivation index. *J Urban Heal*. 2006;83(6):1041-1062. doi:10.1007/s11524-006-9094-x
- 116. Townsend P, Phillimore P, Beattie A. *Health and Deprivation: Inequality and the North*. Croom Helm; 1988.
- 117. Carstairs V, Morris R. Deprivation and health in Scotland. Deprivation Heal Scotl. 1991;69(814):665. Accessed February 1, 2021. https://www-ncbi-nlm-nihgov.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/pmc/articles/PMC2399685/
- 118. Singh GK. Area Deprivation and Widening Inequalities in US Mortality, 1969-1998. *Am J Public Health*. 2003;93(7):1137-1143. doi:10.2105/AJPH.93.7.1137
- 119. Allik M, Leyland A, Ichihara MYT, Dundas R. Creating small-area deprivation indices: A guide for stages and options. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2020;74(1):20-25. doi:10.1136/jech-2019-213255
- Janevic T, Stein CR, Savitz DA, Kaufman JS, Mason SM, Herring AH. Neighborhood deprivation and adverse birth outcomes among diverse ethnic groups. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2010;20(6):445-451. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2010.02.010
- 121. Pearl M, Braveman P, Abrams B. The relationship of neighborhood socioeconomic characteristics to birthweight among 5 ethnic groups in California. *Am J Public Health*. 2001;91(11):1808-1814. doi:10.2105/AJPH.91.11.1808
- 122. Auger N, Daniel M, Platt RW, Wu Y, Luo ZC, Choinière R. Association between perceived security of the neighbourhood and small-for-gestational-age birth. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2008;22(5):467-477. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2008.00959.x
- 123. Wentz AE, Messer LC, Nguyen T, Boone-Heinonen J. Small and large size for gestational age and neighborhood deprivation measured within increasing proximity to homes. *Heal Place*. 2014;30:98-106. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2014.08.010
- Luo ZC, Wilkins R, Kramer MS. Effect of neighbourhood income and maternal education on birth outcomes: A population-based study. *CMAJ*. 2006;174(10):1415-1420. doi:10.1503/cmaj.051096
- 125. Padula AM, Yang W, Carmichael SL, et al. Air Pollution, Neighbourhood Socioeconomic Factors, and Neural Tube Defects in the San Joaquin Valley of California. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* 2015;29(6):536-545. doi:10.1111/ppe.12244
- 126. Erickson AC, Ostry A, Chan HM, Arbour L. Air pollution, neighbourhood and maternallevel factors modify the effect of smoking on birth weight: a multilevel analysis in British Columbia, Canada. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(1):1-12. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3273-9
- 127. Adhikari K, Patten SB, Williamson T, et al. Neighbourhood socioeconomic status

modifies the association between anxiety and depression during pregnancy and preterm birth: A Community-based Canadian cohort study. *BMJ Open.* 2020;10(2):31035. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031035

- 128. Kawachi I, Berkman LF. *Neighborhoods and Health*. Oxford University Press; 2009. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195138382.001.0001
- 129. Grewal J, Carmichael SL, Song J, Shaw GM. Neural tube defects: An analysis of neighbourhood- and individual-level socio-economic characteristics. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* 2009;23(2):116-124. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2008.00992.x
- Clark JD, Mossey PA, Sharp L, Little J. Socioeconomic Status and Orofacial Clefts in Scotland, 1989 to 1998. Vol 40.; 2003. doi:10.1597/1545-1569(2003)040<0481:SSAOCI>2.0.CO;2
- 131. Vrijheid M, Dolk H, Stone D, Abramsky L, Alberman E, Scott JES. *Socioeconomic Inequalities in Risk of Congenital Anomaly*. Vol 82.; 2000. doi:10.1136/adc.82.5.349
- 132. Deguen S, Kihal W, Jeanjean M, Padilla C, Zmirou-Navier D. Neighborhood Deprivation and Risk of Congenital Heart Defects, Neural Tube Defects and Orofacial Clefts: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(10). doi:10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0159039
- 133. Farley TA, Mason K, Rice J, Habel JD, Scribner R, Cohen DA. The relationship between the neighbourhood environment and adverse birth outcomes. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2006;20(3):188-200. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2006.00719.x
- 134. Yang S, Kestens Y, Dahhou M, Daniel M, Kramer MS. Neighborhood Deprivation and Maternal Psychological Distress During Pregnancy: A Multilevel Analysis. *Matern Child Health J.* 2015;19(5):1142-1151. doi:10.1007/s10995-014-1623-8
- 135. Steptoe A, Feldman PJ. Neighborhood problems as sources of chronic stress: Development of a measure of neighborhood problems, and associations with socioeconomic status and health. *Ann Behav Med.* 2001;23(3):177-185. doi:10.1207/S15324796ABM2303_5
- 136. Barrett ES, Vitek W, Mbowe O, et al. Allostatic load, a measure of chronic physiological stress, is associated with pregnancy outcomes, but not fertility, among women with unexplained infertility. *Hum Reprod.* 2018;33(9):1757-1766. doi:10.1093/humrep/dey261
- Traylor CS, Johnson JD, Kimmel MC, Manuck TA. Effects of psychological stress on adverse pregnancy outcomes and nonpharmacologic approaches for reduction: an expert review. *Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM*. 2020;2(4):100229. doi:10.1016/j.ajogmf.2020.100229
- 138. Hobel CJ, Goldstein A, Barrett ES. Psychosocial stress and pregnancy outcome. *Clin Obstet Gynecol*. 2008;51(2):333-348. doi:10.1097/GRF.0b013e31816f2709

- 139. Blossom SJ, Rau JL, Best TH, Bornemeier RA, Hobbs CA. Increased maternal cytokine production and congenital heart defects. *J Reprod Immunol*. 2013;97(2):204-210. doi:10.1016/j.jri.2012.12.004
- 140. Baumeister R, Vohs K, van Baaren R. Behavioral Contagion. In: *Encyclopedia of Social Psychology*. SAGE Publications, Inc.; 2012. doi:10.4135/9781412956253.n60
- 141. Crum RM, Lillie-Blanton M, Anthony JC. Neighborhood environment and opportunity to use cocaine and other drugs in late childhood and early adolescence. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 1996;43(3):155-161. doi:10.1016/S0376-8716(96)01298-7
- 142. Evans GW, Kantrowitz E. Socioeconomic status and health: The potential role of environmental risk exposure. *Annu Rev Public Health*. 2002;23:303-331. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.23.112001.112349
- 143. Croen LA, Shaw GM, Sanbonmatsu L, Selvin S, Buffler PA. Maternal residential proximity to hazardous waste sites and risk for selected congenital malformations. *Epidemiology*. 1997;8(4):347-354. doi:10.1097/00001648-199707000-00001
- 144. Suarez L, Brender JD, Langlois PH, Zhan FB, Moody K. Maternal Exposures to Hazardous Waste Sites and Industrial Facilities and Risk of Neural Tube Defects in Offspring. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2007;17(10):772-777. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2007.05.005
- 145. Vrijheid M, Dolk H, Armstrong B, et al. Hazard potential ranking of hazardous waste landfill sites and risk of congenital anomalies. *Occup Environ Med.* 2002;59(11):768-776. doi:10.1136/oem.59.11.768
- 146. Marshall EG, Gensburg LJ, Deres DA, Geary NS, Cayo MR. Maternal residential exposure to hazardous wastes and risk of central nervous system and musculoskeletal birth defects. *Arch Environ Health*. 1997;52(6):416-425. doi:10.1080/00039899709602220
- 147. Canfield MA, Ramadhani TA, Langlois PH, Waller DK. Residential mobility patterns and exposure misclassification in epidemiologic studies of birth defects. *J Expo Sci Environ Epidemiol*. 2006;16(6):538-543. doi:10.1038/sj.jes.7500501
- 148. Lupo PJ, Symanski E, Chan W, et al. Differences in exposure assignment between conception and delivery: the impact of maternal mobility. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2010;24(2):200-208. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2010.01096.x
- 149. Khoury MJ, Stewart W, Weinstein A, Panny S, Lindsay P, Eisenberg M. Residential mobility during pregnancy: Implications for environmental teratogenesis. J Clin Epidemiol. 1988;41(1):15-20. doi:10.1016/0895-4356(88)90004-2
- 150. Shaw GM, Malcoe LH, Shaw GM, Malcoe LH. Residential mobility during pregnancy for mothers of infants with or without congenital cardiac anomalies: A reprint. Arch Environ Health. 1992;47(3):236-238. doi:10.1080/00039896.1992.9938355
- 151. Fell DB, Dodds L, King WD. Residential mobility during pregnancy. Paediatr Perinat

Epidemiol. 2004;18(6):408-414. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3016.2004.00580.x

- 152. Reefhuis J, Gilboa SM, Anderka M, et al. The national birth defects prevention study: A review of the methods. *Birth Defects Res Part A Clin Mol Teratol*. 2015;103(8):656-669. doi:10.1002/bdra.23384
- Cogswell ME, Bitsko RH, Anderka M, et al. Control selection and participation in an ongoing, population-based, case-control study of birth defects. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2009;170(8):975-985. doi:10.1093/aje/kwp226
- 154. Our Censuses, U.S. Census Bureau Censuses. Accessed February 18, 2021. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/censuses.html
- 155. Oam BA, President ACS. About the ACS. Published 2014. Accessed February 18, 2021. https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/acs/about.html
- 156. Glossary. US Census Bureau. Accessed February 19, 2021. https://www.census.gov/programssurveys/geography/about/glossary.html#par textimage 13
- 157. Diez Roux A, Kiefe C, Jacobs D, et al. *Area Characteristics and Individual-Level* Socioeconomic Position Indicators in Three Population-Based Epidemiologic Studies. Vol 11.; 2001.
- 158. Krieger N, Chen JT, Waterman PD, Soobader MJ, Subramanian S V., Carson R. Choosing area based socioeconomic measures to monitor social inequalities in low birth weight and childhood lead poisoning: The public health disparities geocoding project (US). *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2003;57(3):186-199. doi:10.1136/jech.57.3.186
- 159. Carmichael SL, Nelson V, Shaw GM, Wasserman CR, Croen LA. Socio-economic status and risk of conotruncal heart defects and orofacial clefts. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2003;17(3):264-271. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3016.2003.00498.x
- 160. Elo IT, Culhane JF, Kohler I V., et al. Neighbourhood deprivation and small-forgestational term births in the United States. *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol*. 2009;23(1):87. doi:10.1111/J.1365-3016.2008.00991.X
- 161. Greenland S, Pearl J, Robins JM. Causal diagrams for epidemiologic research. *Epidemiology*. 1999;10(1):37-48. doi:10.1097/00001648-199901000-00008
- 162. SAS/STAT® 13.1 User's Guide The MIANALYZE Procedure. SAS/STAT ® 131 User's Guid. Published online 2013:5172-5231. Accessed April 19, 2022. https://support.sas.com/documentation/onlinedoc/stat/131/mianalyze.pdf
- Dupont WD, Plummer WD. Power and sample size calculations for studies involving linear regression. *Control Clin Trials*. 1998;19(6):589-601. doi:10.1016/S0197-2456(98)00037-3

- 164. Mac Bird T, Robbins JM, Druschel C, Cleves MA, Yang S, Hobbs CA. Demographic and environmental risk factors for gastroschisis and omphalocele in the National Birth Defects Prevention Study ☆,☆☆. J Pediatr Surg. 2009;44:1546-1551. doi:10.1016/j.jpedsurg.2008.10.109
- 165. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Confidence interval estimation of interaction. *Epidemiology*. 1992;3(5):452-456. doi:10.1097/00001648-199209000-00012
- 166. Vinikoor-Imler LC, Messer LC, Evenson KR, Laraia BA. Neighborhood conditions are associated with maternal health behaviors and pregnancy outcomes. *Soc Sci Med*. 2011;73(9):1302-1311. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.08.012
- 167. Pickett KE, Ahern JE, Selvin S, Abrams B. Neighborhood socioeconomic status, maternal race and preterm delivery: A case-control study. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2002;12(6):410-418. doi:10.1016/S1047-2797(01)00249-6
- 168. Lupo PJ, Danysh HE, Symanski E, Langlois PH, Cai Y, Swartz MD. Neighborhood-based socioeconomic position and risk of oral clefts among offspring. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(12):2518-2525. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2015.302804
- 169. Rasmussen SA, Olney RS, Holmes LB, Lin AE, Keppler-Noreuil KM, Moore CA. Guidelines for case classification for the National Birth Defects Prevention Study. *Birth Defects Res Part A - Clin Mol Teratol.* 2003;67(3):193-201. doi:10.1002/bdra.10012
- Schisterman EF, Cole SR, Platf RW. Overadjustment bias and unnecessary adjustment in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology*. 2009;20(4):488-495. doi:10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181a819a1
- 171. Glass TA, Bilal U. Are neighborhoods causal? Complications arising from the 'stickiness' of ZNA. *Soc Sci Med.* 2016;166:244-253. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.01.001
- 172. Wei F, Knox PL. Neighborhood Change in Metropolitan America, 1990 to 2010. Urban Aff Rev. 2014;50(4):459-489. doi:10.1177/1078087413501640
- 173. Ferrie JP. History lessons: The end of American exceptionalism? Mobility in the United States since 1850. *J Econ Perspect*. 2005;19(3):199-215. doi:10.1257/089533005774357824
- 174. Mills M, Rindfuss RR, McDonald P, te Velde E. Why do people postpone parenthood? Reasons and social policy incentives. *Hum Reprod Update*. 2011;17(6):848-860. doi:10.1093/humupd/dmr026
- 175. Balbo N, Mills M. The effects of social capital and social pressure on the intention to have a second or third child in France, Germany, and Bulgaria, 2004–05. http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/101080/003247282011579148. 2011;65(3):335-351. doi:10.1080/00324728.2011.579148
- 176. Brewster KL, Rindfuss RR. Fertility and women's employment in industrialized nations.

Annu Rev Sociol. 2000;26:271-296. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.271

- 177. Bernhardt EM. Fertility and employment. *Eur Sociol Rev.* 1993;9(1):25-42. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.esr.a036659
- 178. Kawachi I, Berkman LF. *Neighborhoods and Health*. Oxford University Press; 2009. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195138382.001.0001
- 179. Macintyre S, Ellaway A, Cummins S. Place effects on health: how can we conceptualise, operationalise and measure them? *Soc Sci Med*. 2002;55(1):125-139. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00214-3
- 180. Cubbin C, Marchi K, Lin M, et al. Is neighborhood deprivation independently associated with maternal and infant health? Evidence from Florida and Washington. *Matern Child Health J.* 2008;12(1):61-74. doi:10.1007/s10995-007-0225-0
- 181. Waller SA, Paul K, Peterson SE, Hitti JE. Agricultural-related chemical exposures, season of conception, and risk of gastroschisis in Washington State. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2010;202(3):241.e1-241.e6. doi:10.1016/j.ajog.2010.01.023
- 182. Yen IH, Syme SL. The social environment and health: A discussion of the epidemiologic literature. Annu Rev Public Health. 1999;20:287-308. doi:10.1146/annurev.publhealth.20.1.287
- 183. Palmer SR, Evans A, Broughton H, et al. The role of maternal stress in early pregnancy in the aetiology of gastroschisis: An incident case control study. *PLoS One*. 2013;8(11):80103. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0080103
- 184. Penman-Aguilar A, Carter M, Christine Snead M, Kourtis AP. Socioeconomic disadvantage as a social determinant of teen childbearing in the U.S. *Public Health Rep.* 2013;128(SUPPL. 1):5-22. doi:10.1177/00333549131282s102
- 185. Ganahl S, Gonzalez M, Greenberg J, et al. An Empirical Examination of Relative Deprivation. 1980;456:442-456.
- 186. Smith HJ, Huo YJ. Relative Deprivation : How Subjective Experiences of Inequality Influence Social Behavior and Health. Published online 2014. doi:10.1177/2372732214550165
- 187. Singh S, Darroch JE, Frost JJ, et al. Socioeconomic disadvantage and adolescent women's sexual and reproductive behavior: The case of five developed countries. *Fam Plann Perspect*. 2001;33(6):251-258. doi:10.2307/3030192
- 188. Lee RE, Cubbin C, Winkleby M. Contribution of neighbourhood socioeconomic status and physical activity resources to physical activity among women. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2007;61(10):882-890. doi:10.1136/jech.2006.054098
- 189. Larson NI, Story MT, Nelson MC. Neighborhood Environments. Disparities in Access to

Healthy Foods in the U.S. *Am J Prev Med*. 2009;36(1):74-81.e10. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2008.09.025

190. Smith JA, Zhao W, Wang X, et al. Neighborhood characteristics influence DNA methylation of genes involved in stress response and inflammation : The Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. 2017;12(8):662-673.